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This version of our report is a free translation of the original, which was prepared in Spanish. All possible care has been
taken to ensure that the translation is an accurate representation of the original. However, in all matters of interpretation
of information, views or opinions, the original language version of our report takes precedence over this translation.

Independent auditor’s report on the annual accounts

To the shareholders of Banco Santander, S.A.:

Report on the annual accounts
Opinion

We have audited the annual accounts of Banco Santander, S.A. (the Bank or Banco Santander), which
comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2017, and the income statement, statement of
recognized income and expense, statement of changes in total equity, statement of cash flows and
related notes, for the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying annual accounts present fairly, in all material respects, the equity
and financial position of Banco Santander, S.A. as at December 31, 2017, as well as its financial
performance and cash flows, for the year then ended, in accordance with the applicable financial
reporting framework (as identified in Note 1 of the notes to the annual accounts), and, in particular,
with the accounting principles and criteria included therein.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the annual accounts section of our report.

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those relating
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts in Spain, in accordance with
legislation governing the audit practice. In this regard, we have not rendered services other than those
relating to the audit of the accounts, and situations or circumstances have not arisen that, in
accordance with the provisions of the aforementioned legislation, have affected our necessary
independence such that it has been compromised.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the annual accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Loan-loss impairment provisions; and the
real estate adjudicated

Estimating loans and receivables impairment
provisions for credit-risk and the real estate
adjudicated or received as payment of debt is
one of the most significant and complex
estimation exercises performed in preparing
the annual financial statements.

The assessment of credit risk impairment
provisions is based on models that entail a
significant degree of judgment for the
determination of the impairment losses
considering factors such as:

. The classification of the various credit
portfolios by risk.
. The identification and their

classification as impaired assets.

. The use of significant assumptions
regarding variables such as historical
default levels, future income cash
flows, valuation of guaranties,
impairment emerge period, etc.

. Design of parameters for the above
mentioned models, such as the
probability of impairment (PI) and
Loss Given Impairment (LGI).

In this context, the Bank uses internal models
that allows to estimate collective provisions
and provisions for estimated risks
individually.

In the determination of impairment by risk of
the credit guarantees, real or personal, are
considered effective. The evaluation of the
recoverable balance of the real estate
guarantees are subject to the estimation of
the reference value minus the cost of the sale,
being adjusted in function of the historical
experience of the Bank in the disposal of
assets with similar characteristics and the
period of permanence of the assets in the
balance, adjusted, in the case in function of
the sale or recuperation strategy.
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Our work regarding the estimation of the credit-risk
Impairment and the real estate adjudicated or
received as payment of debt has been centralized, in
the analysis, evaluation and proof of the internal
control and the realization of test of details over
provision estimates collectively and over the
individual estimates.

As for the internal control system, we have focused
on testing the design and the operational
effectiveness of controls relating to the following
business procedures:

Calculation methodologies used,
recalibrations and back-testing processes put
in place by the management,

Compliance of the management approved
internal models with the applicable
regulatory framework and their effectiveness.

Reliability of data sources used for
calculation and the appropriateness of the
models in light of the circumstances.

The periodic assessment of risks and alerts of
monitoring employed by the Group.

The periodic review process for borrower
case files in order to monitor their
classification and valuation.

In addition, we carried out the following tests of
details:

Verified: i) calculation and segmentation
methods; ii) the historical loss rates used to
estimate future cash flows and historical
discount rates in the sale of real estate assets
appraisal; iii) correct loan classification in the
corresponding categories.

Recalculation of the loan-loss provisions
estimated collectively for the main portfolios
and the impairment calculation over the real
estate assets of the different assets (finished
homes, offices and stores, buildings under
construction and land) and its strategy of sale
or recuperation.
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The bank has developed internal
methodologies to estimate the discounts over
reference values and the sale cost. The
determination of the reference value of the
real estate guaranties is performed from the
information and/or value of appraisal
provided by different societies and agencies of
appraisal. In some cases, when the assets are
reduced exposure and risk, it uses statistical
methodologies for the update of the
appraisals.

We should Note that the estimate of the
impairment of real estate assets, with origin in
its credit activity, and that, through the
payment, purchase, or judicial adjudicates the
Bank is subject to the same criteria previously
detailed for the guarantees of real estate.

See Notes 10 and 46 of the annual financial
statements.

Disclosure of the estimated impact of Circular
4/2017 of Bank of Spain

In relation to the effectiveness in 2018 of the
new Circular 4/2017 on the Classification and
Valuation of Financial Instruments, as it is
described in Note 1.b, the Bank has designed
an implementation plan for the adoption of
this standard.

This implementation plan entails conducting
an evaluation of the population of financial
instruments affected by the classification and
measurement requirements of Circular 4/2017
and the development of an impairment
methodology of loans and receivables due to
credit risk In this first application of the
standard, the Bank has decided not to adopt
the new standard regarding hedge accounting,
as detailed in Note 1.b, and it is included in the
Circular 4/2017 itself.

In this line, the Bank has completed the
definition of the main assumptions used in the
valuation, classification and provisions
process, such as: the main business models
used, definition of default, future information
included in the provision models or completed
evaluation for the determination of significant
increase in credit risk.
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Review a sample of individual borrower case
files to check they were properly classified and
that any corresponding impairment losses had
been duly recognised, checking any discounted
cash flow models used to this end.

Back-testing of the impairment losses actually
incurred against those estimated in prior
periods.

Ditferences emerged as a result of our tests with
respect to the calculations performed by
management were not outside a reasonable range.

Our work has focused on the analysis, evaluation and
verification of the internal control environment and
on performing test of detail, all referred to the
disclosure of financial information related to the
estimated impact of the adoption of this new
regulation in each of its key areas: classification,
valuation and impairment.

With respect to the internal control environment, we
have focused, on testing the design and the
operational effectiveness of controls related to the
presentation and disclosure of the information in the
annual accounts. Among the other, the governance
controls should be outlined for the following aspects:

Accounting policies and the methodological
framework developed by the Bank in order to
assess compliance with new regulations.

Analysis of the main methodologies and
calculation variables considered in the
quantification process.



Banco Santander, S.A.

Thus, as a disclosure for a breakdown in the
annual accounts, the Bank has made an
estimate of the impacts of the adoption of
this new regulation

Please refer to Note 1.b of the annual
financial statements.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax
assets is a complex exercise and requires a
high degree of judgement and estimation.

In keeping with the recoverability model
defined by the Consolidated Tax Group, the
management of each business unit compiles
the assumptions that underpin the business
plans that are projected over the time horizon
established for that business.

This process implies specific and complex
considerations that the management takes
into account in order to assess the initial and
ongoing recognition of deferred tax assets.
The most significant considerations made by
the Group in this respect are:

. Assuring themselves that the tax
regulations are applied correctly and
the temporary differences that qualify
as deductible are duly recognised.

Moreover, we carried out tests of detail regarding
calculations presented and disclosed in Note 1.b:

. Sampling of operations in order to assess
their adequate classification, registration and
valuation, based on our analysis of business
models and SPPI tests carried out.

. For the most relevant portfolios, checks with
respect to: i) Methodology for estimating
parameters of expected loss, ii) Historical
and prospective information used, iii) Loan
classification criteria by stages.

. Review of impairment calculations including
the information related to scenarios and their
assumptions.

As a result of our procedures, we have not identified
additional observations outside a reasonable range.

We have documented, in collaboration with our tax
experts, our understanding and review of the
estimation exercise undertaken by the
management.

With respect to the internal control environment we
focused on the controls design and operational
effectiveness of the following processes:

. The process of drawing up the business plan
for each geography under the scope of the
model established for estimating the
recognition, measurement and recoverability
of deferred tax assets.

. Calculation of deferred tax assets.

We also carried out the following tests of details:

. Evaluate the assumptions made by the Group
to calculate and estimate its deductible

temporary differences to assess whether they
are comprehengsive and appropriate.



. Maintaining a control environment,
running the models and validating the
calculations deriving therefrom to
ensure that the tax assets are properly
recognised and measured and that the
conclusions drawn regarding their
recoverability are accurate.

. Reviewing that the projections that
form part of the defined model which
is in turn used to estimate the tax
profits used to infer the amount of
deferred tax assets that will be
recoverable in future periods in
relation to deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses are
indeed achievable.

Please refer to Note 2 of the annual financial
statements.

Measurement of pension obligations

The regulations applicable to pension
obligations are complex and the estimation of
such obligations implies actuarial
calculations which require the use of
significant judgement, a high volume of data
and estimates regarding various assumption.

In making their estimates, the management
takes into account certain considerations in
order to determine the amount of pension
obligations to be recognised, most notable
among which:

. Guaranteeing compliance with
legislation of the accounting
regulations.

. Maintaining and validating

calculations to ensure that the Bank's
pension obligations are properly
measured and recognised.
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. Analysis of the key data used by management
to estimate the various deferred tax assets
and track their subsequent recoverability,
including:

- Parallel reperformance of the income
projections carried out by the entity
and the hypothesis employed,
including the detail of the economic
forecasts and indicators used in the
analysis (inflation, interest rates, etc.);

- Obtaining the necessary management
information that support the business
plan (budgets, future economic
forecasts, estimations on financial
products to be contracted, etc);

- Evaluate the tax strategy planned by
the Group for the recoverability of the
deferred tax assets.

We have obtained adequate audit evidence
throughout our procedures to corroborate the
estimates made by the group with respect to the
recoverability of its deferred tax assets.

We documented, with the assistance of our actuarial
experts, our understanding and review of the
estimation exercise carried out by the management.

With respect to the internal control environment we
focused on the controls design and operational
effectiveness of the following processes:

. Update of the staff database.

Assumptions and hypotheses used to
estimate the Bank's pension obligations, and
an assessment of the evidence of any changes
which may have affected them.

. Actuarial criteria used in the estimation
process and in the calculation of the pension
obligations.



. Reviewing the key assumptions and
hypotheses used in the calculations
and estimates made by the actuaries at
the end of the year-end.

Please refer to notes 2 and 23 of the annual
financial statements.

Provisions for tax, legal and labour lawsuits

The Bank is party to a range of tax, legal and
labour proceedings - administrative and
judicial - which primarily arose in the
ordinary course of its business operations.
There are also situations not yet subject to
any judicial proceedings that have
nevertheless required the Bank to recognise
provisions; these include customer conduct
related matters and the attendant
compensation. The estimation of the
provisions registered for the mentioned
purposes is one of the areas for which a
greater judgement is required.

These proceedings generally take a long
period of time to run their course, giving rise
to complex processes dictated by the
applicable legislation.

We also carried out t
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he following tesfs of details:

Validation of the key information and
hypothesis employed by the management for
the estimation of the pension obligations.

We obtained confirmation letters from the
applicable insurance companies to obtain an
additional source of information regarding
the savings policies written with these
entities.

We reviewed the valuation performed by the
Bank for the assets and liabilities related to
pension obligations.

We reviewed the actuarial reports prepared
by the experts external to the Bank’s
Management.

As a result of the previous procedures, no
differences were identified, over a reasonable range.

We have documented our understanding and
review of the estimation exercise undertaken by the
management.

With respect to the internal control environment we
focused on the controls design and operability of
the following processes:

Update of the databases that contain the
ongoing legal procedures.

Evaluation of the accuracy of the constituted
provisions for regulatory, legal or tax
procedures and its recognition.

Conciliation between the minute in
accordance and, if applicable, in discordance
of the Inspections with the amounts
registered.



The Bank's management decide when to
recognise a provision for these proceedings
based on estimates made using prudent
calculation procedures that are consistent
with the uncertainty intrinsic to the
obligations they cover.

Within these provisions, the most significant
are those corresponding to cover customer
compensation for the sale of certain; these
estimates are based on the number of claims
expected to be received, the number expected
to be admitted, and the estimated average
pay out per case.

Please refer to notes 2 and 10 of the annual
financial statements.
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of the following:

We familiarised ourselves with the policy for
classifying lawsuits and allocating provisions.

Monitoring of the ongoing tax inspections.

Analysis of the reasonableness of the
expected outcomes of the most significant
tax, legal and labour proceedings.

Assessment of possible contingencies relating
to compliance with the Bank's tax obligations
for all the years open to inspection.

We obtained confirmation letters from
external lawyers and tax advisors who work
with the Bank to cross-check its assessment
of the outcome of the lawsuits, all of the
information used, the correct recognition of
the various provisions and the identification
of potentially omitted liabilities.

Examination of the communications with the
regulatory bodies, analyse the ongoing
regulatory inspections and value the impact
of any regulatory finding in the audit.

Analysis of the recognition and
reasonableness of the provisions recorded for
accounting purposes and the movements
therein,

As a result of the previous procedures, no
differences were identified, outside a reasonable
range, in the procedures previously described.

In addition, we performed test of details consisting



IT systems - access controls

The Bank's business is highly dependent on
information technology (IT) systems in the
geographical locations where it operates, such
that adequate control of these systems is crucial
to ensuring correct data processing.

Moreover, as the systems become more
numerous and complex, the risks relating to the
organisation's I'T systems and, by extension, the
data they process, increase.

Considering this context, it is vital to evaluate
aspects such as the organisation of the Bank’s
Technology and Operations Department,
software maintenance and development
controls, physical and logical security and
system operation.

In this respect, the management has developed
a system efficiency plan including aspects such
as access controls in systems, databases and
applications.
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With the help of our IT system experts, our work
consisted of reviewing the internal controls over the
IT systems and software that support the core
business activity and have an impact on the Bank's
financial reporting.

For this purpose procedures were carried out in
order to evaluate the design and operating
effectiveness of the controls related to:

. Functioning of the IT governance framework
. Access control and logic security over the

applications, operating systems and
databases that support the relevant financial

information,

. Application development and update
management.

. Maintenance of the IT operations.

Our review revealed incidents related with access
controls in respect of certain applications.

The Bank has prepared a plan to remedy these
incidents which is in the process of being
implemented and formal mitigating controls are
being put in place.

Against this backdrop, our approach and audit plan
centred on the following aspects:

. We reviewed the remediation plan and the
new controls implemented by the Bank in
2017.

. The controls related to the segregation of
duties (access control) and access to critical
transactions.

. We increased sampling of the mitigating
controls identified by management.

. We expanded the samples analysed for
derivatives and other financial assets to
confirm their existence and measurement
and the correct functioning of the IT
governance framework.



Impairment of investment in Group Entitics

As indicated in Note 1 of the annual financial
statements, Banco Santander is the parent
company of a Group of dependent entities and
therefore has the ownership of social capital of
a those societies, whose fundamental activities
are developed in the financial sector. The
accounting value of the investments in Group
entities as of 31 of December, 2017 increases to
85 billion of euros, as indicated in Note 13 in
the annual financial statements.

Management performs and analysis of the
potential losses of the value of investments in
Group entities that it has registered in its
accounting value. This analysis is performed
using the different parameters, like the equity
value, value of the price and the recoverable
value. The investments valued in the last case,
whose accounting value increases to 21 billion
of euros, is analyzed comparing the accounting
value and the recoverable value, which is
obtained from the estimate of the cash flows of
the expected dividends or the net equity
consolidated corrected by the unrealized gains
existing to date of the valuation, including
goodwill.

The valuation or analysis of the impairment of
these last investment represents the use of
significant professional judgment.
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The results of our procedures involving the samples
added to our tests of controls and tests of details
were satisfactory and we did not detect any
material aspect affecting the financial information
included in the annual financial statements.

We have documented our understanding and our
review of the estimates process performed by
management.

With respect to the internal control, we have
focused in the design and operative effectiveness
of the controls of the valuation process, the
methodology and the relevant assumptions
included in the estimates made by management at
the closing day.

Additionally, we have realized test of details
consistent in:

Re-perform and compare the valuation
executed by Banco Santander, taking as a
reference the recoverable balance of the
shares in Group entities.

. Review of the methodology of the valuation
process performed by management is in
line with accounting standards applicable,
the market practice and the specific
expectations of the banking sector.

We have not identified differences, outside a
reasonable range, in the listed tests.
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Other information: management report

Other information comprises only the management report for the 2017 financial year, the formulation
of which is the responsibility of the Company s directors and does not form an integral part of the
annual accounts.

Our audit opinion on the annual accounts does not cover the management report. Our responsibility
regarding the management report, in accordance with legislation governing the audit practice which
establishes two differentiated responsibility levels:

a) A specific level that is applicable to the statement of non-financial information, as well as to
certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, defined in article
35.2. b) of Law 22/2015 on Accounts Auditing, which solely consists of verifying that the
aforementioned information was included in the management report or otherwise report on it.

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information included in the management report,
which consists of evaluating and informing about the concordance of the mentioned information
with the annual accounts, based on the knowledge of the Entity acquired from the audit of the
accounts and without including information other than that obtained as evidence during such
audit, as well as evaluating and informing about whether the content and presentation of this
part of the management report comply with the applicable regulations. If we conclude, based on
the work performed, that there are material misstatements, we would be compelled to report on
this.

On the hasis of the work performed, as described in the previous paragraph, the information contained
in the management report is consistent with that contained in the annual accounts for the 2017
financial year, and its content and presentation are in accordance with the applicable regulations.

Responsibility of the directors and the audit committee for the annual accounts

The Bank s directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying annual accounts, such
that they fairly present the equity, financial position and financial performance of the Bank, in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and
other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the Bank s directors are responsible for assessing the Bank”s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Bank’s audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process of preparation and presentation
of the annual accounts.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor”s report that
includes our opinion.

10
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with legislation governing the audit practice in Spain will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts. As part of an audit in accordance with
legislation governing the audit practice in Spain, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank”s internal control.

) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Bank”s directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Bank s directors use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank”s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor”s report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Bank s audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Bank’s audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements, including those relating to independence, and we communicate with the audit
committee those matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Bank’s audit committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the annual accounts of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor”s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.

11
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Report o the BanX’s audit comm

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to the
Bank's audit committee dated February 15, 2018

Appoiniment

During the General Shareholder’s Meeting held on March 18, 2016 we were appointed as the Bank’s
auditors for a three-year period from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.

Services providerd

Services, different to thg/ audit, provided to the Bank are described in Note 43 of the annual accounts.

PricewaterhouseQ_oo’f)ers Auditores, S.L. (S0242)
7

P Alejandro Esnal (19930)

February 16, 2018
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Financial Statements and Directors’
Report for the year ended 31 December
2017

Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish
and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes
1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language
version prevails.



Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50).
In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016

(Millions of euros)

ASSETS Note 2017 2016 (*)

CASH, CASH BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHERS DEPOSITS ON DEMAND 33,734 15,635
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 64,326 70,437
Derivatives 9 38,894 45,258
Equity instruments 8 10,168 7,249
Debt instruments 7 15,242 17,889
Loans and advances 10 22 41
Central banks - -
Credit institutions - -
Customers 22 41
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 21,212 8,272
FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 34,021 25,269
Equity instruments 8 - -
Debt instruments 7 - -
Loans and advances 34,021 25,269
Central banks - -
Credit institutions 6 11,243 8,533
Customers 10 22,778 16,736
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 3,812 308
FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 33,809 30,068
Equity instruments 8 1,863 2,443
Debt instruments 7 31,946 27,625
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 25,259 9,991
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 220,019 218,288
Debt instruments 7 13,492 13,681
Loans and advances 206,527 204,607
Central banks 6 96 47
Credit institutions 6 31,617 25,763
Customers 10 174,814 178,797
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 3,532 3,514
INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY 7 1,892 1,953
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 31 286 449
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 11 2,073 2,283

CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES
OF INTEREST RATE RISK 32 65 84
INVESTMENTS 85,428 80,614
Group entities 13 82,927 78,057
Joint ventures entities 302 390
Associated companies 13 2,199 2,167
TANGIBLE ASSETS 15 1,929 1,834
Property, plant and equipment: 1,690 1,616
For own use 1,331 1,299
Leased out under an operating lease 359 317
Investment property: 239 218
Of which: Leased out under an operating lease 239 200
Memorandum items:acquired in financial lease 574 611
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 225 160
Goodwill - -
Other intangible assets 16 225 160
TAX ASSETS 24 10,009 9,586
Current tax assets 2,240 1,378
Deferred tax assets 7,769 8,208
OTHER ASSETS 17 3,165 3,110
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 14 1,732 1,834
Inventories - -
Other 1,433 1,276
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 12 1,720 1,923
492,415 461,244

TOTAL ASSETS

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50).

In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

BALANCE SHEETS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Millions of euros)

LIABILITIES Note 2017 2016 (%)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 47,952 54,550
Derivatives 9 39,234 46,975
Short positions 9 8,718 7,575
Deposits - -
Central banks - -
Credit institutions - -
Customers - -
Marketable debt securities - -
Other financial liabilities - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 32,314 15,124
Deposits 32,314 15,124
Central banks 18 7,913 8,401
Credit institutions 18 15,209 3,141
Customers 19 9,192 3,582
Marketable debt securities - -
Other financial liabilities - -
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 327,020 313,382
Deposits 264,582 281,096
Central banks 18 25,016 25,067
Credit institutions 18 60,008 49,287
Customers 19 179,558 206,742
Marketable debt securities 20&21 53,058 22,955
Other financial liabilities 22 9,380 9,331
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 19 & 20 15,413 16,941
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 1 4,014 4,197
CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RISK RATE 32 - 7
PROVISIONS 23 6,615 7,339
Provision for pensions and similar obligations 4,141 4,627
Other long term employee benefits 1,231 1,588
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 316 262
isions for i and given 196 267
Other provisions 731 595
TAX LIABILITIES 24 1,208 1,378
Current tax liabilities - -
Deferred tax liabilities 1,208 1,378
OTHER LIABILITIES 17 2,725 2,032
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 421,848 398,009
SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY 26 70,717 63,029
CAPITAL 8,068 7,291
Called up paid capital 27 8,068 7,291
Unpaid capital which has been called up - -
Memorandum ftems: uncalled up capital - -
SHARE PREMIUM 28 51,053 44,912
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED OTHER THAN CAPITAL 27 686 -
Equity component of compound financial instruments - -
Other equity instruments 686 -
OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 30 150 135
ACCUMULATED RETAINED EARNINGS 29 7,79 7,785
REVALUATION RESERVES - -
OTHER RESERVES 29 1,987 2,002
(-) OWN SHARES - -
RESULTS FOR THE PERIOD 3,006 2,481
(-) DIVIDENDS 4 (2,029) (1,667)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (150) 206
ITEMS NOT RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (1,096) (1,080)
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans 25 (1,096) (1,080)
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - -
Other valuation adjustments - -
ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS 946 1,286
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations (Effective portion) - -
Exchange differences - -
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (Effective portion) - 5
Financial assets available-for-sale 25 946 1,281
Debt instruments 498 636
Equity instruments 448 645
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - -
TOTAL EQUITY 70,567 63,235
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 492,415 461,244

MEMORANDUM ITEMS
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31 24,235 60,059
CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 31 86,070 85,250

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016

(Millions of euros)

(Debit) / Credit
Note 2017 2016 (*)

Interest income 34 5,460 5,763
Interest expense 35 (3,203) (3,113)
Net interest income 2,257 2,650
Dividend income 36 3,593 3,719
Commision income 37 2,282 2,035
Commision expense 38 (310) (343)
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 39 367 289
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 39 348 310
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 39 (32) 177
Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net 39 (11) 17)
Exchange differences, net 40 (245) (587)
Other operating income 41 302 247
Other operating expenses 41 (506) (462)
Gross income 8,045 8,018
Administrative expenses (4,060) (4,211)
Staff costs 42 (2,109) (2,154)
Other general administrative expenses 43 (1,951) (2,057)
Depreciation and amortisation cost 15 &16 (193) (160)
Provisions or reversal of provision 23 (495) (714)
Impairment or reversal of impairment at financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net (524) (560)
Financial assets measured at cost (66) (43)
Financial assets available-for-sale @) 12
Loans and receivables 10 (451) (529)
Held-to-maturity investments - -
Profit from operations 2,773 2,373
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net 44 (273) (484)
Impairment on non-financial assets, net 44 - -
Tangible assets - -
Intangible assets - :
Others - -
Gains or losses on non financial assets and investments, net 45 572 345
From wich: investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 559 334
Negative goodwill recognised in results - -
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale classified as discontinued operations 12 & 46 (95) (105)
Profit or loss before tax from continuing operations 2,977 2,129
Tax expense or income from continuing operations 24 29 352
Profit for the period from continuing operations 3,006 2,481
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations - -
Profit for the period 3,006 2,481

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the income statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016

(Millions of euros)

Note 2017 2016 (*)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3,006 2,481
OTHER RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES 23 (356) 364
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (15) (75)
Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit pension plans (23) (106)
Non-current assets held for sale - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates - -
Other valuation adjustments - -
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 24 8 31
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (341) 439
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (Effective portion) - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Exchanges differences - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Cash flow hedges ©) 4
Revaluation gains or (losses) @) 4
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -
Financial assets available-for-sale (625) 619
Revaluation gains or (losses) (283) 830
Amounts transferred to income statement (342) (211)
Other reclassifications - -
Non-current assets held for sale - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Income tax related to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 24 291 (184)
Total recognised income and expenses for the year 2,650 2,845

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the statements of recognised income and expense

for the year ended 31 December 2017.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable

to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Millions of euros)

Other Other () Own Other
Capital Share instruments equity Retaineds Revaluation Other Equity Result for the (-) Dividends comprehensive Total
premium (Other than . earnings reserves reserves period income
- instruments shares
capital) accumulated
Balance as at 31/12/16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 135 7,785 - 2,092 - 2,481 (1,667) 206 63,235
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in accounting } ; } } } : } R } R } R
policies
Adjusted balance as at 01/01/2017 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 135 7,785 - 2,092 - 2,481 (1,667) 206 63,235
Total recognised income and expense - - - - - - - - 3,006 - (356) 2,650
Other changes in equity 777 6,141 686 15 11 - (105) - (2,481) (362) - 4,682
Issuance of ordinary shares 777 6,141 - - - - 6 - - - - 6,924
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial instruments - - 686 - - - - - - - - 686
Maturity of other financial instruments - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities into ) a } } } : } R } R } R
equity
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends - - - - (803) - - - - (2,029) - (2,832)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - 972) - - - 972)
Dispossal of equity instruments - - - - - - 23 972 - - - 995
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 814 - - - (2,481) 1,667 - -
Increases (decreases) due to business } ; ; ; ; ; ; R } R } R
combinations
Share-based payment - - - (46) - - - - - - - (46)
Others increases or (-) decreases of the R R R 61 R R (134) ~ R ~ R 73)
equity
Balance at 31/12/17 8,068 51,053 686 150 7,796 - 1,987 - 3,006 (2,029) (150) 70,567

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the statements of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2016.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable

to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 AND 2015 (CONTINUED)

(Millions of euros)

Capital

Share
premium

Other
instruments
(Other than

capital)

Other
equity
instruments

Retaineds
earnings

Revaluation
reserves

Other
reserves

(-) Own
Equity
shares

Result for the
period

(-) Dividends

Other
comprehensive
income
accumulated

Total

Balance as at 31/12/15 (*)

7,217

45,001

115

7,779

1,174

2,277

(1,546)

(158)

61,859

Adjustments due to errors

Adjustments due to changes in accounting
policies

Adjusted balance as
at 01/01/2016 (*)

7,217

45,001

115

1,174

2,277

(1,546)

(158)

61,859

Total recognised income and expense

2,481

364

2,845

Other changes in equity

74

(89)

20

918

(2,277)

(121)

(1,469)

Issuance of ordinary shares

74

(89)

15

Issuance of preferred shares

Issuance of other financial instruments

Maturity of other financial instruments

Conversion of financial liabilities into
equity

Capital reduction

Dividends

(2,389)

Purchase of equity instruments

(943)

(943)

Dispossal of equity instruments

943

952

Transfer from equity to liabilities

Transfer from liabilities to equity

Transfers between equity items

(2.277)

Increases (decreases) due to
business combinations

Share-based payment

(46)

(46)

Others increases or (-) decreases of the
equity

66

®

894

957

Balance at 31/12/16

7,291

44,912

135

7,785

2,092

2,481

(1,667)

206

63,235

(*) Restated balances. Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.

The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the statements of changes in total equity for the year ended 31 December 2017.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting framework applicable
to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-language version prevails.

BANCO SANTANDER, S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 AND 2016
(Millions of euros)

Note 2017 2016 (*)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 15,476 3,638
Profit for the year 4 3,006 2,481
Adjustments made to obtain the cahs flows from operating activities 1,823 1,245
Depreciation and amortisation charge 15& 16 193 160
Other adjustments 1,630 1,085
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets (10,429) (36,393)
Financial assets held-for-trading 4,829 (9,646)
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (8,752) (14,170)
Financial assets available-for-sale (4,445) (6,860)
Loans and receivables (2,318) (2,636)
Other operating assets 257) (3,081)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 21,915 (36,632)
Liabilities held-for-trading financial (6,597) (3,948)
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 17,189 (8,998)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 11,854 (25,225)
Other operating liabilities (531) 1,539
Income tax recovered/(paid) (839) 151
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,823) 2,830
Payments 8,818 4,419
Tangible assets 15 455 373
Intangible assets 16 138 126
Investments 13 8,225 3,920
Subsidiaries and other business units - -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities - -
Held-to-maturity investments - -
Other proceeds related to investing activities - -
Proceeds 4,995 7,249
Tangible assets 15 231 73
Intangible assets 16 - -
Investments 13 4,355 6,812
Subsidiaries and other business units - -
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 340 295
Held-to-maturity investments 69 69
Other payments related to investing activities - -
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 7,101 (5,281)
Payments 4,554 8,584
Dividends 4 2,665 2,308
Subordinated liabilities 21 764 5,333
Redemption of own equity instruments - -
Acquisition of own equity instruments 972 943
Other payments related to financing activities 153 -
Proceeds 11,655 3,303
Subordinated liabilities 21 2,894 2,346
Issuance of own equity instruments 7,072 -
Disposal of own equity instruments 1,004 957
Other proceeds related to financing activities 685 -
D. EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (655) 289
E. NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18,099 1,476
F. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 15,635 14,159
G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 33,734 15,635
Memorandum items

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

Cash 772 720
Cash equivalents at central banks 30,800 13,377
Other financial assets 2,162 1,538
Less - Bank overdrafts refundable on demand - -

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only. See Note 1.d.
The accompanying Notes 1 to 50 and Appendices are an integral part of the statements of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2017.




Translation of financial statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank in Spain (see Notes 1 and 50). In the event of a discrepancy, the Spanish-
language version prevails.

Banco Santander, S.A.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2017

Introduction, basis of presentation of the Financial Statements and other information

a)

b)

Introduction

Banco Santander, S.A. (“the Bank” or “Banco Santander”) is an entity under private-law entity subject to
the rules and regulations applicable to banks operating in Spain. The Bylaws and other public information
of the Bank can be consulted on the website of the Bank (www.santander.com) and at its registered office
at Paseo de Pereda 9-12, Santander.

In addition to the operations performed directly by Banco Santader, S.A. The Bank is the head of a group
of subsidiaries that perform different business activities and which constitute, together with the Bank, the
Santander Group (“the Group” or “Santander Group"). Therefore, the Bank is obliged to prepare, in
addition to its own stand alone financial statements, the Group's consolidated which financial statements,
also includes the investments in joint ventures and in associated companies.

The Bank's financial statements for 2016 were approved by the shareholders at the Bank's Annual General
Meeting on 7 April 2017. The 2017 consolidated financial statements of the Group and the 2017 financial
statements of the Bank and most part of the subsidiaries of the Group are pending of approved by their
shareholders at the respective Annual General Meetings. However, the Bank's board of directors
considers that the aforementioned financial statements will be approved without significant changes.

In the Appendix X, it is detailed the list of agents that assit to the Bank on the performance of its business
activities in Spain.

Basis of presentation of the financial statements

The Bank's financial statements for 2017 were formally prepared by the Bank's directors (at the board
meeting on 13 February 2018) in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2004, taking into account the
subsequent amendments to and the Spanish corporate and commercial law applicable to the Bank, using
the accounting policies and measurement cirterias detailed in Note 2. Accordingly, the financial statements
fairly presented the Bank's equity and financial position at 31 December 2017 and the results of its
operations, of the recognised income and expenses, of the changes in equity and of cash flows in 2017.
These financial statements were prepared using the Bank accounting record.

The notes to the financial statements contain supplementary information to that presented in the balance
sheet, income statement, statement of recognised income and expenses, statement of changes in total
equity and statement of cash flows. They provide narrative descriptions to the disaggregation of such
states in a clear, relevant, reliable and comparable manner.


http://www.santander.com/

Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued.
The following is a summary of the main Bank of Spain Circulars issued during 2017:

Bank of Spain Circular 1/2017, of June 30, which amends Circular 1/2013 of May 24, about Risk
Information Center. The main objective of the circular is to collect through the Risk Information Center
(CIR) the information that the Bank of Spain has to request from the reporting entities to report it to the
European Central Bank in compliance with the provisions of the regulation (EU) No. 867/2016.

Circular 5/2017 of December 22, which amends Circular 5/2012 June 27, to credit institutions and payment
service suppliers, about transparency of banking services and responsibility in the granting of loans. (BOE
of January 3, 2018).

From the application of this circulars, no significant effects have been identified in the Bank's annual
accounts.

Additionaly, the following regulations are opperating at the moment of the formulation, which effective date
is after December 31, 2017:

Circular 3/2017, of October 24, of the Bank of Spain, by which modifications are introduced in the Bank of
Spain Circular 2/2014, to credit institutions, on the exercise of various regulatory options contained on the
Regulations (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June 2013 on the
prudential requirements of credit institutions and investment firms, and amending Regulation (EU), No.
648/2012.

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 of November 27, to credit institutions, on rules of public and reserved
financial information and models of financial statements, which effective date is on January 1, 2018.

On December 6, 2017, Circular 4/2017, of November 27, of the Bank of Spain, was published in the
Official State Gazette, to credit institutions, about the rules of public and reserved financial information,
and financial statement models. This Circular, which will be effective on January 1, 2018, is intended to
adapt the accounting standars of Spanish credit institutions to the International Financial Reporting
Standard 9 adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU 9).

The main aspects contained in the IFRS-EU 9, to which the aforementioned Circular 4/2017 is adapted,
are the following:

(a)Classification of financial instruments: the classification criteria for financial assets depends on the
business model for their management and the characteristics of their contractal flows. Depending
on these factors, the asset can be measured at amortised cost, at fair value with changes
reported in other comprehensive income, or at fair value with changes reported through profit and
loss for the period. IFRS 9 also establishes an option to designate an instrument at fair value with
changes in profit or loss, under certain conditions. Santander Bank uses the following criteria for
the classification of financial debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: financial instruments under a business model whose objective is to collect
principal and interest cash flows, over those where no significant unjustified sales exist and
fair value is not a key factor in managing these financial assets. In this way, unjustified sales
are those that are different from sales related with an increase in the asset’s credit risk,
unanticipated funding needs (stress case scenario), even if such sales are significant in
value, or from sales of assets that no longer met the credit criteria specified in the entity’s
investment policy. Additionally, the contractual flow characteristics substantially represent a
“basic financing agreement”.



- Fair value with changes recognised through other comprehensive income: financial
instruments held in a business model whose objective is to collect principal and interest
cash flows and the sale of these assets, where fair value is a key factor in their
management. Additionally, the contractual cash flow characteristics substantially represent
a “basic financing agreement”.

- Fair value with changes recognised through profit or loss: financial instruments included in a
business model whose objective is not obtained through the above mentioned models,
where fair value is a key factor in managing of these assets, and financial instruments
whose contractual cash flow characteristics do not substantially represent a “basic financing
agreement”.

Santander Bank’s main activity revolves around retail and commercial banking operations, and its
exposure does not focus on complex financial products. The Group's main objective is to achieve
consistent classification of financial instruments in the portfolios as established under IFRS 9. To
this end, the bank has adopted guidelines develop by the Group. Additionally, for consolidated
purpose the Group has analysed its portfolios under these criteria, in order to assign its financial
instruments to the appropriate portfolio under IFRS 9, with no significant changes being identified.

Based on this analysis, Santander Group concludes that:

- Most of its financial assets classified as loans and advances under IAS 39 will continue to be
recognised at amortised cost under IFRS 9. As a consequence of the contractual cash flows
characteristics analysis of the financial instruments, a 0.3% of the total balance at December
31, 2017 under IAS 39 for the period primarily will be reclassified to fair value with changes
reported through profit and loss. As a result of the business model definition according to the
assets managed, a 0.2% of the total balance at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 will be
reclassified to fair value with changes recognised in other comprehensive income.

- In general, debt instruments classified as available-for-sale financial assets will be measured
at fair value with changes recognised through other comprehensive income. As a
consequence of the contractual cash flows characteristics analysis of the financial
instruments, a 0.2% of the total balance at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 for the period
primarily, will be reclassified to fair value with changes reported through profit and loss. As a
result of the business model definition according to the assets managed, a 5.1% of the total
balance at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 will be reclassified to fair value with changes
recognized in other comprehensive income.

However, the expected impact in shareholders” equity due to the reclassifications mentioned above
is not considered significant.

Available-for-sale equity instruments will be classified at fair value under IFRS 9, with changes
recognised through profit or loss, unless the Group decides, for non-trading assets, to classify them
at fair value with changes recognised through other comprehensive income (irrevocably).

IAS 39 financial liabilities classification and measurement criteria remains substantially unchanged
under IFRS 9. Nevertheless, in most cases, the changes in the fair value of financial liabilities
designated at fair value with changes recognised through profit or loss for the year, due to the entity
credit risk, are classified under other comprehensive income.



On October 12, 2017, the IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) published a clarification
on the treatment of certain prepayment options in relation to the assessment of contractual cash
flows of principal and interest on financial instruments, which is currently pending approval by the
European Union. However, the Group does not expect a significant impact in the transition period
prior to the adoption of this amendment.

(b) Credit risk impairment model: the most important new development compared with the current
model is that the new accounting standard introduces the concept of expected loss, whereas the
current model (IAS 39) is based on incurred loss.

- Scope of application: The IFRS 9 impairment model applies to financial assets valued at
amortised cost, debt instruments valued at fair value with changes reported in other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, and commitments and guarantees given not valued
at fair value.

- Use of practical expedients under IFRS 9: IFRS 9 includes a number of practical expedients that
may be implemented by entities to facilitate implementation. However, in order to achieve full
and high quality implementation of the standard, considering industry best practices, these
practical expedients will not be widely used:

- Rebuttable presumption that the credit risk has increased significantly when payments are
more than 30 days past due: this threshold is used as an additional — but not primary -
indicator of significant risk increase.

- Assets with low credit risk at the reporting date: in general, the Entity assesses the existence
of significant risk increase in all its financial instruments.

- Impairment estimation methodology: the portfolio of financial instruments subject to impairment
is divided into three categories, based on the stage of each instrument with regard to its level of
credit risk:

- Stage 1: financial instruments for which no significant increase in risk is identified since its
initial recognition. In this case, the impairment provision reflects expected credit losses
arising from defaults over the following 12 months from the reporting date.

- Stage 2: if there has been a significant increase in risk since the date of initial recognition,
but the impairment event has not materialised the financial instrument is classified as Stage
2. In this case, the impairment provision reflects the expected losses from defaults over the
residual life of the financial instrument.

- Stage 3: a financial instrument is catalogued in this stage when shows effective signs of
impairment as a result of one or more events that have already occurred resulting in a loss.
In this case, the amount of the impairment provision reflects the expected losses for credit
risk over the expected residual life of the financial instrument.

Additionally, the amount relative to the impairment provision reflects expected credit risk losses
through the expected residual life in those financial instruments purchased or originated credit
impaired (POCI).



The methodology required for the quantification of expected loss due to credit events will be
based on an unbiased and weighted consideration of the occurrence of up to five possible
future scenarios that could impact the collection of contractual cash flows, taking into account
the time-value of money, all available information relevant to past events, and current conditions
and projections of macroeconomic factors deemed relevant to the estimation of this amount
(e.g. GDP (Gross Domestic Product), house pricing, unemployment rate, etc.).

In estimating the parameters used for impairment provisions calculation (EAD (Exposure at
Default), PD (Probability of Default), LGD (Loss Given Default) and discount rate), the Entity
leveraged on its experience developing internal models for calculating parameters for regulatory
and management purposes. The Entity is aware of the differences between such models and
IFRS 9 requirements for impairment purposes. As a result, it has focused on adapting to such
requirements to the development of its IFRS 9 impairment provision models.

- Determination of significant increase in risk: with the purpose of determine whether a financial
instrument has increased its credit risk since initial recognition, proceeding with its classification
into Stage 2, the Entity considers the following criteria.

Changes in the risk of a default occurring through the expected
life of the financial instrument are analyzed and quantified with
respect to its credit level in its initial recognition.

Quantitative criteria With the purpose of determining if such changes are considered
as significant, with the consequent classification into Stage 2, the
Entity has defined the quantitative thresholds to consider in each
of its portfolios taking into account corporate guidelines.

In addition to the quantitative criteria mentioned above, the entity
considers several indicators that are aligned with those used in
ordinary credit risk management (e.g.: over 30 days past due,
o o forbearances, etc.). The Entity has defined these qualitative
Qualitative criteria criteria for each of its portfolios, according to its particularities
and with the policies currently in force.

The use of these qualitative criteria is complemented with the
use of an expert judgement.

- Default definition: the definition considered for impairment provisioning purposes is consistent
with that used in the development of advanced models for regulatory capital requirements
calculations.

- Use of present, past and future information: estimation of expected losses requires a high
component of expert judgement and it must be supported by past, present and future
information. Therefore, these expected loss estimates take into consideration multiple
macroeconomic scenarios for which the probability is measured considering past events,
current situation and future trends and macroeconomic indicators, such as GDP or
unemployment rate.

The Entity already uses forward looking information in internal management and regulatory
processes, considering several scenarios. In this sense, the entity has leveraged its experience
in the management of such information, maintaining consistency with the information used in
the other processes.



- Expected life of the financial instrument: with the purpose of its estimation all the contractual
terms have been taken into account (e.g. prepayments, duration, purchase options, etc.), being
the contractual period (including extension options) the maximum period considered to measure
the expected credit losses. In the case of financial instruments with an uncertain maturity period
and a component of undrawn commitment (e.g: credit cards), expected life is estimated
considering the period for which the entity is exposed to credit risk and the effectiveness of
management practices mitigates such exposure.

- Impairment recognition: the main change with respect to the current standard related to assets
measured at fair value with changes recognised through other comprehensive income. The
portion of the changes in fair value due to expected credit losses will be recorded at the current
profit and loss account while the rest will be recorded in other comprehensive income.

(c) Hedge accounting: IFRS 9 includes new hedge accounting requirements which have a twofold
objective: to simplify current requirements, and to bring hedge accounting in line with risk
management, allowing to be a greater variety of derivative financial instruments which may be
considered to be hedging instruments. Furthermore, additional breakdowns are required providing
useful information regarding the effect which hedge accounting has on financial statements and
also on the entity’s risk management strategy. The treatment of macro-hedges is being developed
as a separate project under IFRS 9. Entities have the option of continuing to apply IAS 39 with
respect to accounting hedges until the project has been completed. According to the analysis
performed until now, the entity will continue to apply IAS 39 in hedge accounting.

Transition

The European Union has already endorsed IFRS 9. The criteria established by this rule for the
classification, measurement and impairment of financial assets, will be applied in a retrospective way,
adjusting the first opening balances in the first application date (January 1, 2018). This new
international standard is aligned with the credit risk directives of the EBA and Bank of Spain Circular
4/2017.

For consolidation purpose, Santander Group has estimated an impact in (Common Equity Tier 1 -CET
1-) fully loaded basis of -20bp. The Group will apply a progressive phased-in regime in the period of 5
years based on Regulation (EU) No 2017/2395 of the European Parliament and of the Council
amending Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 as regards transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact
of the introduction of IFRS 9 on own funds that would be an impact of the new impairment model of
IFRS 9 of -1bp on Common Equity Tier 1 capital during the period from January 1, 2018 to December
31, 2018 or 5% of total impact. The increase in impairment provisions amounts to circa EUR 2,200
million (approximately EUR 400 million for the Bank).

The main causes of this impact are the requirements to record impairment provisions for the whole life
of the transaction for instruments where a significant risk increase has been identified after initial
recognition, in addition to forward-looking information in the estimates of impairment provisions.

IFRS 9 implementation strategy and governance

The Bank has established a global and multidisciplinary workstream with the aim of adapting its
processes to the new classification standards for financial instruments, accounting of hedges and
estimating credit risk impairment.

Accordingly, since 2016, the entity has been working towards defining an objective internal model and
analysing all the changes which are needed to adapt accounting classifications and credit risk
impairment estimation models in force in each unit to the previous definitions. The process was
completed in 2017.



Regarding the governance structure, the entity set up a regular committee to manage the project, and
a task force which is responsible for its tasks, ensuring that the pertinent responsible teams.

Hence, the main divisions involved in the project at the highest level, and which are thus represented in
the project governance bodies, are: Risks, Financial Accounting & Management Control and
Technology and Operations. Internal Audit division was involved in the project, having kept regular
meetings regarding the status of the project.

The governance structure currently implemented at both corporate level and in each one of the units,
complies with the requirements set out in the new standards both in IFRS 9, and in other related
regulatory standards (e.g, EBA credit risk guidelines).

Main project stages and milestones

In relation to the entry into force of this new international standard, in its 2016 consolidated financial
statements the entity reported the progress and main milestones achieved to that date regarding the
implementation plan for its adoption.

The work undertaken by Santander Bank includes an assessment of the financial instruments included
in the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and the development of impairment
methodology for calculating expected loss impairment provisions.

The Bank has drawn up the accounting policies and methodological framework for the implementation
developments carried out by each local unit. These internal regulations have been approved by all
relevant corporate bodies before the new standard comes into force.

With regard to classification and measurement, since 2016 the Bank has been carrying out an analysis
of its stock of products, focusing mainly on those that could trigger a change in accounting
methodology, due to the business model involved and failure to meet SPPI test requirements (solely
payments of principal and interest).

Additionally, using information from 2017, the Bank has updated this analysis and reviewed any new
products during the period, assessing both its asset management strategies (identifying the
corresponding business model), and broadening the review of products in stock.

In this moment, The Bank have now finished developing impairment models for all their portfolios. The
implementation of these impairment methodologies has enabled the Group to assess the cause of
impact in each portfolio.

The Bank has started, in the second half of 2017, the parallel calculation of impairment provisions
under IFRS 9 formally, without prejudice to the fact that a preliminary parallel calculation was already
being made for monitoring, performance tracking and impact purposes.

The governance process has been completed for the development, validation and approval of the
model that started with a validation of the first models by the Corporate Internal Validation.

Further, given the importance of the control environment in the processes, the corporate development
of the governance model of the impairment provisions calculation process as well as aspects related to
the classification of financial instruments has been completed. The proposed model includes a
reference design of the controls to be implemented in the new developments made in the
implementation of the new standard. Also, as part of the proposed government model, has defined a
process of periodic review of the main elements including, among others, the following areas:

- Business models defined.

- Quantitative and qualitative criteria defined for significant increase in risk.
- Macroeconomic scenario defined for impairment provisions calculation.

- Model adequacy for impairment provisions calculation.



There is no accounting principle or valuation criterion that, having a significant effect on the Bank's annual
accounts for the year 2017, has ceased to apply in its elaboration.

c) Use of critical

The Bank's results and the determination of its equity are sensitive to the accounting policies,
measurement criteria and estimates used by the directors of the Bank on preparing the financial
statements. The main accounting policies and measurement bases are detailed in Note 2.

In the financial statements for 2017, estimates were occasionally made by the Bank's directors in order to
qguantify certain of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses and obligations reported herein. These
estimates, which were made on the basis of the best information available, relate basically to the following:
- The impairment losses on certain assets (see Notes 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, 15 and 16);

- The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of the post-employment benefit liabilities and
commitments and other obligations (see Note 23);

- The useful life of the tangible and intangible assets (see Notes 15 and 16);

- The fair value of certain unquoted assets and liabilities (see Notes 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 18, 19 and 20).

- The recoverability of deferred tax assets (see Note 24).

- The provisions and the consideration of contingent liabilities (see Note 23).

Although these estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 2017 year-end,
future events might make it necessary to change these estimates (upwards or downwards) in coming

years. Changes in accounting estimates would be applied prospectively, recognising the effects of the
accounting estimate in the related income statement.

d) Comparative information

e)

The information relating to 2016 contained in these notes to the financial statements is presented with the
information relating to 2017 for comparison purposes only and, accordingly, it does not constitute the
Bank's statutory financial statements for 2016.

The ICAC Resolution of February 9, 2016 (Note 1.b), introduces certain changes, such as revising the
criteria for recognizing deferred tax assets, debits and credits allocation with the tax group. As deferred tax
liabilities related to the deductibility of impairment losjes of goodwill or its systematic amortization. The
impact of these new changes in the equity amount to 3,015 million euros which were recorded in Total
equity in accordance with the new criteria in the opening balance sheet for the year 2015 (see the
Statement of Changes in total Equity).

Capital management
i. Regulatory and economic capital
The Group's capital management is performed at regulatory and economic levels.

The aim is to secure the Group's solvency and guarantee its economic capital adequacy and its
compliance with regulatory requirements, as well as an efficient use of capital.

To this end, the regulatory and economic capital figures and their associated metrics RORWA (return on
risk-weighted assets), RORAC (return on risk-adjusted capital) and value creation of each business unit-
are generated, analysed and reported to the relevant governing bodies on a regular basis.



Within the framework of the internal capital adequacy assessment process (Pillar Il of the Basel Capital
Accord), the Group uses an economic capital measurement model with the objective of ensuring that there
is sufficient capital available to support all the risks of its activity in various economic scenarios, with the
solvency levels agreed upon by the Group; at the same time the Group assesses, also in the various
scenarios, whether it meets the regulatory capital ratio requirements.

In order to adequately manage the Group's capital, it is essential to estimate and analyse future needs, in
anticipation of the various phases of the business cycle. Projections of regulatory and economic capital are
made based on the budgetary information (balance sheet, income statement, etc.) and the
macroeconomic scenarios defined by the Group's economic research service. These estimates are used
by the Group as a reference when planning the management actions (issues, securitisations, etc.) required
to achieve its capital targets.

In addition, certain stress scenarios are simulated in order to assess the availability of capital in adverse
situations. These scenarios are based on sharp fluctuations in macroeconomic variables (GDP, interest
rates, housing prices, etc.) that mirror historical crisis that could happen again or plausible but unlikely
stress situations.

Following is a brief description of the regulatory capital framework to which Santander Group is subject.

In December 2010 the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision published a new global regulatory
framework for international capital standards (Basel 1ll) which strengthened the requirements of the
previous frameworks, known as Basel |, Basel Il and Basel 2.5, and other requirements additional to Basel
Il (Basel 2.5), by enhancing the quality, consistency and transparency of the capital base and improving
risk coverage. On June 26, 2013 the Basel Il legal framework was included in European law through
Directive 2013/36 (CRD 1V), repealing Directives 2006/48 and 2006/49, and through Regulation 575/2013
on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms (CRR).

The CRD IV was transposed into Spanish legislation through Law 10/2014 on the regulation, supervision
and capital adequacy of credit institutions, and its subsequent implementing regulations contained in Royal
Decree-Law 84/2015. This Circular largely repeals largely Circular 3/2008, on the calculation and
monitoring of minimum capital (though, in the aspects covered by Circular 5/2008, on minimum capital and
other mandatory reporting of information for mutual guarantee societies, the latter will remain in effect);
and a section of Circular 2/2014, on the exercise of various regulatory options contained in the CRR. The
CRR is directly applicable in EU Member States as from January 1, 2014 and repeals all lower-ranking
rules providing for additional capital requirements.

The CRR establishes a phase-in that will permit a progressive adaptation to the new requirements in the
European Union. These phase-in arrangements were incorporated into Spanish regulations through the
approval of Royal Decree-Law 14/2013 and Bank of Spain Circular 2/2014. They affect both the new
deductions and the issues and items of own funds which cease to be eligible as such under this new
regulation. In March 2016, the European Central Bank published Regulation 2016/445/UE that modifies
some of the phase-in dates applicable to Group, especially DTAs (Deferred Tax Assets) calendar. The
capital buffers provided for in CRD IV are also subject to phase-in; they are applicable for the first time in
2016 and must be fully implemented by 2019.

The Basel regulatory framework is based on three pillars. Pillar | sets out the minimum capital
requirements to be met, and provides for the possibility of using internal ratings and models (the Advanced
Internal Ratings-Based AIRB approach) in the calculation of risk-weighted exposures. The aim is to render
regulatory requirements more sensitive to the risks actually borne by entities in carrying on their business
activities. Pillar 1l establishes a supervisory review system to improve internal risk management and
internal capital adequacy assessment based on the risk profile. Lastly, Pillar 11l defines the elements
relating to disclosures and market discipline.



On November 23, 2016, the European Commission released a draft of the new CRR and CRD IV
incorporating different Basel standards, such as the Fundamental Review of the Trading Book for Market
Risk, the Net Stable Funding Ratio for liquidity risk or the SA-CCR for calculation of the EAD by
counterparty risk, and introduces modifications related to the treatment of central counterparties, from the
MDA (Maximum distribution Amount), Pillar 2 and the leverage ratio, among others. The most significant
change is the implementation of the TLAC (Total Loss-Absorbing Capacity) Term Sheet issued by the
Financial Stability Board (FSB) in the capital framework. Therefore, systemically important banks will have
to comply with MREL (Minimum Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities)/TLAC requirements
under Pillar 1 while non-systemically important banks need only comply with MREL under Pillar 2 that the
resolution authority will decide on a case-by-case basis.

The Single Resolution Board (SRB) published its Minimum Required Eligible Liabilities (MREL) policy for
2017. For the 2017 resolution planning cycle, the SRB is in transition from MREL informational objectives
to start establishing binding specific MREL consolidated objectives for each bank in the future, both at the
single entry point (SPE) and the multiple entry point (MPE), for most large and complex banks, including
all global institutions of systemic importance (G -SlI).

The MREL policy of the SRB for 2017 is based on a gradual approach to reach the final objectives (target
level) of MREL over a period of several years, and failure to do so could result in the consideration that the
entity cannot be resolved. In relation to the subordination criterion, the SRB considers that the entities of
global systemic importance (G-Slls) have to comply at least with a level of subordination equal to 13.5% of
the assets weighted by risk or risk-weighted assets (RWA) plus the Combined Buffer.

At December 31, 2017 the Group met the minimum capital requirements established by current legislation
(See Note 49).

ii. Plan for the roll-out of advanced approaches and authorisation from the supervisory authorities

The Group intends to adopt, over the next few years, the advanced internal ratings-based (AIRB)
approach under Basel Il for substantially all its banks, until the percentage of exposure of the loan portfolio
covered by this approach exceeds 90%. The commitment assumed before the supervisor still implies the
adaptation of advanced models within the ten key markets where Santander Group operates.

Accordingly, the Group continued in 2017 with the project for the progressive implementation of the
technology platforms and methodological improvements required for the roll-out of the AIRB approach for
regulatory capital calculation purposes at the various Group units.

The Group has obtained authorisation from the supervisory authorities to use the AIRB approach for the
calculation of regulatory capital requirements for credit risk for the Parent and the main subsidiaries in
Spain, the United Kingdom and Portugal, as well as for certain portfolios in Germany, Mexico, Brazil, Chile,
the Nordic countries (Norway, Sweden and Finland), France and the United States.

During 2017, approval was obtained for the sovereign portfolios, Institutions (FIRB method) and
Specialized Financing (Slotting) in Chile, Mortgages and most revolving of Santander Consumer Germany
as well as the portfolios of dealers of PSA France and PSA UK (FIRB method).

As regards the other risks explicitly addressed under Basel Pillar I, the Group is authorized to use its
internal model for market risk for its treasury trading activities in UK, Spain, Chile, Portugal and Mexico.

For the purpose of calculating regulatory capital for operational risk, Santander Group has been applying
the standardised approach provided for under the European Capital Requirements Directive. On 2017 the
European Central Bank authorized the use of the Alternative Standardised Approach to calculate the
capital requirements at consolidated level for operational risk at Banco Santander México, in addition to
obtained was made in 2016 in Brazil.
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f) Environmental impact

9)

h)

In view of the business activities carried on by the Bank, the Bank does not have any environmental
liability, expenses, assets, provisions or contingencies that might be material with respect to its
consolidated equity, financial position or results. Therefore, no specific disclosures relating to
environmental issues are included in these consolidated financial statements.

Customer Care Service Annual Report

As required by the Article 17 of Ministry of Economy Order ECO/734/2004, of 11 March, on the services
and departments of Customer Service and the Customer Ombudsmen of Financial Institutions, the annual
report presented by the Head of the department to the board meeting held on March 2018 is summarised
in the directors' report.

Deposit Guarantee Fund and Resolution Fund
a) Deposit Guarantee Fund

The Bank participates in the Deposit Guarantee Fund (“the DGF”). The annual contribution to be made by
the entities to this fund, established by Royal Decree - Law 16/2011 of October 14, by which the DGF is
created in accordance with the wording given by the Tenth Final Disposition of Law 11/2015 of June 18 on
Recovery and Resolution of credit institutions and investment services companies (in force since June 20,
2015), is determined by the Management Committee of the DGF and is established based on the
guaranteed deposits of each entity and its risk profile. The annual contribution to be made by the entities to
this fund is determined by the Management Committe of the FGD, and consists of the contribution based
on the guaranteed deposits of each entity corrected for its risk profile, which includes the phase of the
economic cycle and the impact of pro-cyclical contributions, according to section 3 of article 6 of the Royal
Decree-Law 16/2011.

The purpose of the FGD is to guarantee deposits with credit institutions up to the limit established in the
mentioned Royal Decree-Law. In order to fulfill its objectives, the DGF draws on the aforementioned
annual contributions, the spreads that the Fund makes between the entities adhered to it and the funds
raised in the securities markets, loans and any other borrowing operations.

Taking into account the foregoing and in order to strengthen the DGF's assets, Royal Decree-Law 6/2013
of 22 March on the protection of the holders of certain savings and investment products and other financial
measures established a spill equivalent to three per thousand of the deposits of the entities as of
December 31, 2012. This amount is effective in two tranches:

i. Two fifths to be paid within twenty working days from December 31, 2013. In the first days of
January 2014, the Bank satisfied this contribution amounted to 65 million euros.

ii. Three-fifths to be paid within a maximum period of seven years and according to the payment
schedule established by the Fund's Management Committee. In this sense, according to the
schedule of contributions approved by the Governing Board of the DGF, the Bank satisfied one-
seventh of this second tranche on September 30, 2014. This Governing Board approved on
December 17, 2014 that the remaining part of the second tranche will be made through two
disbursements of the same amount each, one on June 30, 2015 (which actually took effect on that
date) and the second one in 2016, (which was alredy charged).

11



The expenses incurred by contributions performed to this Fund in 2017 amounted to EUR 154 million
(2016: EUR 141 million) and they are recognised under Other operating expenses in the accompanying
income statement (see Note 41).

b) National Resolution Fund.

In 2015 Royal Decree 1012/2015 of November 6 was published. It develops Law 11/2015 of June 18 on
Recovery and Resolution of credit institutions and investment services companies, and it amended Royal
Decree 2606/1996 of December 20 on Deposit Guarantee Funds of entities of credit. The above
mentioned Law 11/2015 regulates the creation of the National Resolution Fund whose financial resources
should reach, before December 31, 2024, at least 1% of the amount of deposits guaranteed through
contributions from credit institutions and service companies established in Spain. The details of how to
calculate the contributions to this Fund are regulated by Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/63
of 21 October 2014 and it is calculated by the Ordinary Banking Order Fund ("FROB") on a basis to the
information provided by each entity.

¢) Single Resolution Fund

In March 2014, Parliament and the European Council reached a political agreement for the creation of
the second pillar of the banking union: the Single Resolution Mechanism ("MUR"). The main objective of
the MUR is to ensure that bank failures that could occur in the future in the banking union could be
managed efficiently with minimum costs for the taxpayer and the real economy. The scope of action of
the MUR is identical to that of the MUS, it is also a central authority. The Single Resolution Board ("JUR")
is ultimately responsible for the decision to initiate the resolution of a bank, whereas the operational
decision will be implemented in cooperation with the national resolution authorities. The JUR started its
work as an autonomous body of the EU on 1 January 2015.

The rules governing the banking union are intended to ensure that banks and their shareholders finance
the resolutions first and, if necessary, finance the entity’s creditors in part too. However, there will also be
another source of funding that can be used if the contributions of the shareholders and of the entity’s
creditors are not sufficient. This is the Single Resolution Fund ("FUR") administered by the JUR. The
regulation establishes that banks will pay the contributions to the FUR over eight years.

In this respect, on 1 January 2016, the FUR introduced by Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European
Parliament and of the Council entered into force. The competence of the calculation of the contributions
that must be made by credit institutions and investment firms to the FUR corresponds to the JUR. From
2016 these contributions are based on: (a) a flat-rate contribution (or annual base contribution) pro rata of
the liabilities of each entity excluding own resources and deposits with coverage with respect to total
liabilities and excluding the liabilities own funds and deposits covered by all entities authorized in the
territory of the participating member states; and based on (b) a risk-adjusted contribution based on the
criteria laid down in Article 103 (7) of Directive 2014/59 / EU, taking into account the principle of
proportionality and without creating distortions between banking sector structures in the Member States.
The amount of this contribution is accrued annually from 2016.

The expenses incurred by contributions to the National Resolution Fund and to the Single Resolution
Fund in 2017 amounted to EUR 181 million (2016: EUR 150 million) and they are recognised under
Other operating expenses in the accompanying income statement (see Note 41).
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i) Merger by absorption

Merger by absorption between Banco Santander, S.A. (absorbing company) and (a) Santander Finance
Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances, SAU, Santander
Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander Perpetual, SAU, Santander
US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Issuer 150, S.A.U., Santander International Preferred, S.A.U. (as absorbed
companies); (b) Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. (as absorbed company).

On June 26, 2017, the directors of Banco Santander and of each of the absorbed companies approved
the joint merger project and the merger operation between Banco Santander (as absorbing company)
and Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuences,
S.A.U., Santander Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander
Perpetual, S.A.U., Santander US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U. and Santander
International Preferred, S.A.U. (as absorbed companies).

Also, on June 26, 2017, took place the approval of the common merger project and the merger operation
between Banco Santander (as absorbing company) and Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. (as absorbed
company) by the administrators of both companies.

Under the provisions of articles 49.1 and 51 of Law 3/2009, of April 3, on the structural modifications of
commercial companies ("LME"), it was not necessary to approve any of the mergers by the General
Meeting of the Bank.

Likewise, the aforementioned transactions constitute mergers of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of Law
27/2014, of November 27, on Corporation Tax ("LIS"). The information required in article 86.1 of the
aforementioned Law regarding each of the two mergers is incorporated into this report (Annex VIII).

(@) Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U, Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances,
S.A.U,, Santander Commercial Paper, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander
Perpetual, S.A.U., Santander US Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U., Santander International
Preferred, S.A.U.

Once the mandatory authorization was obtained from the Ministry of Economy, Industry and
Competitiveness Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the organization, supervision and solvency of the credit
institutions) on December 20, 2017, the parallel deed of merger was granted, registered in the Mercantile
Registry of Cantabria, the date of effects is December 27, 2017, the extinction and liquidation of
Santander Finance Capital, S.A.U., Santander Finance Preferred, S.A.U., Santander Issuances, S.A.U.,
Santander Commercial Papel, S.A.U., Santander International Debt, S.A.U., Santander Perpetual,
S.A.U., Santander American Debt, S.A.U., Santander Emisora 150, S.A.U., Santander International
Preferred, S.A.U., respectively, and the block transfer of all of their respective assets to Banco
Santander. It should be noted that the merger, for accounting purposes, has been registered by Banco
Santander, S.A. in the year 2017.

Inasmuch as the absorbing companies were entirely composed of Banco Santander, in accordance with
article 49.1, in relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Acquired effectiveness
with expiration date on December 27, 2017, all the shares of the absorbed companies were fully
amortized, extinguished and canceled.

The following were considered as merger balances, for the purposes of Spanish legislation, those
included in the annual accounts for the year ended December 31, 2016, formulated by the administrative
bodies of each of the companies participating in the merger and, except in the case of Santander
Emisora 150, S.A.U. that it was not subject to the obligation to audit its annual accounts, subject to audit.
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In accordance with the provisions of the applicable accounting regulations, for accounting purposes,
January 1, 2017 was set as the date from which the operations of the absorbed companies were to be
considered by Banco Santander, S.A.

On the other hand, in accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger was subject to the tax regime
established in chapter VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article
45, paragraph IB10 of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the
Consolidated Text of Transfer Tax and Documented Legal Acts.

The balance sheets of the absorbed companies as of December 31, 2016 are presented below:

SANTANDER FINANCE CAPITAL, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 501,288 EQUITY 1,774
Investments in group entities and associates 501,288 SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY 1,774
Capital 151

Reserves 940

Results of previous periods (81)

Results for the period 764

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 501,244

Long term debts 501,244

CURRENT ASSETS 10,081 CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,351
Investments in group entities and associates 6,098 Short term debts 8,253
Cash and other equivalent liquid assets 3,983 Commercial debtors 22
Short term accruals 76

TOTAL ASSETS 511,369 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 511,369

SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL PREFERRED, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AL 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016
(Miles de Euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 939,227 EQUITY 199
Investments in group entities and associates 939,227 SHAREHOLDER'’S EQUITY 199
Capital 60

Reserves 185

Results of previous periods (13)

Results for the period (33)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 939,193

Long term debts 932,755

Debts with group entities 6,438

CURRENT ASSETS 15.094 CURRENT LIABILITIES 14,929
Investments in group entities and associates 11,425 | Short term debts 14,771
Cash and other equivalent liquid assets 3,669 | Short term debts with group entities 102
Commercial debtors 22

Short term accruals 34

TOTAL ASSETS 954,321 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 954,321
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SANTANDER ISSUANCES, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS 6,099,588 | EQUITY 780
Investments in group entities and associates 6,095,450 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 780
Derivatives 4,138 Capital 60
Reserves 1,661
Profit for the period (941)
NON CURRENT LIABILITES 6,051,150
Long term debt 6,013,124
Long term debt with group entities and associates 33,888
Derivatives 4,138
ACTIVO CORRIENTE 298,863 CURRENT LIABILITES 346,521
Short term investments in group entities and associates 280,420 Short term debt 297,690
Debtors 3 Short term debt with group entities and associates 76
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 18,440 Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 63
Short term accrual 48,692
TOTAL ASSETS 6,398,451 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 6,398,451
SANTANDER PERPETUAL, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS: 2,173,015 EQUITY: 1,477
Investments in group entities and associates 2,173,015 | SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 1,477
Capital 151
Reserves 1,357
Prior period profit (59)
Profit for the period 28
NON CURRENT LIABILITES: 2,172,984
Long term debt 171,882
Debt with group entities and associates 2,001,102
CURRENT ASSETS: 19,890 CURRENT LIABILITES: 18,444
Short term investments in group entities and associates 18,202 | Short term debt 236
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 1,688 | Short term debt with group entities and associates 17,966
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 23
Short term accrual 219
TOTAL ASSETS 2,192,905 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,192,905
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SANTANDER US DEBT, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016

EQUITY 289
Shareholders”equity 289
Capital 270
Reserves 450
Prior period profit (170)
Profit for the period (261)
CURRENT ASSETS 311 CURRENT LIABILITES: 22
Deferred tax assets 94 | Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 22

Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 217
TOTAL ASSETS 311 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 311

SANTANDER FINANCE PREFERRED, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016
(Thousands of euros)
TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016

NON CURRENT ASSETS 2,347,824 EQUITY 5,799
Investments in group entities and associates 2,347,824 | SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 5,799
Capital 151
Reserves 5,622
Profit for the period 26
NON CURRENT LIABILITES 2,347,806
Long term debt 846,326
Long term debt with group entities and associates 1,501,480
CURRENT ASSETS 21,022 CURRENT LIABILITES 15,241
Investments in group entities and associates 15,034 | Short term debt 5,386
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 5,988 | Short term debt with group entities and associates 9,811
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 26
Short term accrual 18
TOTAL ASSETS 2,368,846 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2,368,846
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SANTANDER COMMERCIAL PAPER, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)

BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
EQUITY 4,381
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 4,381
Capital 151
Reseres 3,961
Profit for the period 269
CURRENT ASSETS 7,024,361 | CURRENT LIABILITES 7,019,980
Investments in group entities and associates 7,019,425 | Short term debt 6,799,451
Short term accrual 54 Debt with group entities and associates 220,255
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 4,882 Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 274

TOTAL ASSETS 7,024,361 TOTAL PATRIMONIO NETO Y PASIVO 7,024,361

SANTANDER INTERNATIONAL DEBT, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
NON CURRENT ASSETS 9,585,764 EQUITY 8,106
Investments in group entities and associates 9,585,764 | SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 8,106
Capital 180
Reserves 8,277
Profit for the period (351)
NON CURRENT LIABILITES: 9,585,759
Long term debt 8,618,609
Long term debt with group entities and associates 939,389
Long term accrual 27,761
CURRENT ASSETS 5,628,991 CURRENT LIABILITES: 5,620,890
Investments in group entities and associates 5,566,934 Short term debt 5,256,719
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 62,057 Short term debt with group entities and associates 358,909
Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 98
Short term accrual 5,164
TOTAL ASSETS 15,214,755 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 15,214,755

SANTANDER EMISORA 150, S.A. (SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL)
BALANCE AT 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016
(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 2016
EQUITY: 966
SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 966
Capital 60
Reserves 976
Prior period profit (59)
Profit for the period (11)
CURRENT ASSETS 968 NON CURRENT LIABILITES 2
Cash and other assets liquid equivalents 968 Commercial creditors and other accounts payable 2
TOTAL ASSETS 968 TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 968
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In accordance with the provisions of the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of this
merger by absorption operation carried out by the Bank in the year 2017, an increase in the Bank's voluntary
reserves in said fiscal year has been shown for 313 million euros (Note 29), due to the decrease in the interest
in the nine companies absorbed in 23 million euros and 290 million euros for the equity effect of the
elimination intergroup positions of the Bank and the absorved companies.

(b) Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U.

Once the required authorisation was received from the Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (additional
provision twelfth of Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the supervision and solvency of credit institutions) 28
December 2017, and on achievement of the remaining conditions to which the merger was subject, the related
merger deed was executed and filed at the Cantabria Mercantile Registry and Santander Carteras was
extinguished without liquidation of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U.and all of its equity was transferred en bloc
to Banco Santander. For accounting purposes, the merger was registered in the year 2017. Given that the
absorbed company was completed fully owned by Banco Santander, in accordance with article 49.1, in
relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Acquisition of the merger with effective date
on February 6, 2018, all the shares of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. they were fully retired, extinguished and
annulled.

For the purposes of Spanish legislation, the merger balance sheets included in the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2016, authorised for issue by the boards of directors of Banco Santander and
Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. and subjet to audit.

According to applicable accounting regulations for accounting purposes, January 1, 2017 was set as the date
from which the operations of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. was carried out by Banco Santander.

In accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the merger described was subject to the tax system established in
chapter VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in article 45, paragraph IB)
10 of the Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, approving the Consolidated Text of Transfer Tax
and Documented Legal Acts.

The following is the balance sheet of Fomento e Inversiones, S.A.U. at December 31, 2016 (in millions of
euros):

FOMENTO E INVERSIONES, S.A.U.

BALANCE 31 DE DICIEMBRE DE 2016

(Thousands of euros)

TOTAL ASSETS 2016 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2016
NON-CURRENT ASSETS NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Investments in group entities and associates 1.115.329 | Long term debts with group entities 435.500
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term financial investment 2.820 5
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Short term debts with group entities 624.663
CURRENT ASSETS Commercial debtors 9
Investment in group entities 76.916
Other financial assets 63.912
. 644
gf:gita?g chf: gﬂfé;’a'e”‘ TOTAL LIABILITIES 1.060.177
p 13.004
EQUITY
Shareholder’s equity 135.521
Valuation Adjustment 11
TOTAL EQUITY 135.532
TOTAL ASSETS 1.195.709 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1.195.709
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According to the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of this merger by absorption
indicated above carried out by the Bank in the year 2017, an increase in the Bank's voluntary reserves was
shown in this fiscal year. 51 million euros due to the decrease in the interest in the absorbed company (Note
29).

Merger by absorption between Banco Santander, S.A. (absorbing company) and (c) Santander Insurance
Holding, S.L.U., (d) Santander AM Holding, S.L.U. and (e) Carpe Diem Salud, S.L.U., Integral Training,
S.A.U., Santander Carbdn Finance, S.A.U., Fixed Income Securities, S.A.U., Oildor, S.A.U. and Cavalsa
Gestion, S.A.U., respectively.

On June 28, 2016, the three common merger projects were approved by the directors of Banco Santander
and the absorbed companies: (c) Santander Insurance Holding, S.L.U.; (d) Santander AM Holding, S.L.U; and
(e) Carpe Diem Salud, S.L.U., Integral Training, S.A.U., Santander Carb6n Finance, S.A.U., Fixed Income
Securities, S.A.U., Oildor, S.A.U. and Cavalsa Gestion, S.A.U.

Under the provisions of articles 49 and 51 of Law 3/2009, of April 3, on structural modifications of mercantile
companies ("LME"), it was not necessary to approve any of the three mergers by the Shareholders”Meeting of
the Bank.

Likewise, the aforementioned transactions constitute mergers of those regulated in article 76.1.c) of Law
27/2014, of November 27, on Corporate Tax.

(c) Santander Insurance Holding, S.L.U .; (d) Santander AM Holding, S.L.U; and (e) Carpe Diem Salud,
S.L.U., Integral Training, S.A.U., Santander Carbén Finance, S.A.U., Fixed Income Securities, S.A.U., Oildor,
S.A.U. and Cavalsa Gestion, S.A.U.

Once the required authorization had been obtained from the Ministry of Economy, Industry and
Competitiveness (additional provision twelfth Law 10/2014, of June 26, on the organization, supervision and
solvency of credit institutions) on December 9, 2016, regarding the merger with Santander Insurance Holding,
S.L.U., and on November 25, 2016, with respect to the other two mergers, and the remaining suspensive
conditions to which each of the mergers were submitted, the corresponding three merger deeds were granted
and, inscribed these in the Mercantile Registry of Cantabria on February 1, 2017, there was the extinction
without liquidation of (¢) Santander Insurance Holding, SLU, (d) Santander AM Holding, SLU and (e) Carpe
Diem Salud, S.L.U., Integral Training, S.A.U., Santander Carbén Finance, S.A.U., Fixed Income Securities,
S.A.U., Oildor, S.A.U. and Cavalsa Gestion, S.A.U., respectively, and the block transfer of all its assets to
Banco Santander. It should be noted that the merger, for accounting purposes, has been registered by Banco
Santander, S.A. in the year 2016.

Given that the absorbed companies were wholly owned by Banco Santander, in accordance with article 49, in
relation to article 26 of the LME, the Bank did not increase capital. Having obtained efficiencies as a result of
the merger of the three entities on December 28, 2016, date in which the corresponding deeds were
presented to the Mercantile Registry of Cantabria, all of the shares or shareholdings of the absorbed
companies were fully amortized, extinguished and canceled.

The balances included in the annual accounts for the year ended December 31, 2016, were considered as
merger balances, for the purposes of the Spanish legislation, formulated by the administrative bodies of each
of the companies participating in the mergers, except in the case of Formacion Integral, S.A.U. and Fixed
Income Securities, S.A.U. -which were not subject to the obligation to audit their annual accounts—, submitted
to an audit.

In accordance with the provisions of the applicable accounting regulations, for accounting purposes, it was set
for the three mergers on January 1, 2016 as the date from which the operations of the absorbed companies
were to be considered by Banco Santander, S.A.
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On the other hand, in accordance with article 89.1 of the LIS, the three mergers were subject to the fiscal
regime established in section VII of title VII and in the second additional provision of the LIS, as well as in
article 45, paragraph 1.B.10 of the Spanish Royal Legislative Decree 1/1993, of September 24, which
approves the Consolidated Text of Law on Property Transfer Tax and Stamp Duty.

The following are the balance sheets of the companies absorbed as of December 31, 2015:

(c) Merger of Banco Santander, S.A. and Santander Insurance Holding, S.L.U.

Santander Insurance Holding, S.L.U.

. Millions of
Millions of euros Uros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Investments in group entities and associates 798 | Long term debt 4
Long term debt with group entities
Defererred tax assets ! Shorgt term debt with cg]roug entities 278
Treasury 55 2
Total liabilities 284
Equity
Shareholders equity 570
Total Equity 570
Total assets 854 | Total liabilities and equity 854
Other memorandum items -
(d) Merger of Banco Santander, S.A. and Santander AM Holding, S.L.U.
Santander AM Holding, S.L.U.
Millions of euros Millions of
euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Investments in group entities and associates 180 | Obligaciones prestaciones al personal 2
Deferred tax assets 12 | Debt with group entities 7
Treasury 5
Total liabilities 9
Equity
Shareholders’equity 188
Total Equity 188
Total assets 197 | Total liabilities and equity 197
Other memorandum items 150
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(e) Merger of Banco Santander, S.A. and Carpe Diem Salud, S.L.U., Formacién Integral, S.A.U., Santander
Carbén Finance, S.A.U., Titulos de Renta Fija, S.A.U., Oildor, S.A.U. and Cavalsa Gestion, S.A.U.

Carpe Diem Salud, S.L.U.

Thousand of

Thousand of euros

euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Long term investments 2,804 | Debt with group entities 321
Treasury 403 | Commercial creditors 11
Total liabilities 332
Equity
Shareholders”equity 2,875
Total Equity 2,875
Total assets 3,207 | Total liabilities and equity 3,207

Other memorandum items

Formacion Integral, S.A.U.

Thousand of

Thousand of euros

euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 60 | Debt with group entities 24
Treasury 130
Total liabilities 24
Equity
Shareholders’equity 166
Total Equity 166
Total assets 190 | Total liabilities and equity 190
Other memorandum items -
Santander Carbdn Finance, S.A.U.
Thousand of Thousand of euros
euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Long term debt with group entities 25,600
Investments in group entities and associates 122 | Short term debt with group entities 6,000
Inventory 22 | Commercial creditors 12
Treasury 412 | Total liabilities 31,612
Other group entity debtors 62 | Equity
Shareholders’equity (30,994)
Total Equity (30,994)
Total assets 618 | Total liabilities and equity 618

Other memorandum items
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Titulos de Renta Fija, S.A.U.

Thousand of Thousand of
euros euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Long term investments 2,804 | Debt with group entities 265
Short term investments 8 | Commercial creditors 2
Treasury 397 | Total liabilities 267
Equity
Shareholders’equity 2,942
Total Equity 2,942
Total assets 3,209 | Total liabilities and equity 3,209
Other memorandum items -
Oildor, S.A.U.
Thousand of Thousand of euros
euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 100 | Debt with group entities 1,331
Treasury 166,755 | Commercial creditors 12
Total liabilities 1,343
Equity
Shareholders’equity 165,512
Total Equity 165,512
Total assets 166,855 | Total liabilities and equity 166,855
Other memorandum items -
Cavalsa Gestion, S.A.U.
Thousand of Thousand of euros
euros
Total Assets 31/12/2015 Total Liabilities and equity 31/12/2015
Assets Liabilities
Deferred tax assets 19 | Debt with group entities 14,671
Treasury 296,694 | Commercial creditors 52
Total liabilities 14,723
Equity
Shareholders”equity 281,990
Total Equity 281,990
Total assets 296,713 | Total liabilities and equity 296,713
Other memorandum items -

By virtue of the provisions of the applicable regulations, as a result of the accounting record of these three
merger transactions by absorption carried out by the Bank in 2016, an increase in the Bank's voluntary
reserves has been shown in said financial year of 1,165 million euros, due to the decrease in the interest in
the eight companies absorbed (Note 29).

j) Events after the reporting period

No significant events occurred from 1 January 2018 to the date on which these financial statement,
additional to referred in these annual accounts.
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k) Other information
Fidelity Bonds

On July 13, 2017, Banco Santander and Banco Popular informed that they had decided to launch a
compensation action aimed at building loyalty among their network retail clients affected by Banco
Popular’s resolution (the “Fidelity Action”).

By virtue of the Fidelity Action, those clients who meet certain conditions and who have been affected by
the resolution of Banco Popular will be able to receive, without any payment on their part, tradable
securities issued by Banco Santander for a nominal value up to the investment in shares or certain
subordinated bonds of Banco Popular (with certain limits) that they held as of the date of the resolution of
Banco Popular. In order to benefit from such action, it will be necessary for the client to waive legal actions
against the Group.

The Fidelity Action will be done through the delivery to the client of contingent redeemable perpetual
bonds (“The Fidelity Bonds”) of Banco Santander, S.A. The Fidelity Bonds will accrue a discretional, non-
cumulative cash coupon, payable quarterly in arrears.

This issue was made by Banco Santander, S.A. on September 8, 2017 for a nominal amount of 981 million
euros, fully subscribed by Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A. As of December 31, 2017, the cost recorded in the
heading Equity instruments issued other than equity in the Bank's balance sheet amounts to 686 million
euros.

The Fidelity Bonds are perpetual securities; however, it will be possible to totally redeem them by decision
of Banco Santander, with the prior authorization of the European Central Bank, in any of the payment
dates of the coupon, after seven years from their issuance.

In accordance with the conditions stipulated in the issuance of the Fidelity Bonds, related to the
discretional remuneration by the Bank and other aspects, this financial instrument is considered as an
equity instrument in accordance with the applicable regulation.

2. Accounting policies

The accounting policies applied in preparing the financial statements were as follows:

a) Foreign currency transactions

The Bank's functional currency is the euro. Therefore, all balances and transactions denominated in
currencies other than the euro are deemed to be denominated in foreign currency.

In general, foreign currency balances, including those of branches in countries not belonging to the
Monetary Union, were translated to euros at the average official exchange rates prevailing on the Spanish
spot foreign exchange market at each year-end (using the market price of the US dollar in local markets in
the case of currencies not traded in the Spanish market).

The exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign currency balances to the functional currency
are generally recognised at their net amount under Exchange differences in the Income statement, except
for exchange differences arising on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
recognised in the income statement without distinguishing them from other changes in the fair value of
those financial instruments.
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b) Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates

c)

Subsidiaries or Group entities are defined as entities over which the Bank has the capacity to exercise
control; control is, in general but not exclusively, presumed to exist when the Parent owns directly or
indirectly half or more of the voting power of the investee or, even if this percentage is lower or zero, when,
as in the case of agreements with shareholders of the investee, the Bank is granted control. Control is the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity, as stipulated by the law, the Bylaws or
agreement, so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Joint ventures are deemed to be ventures that are not subsidiaries but which are jointly controlled by two
or more unrelated entities. This is evidenced by contractual arrangements whereby two or more entities
(venturers) acquire interests in entities (jointly controlled entities) or undertake operations or hold assets so
that strategic financial and operating decisions affecting the joint venture require the unanimous consent of
the venturers.

Associates are entities over which the Bank is in a position to exercise significant influence, but not control
or joint control. Significant influence generally exists when the Bank holds 20% or more of the voting power
of the investee.

Investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are presented in the balance sheet at
acquisition cost, net of any impairment losses.

When there is evidence of impairment of these investments, the amount of the related impairment loss is
equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the investments and their recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised with a charge to Impairment losses on other assets (net) - Other assets
in the income statement.

As at 31 December 2017, the Bank controlled the following companies in which it held an ownership
interest of less than 50% of the share capital: (i) Luri 1, S.A. and (ii) Luri 2, S.A. The percentage ownership
interests in the aforementioned companies were 31% and 30%, respectively (see Appendix I). Although
the Bank holds less than half the voting power, it manages and, as a result, exercises control over these
entities. The company object of the first two entities is the acquisition of real estate and other general
operations relating thereto, including rental, and the purchase and sale of properties, the company object
of the latter entity is the provision of payment services.

At 31 December 2017, the Bank exercised joint control of Luri 3, S.A., despite holding 10% of its share
capital. This decision is based on the Bank's presence on the company's board of directors, in which the
agreement of all members is required for decision-making.

Appendices | and Il contain significant information on these companies. In addition, Note 13 provides
information on the most significant acquisitions and disposals in 2017 and 2016.

Definitions and classification of financial instruments
i. Definitions

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability
or equity instrument of another entity.

An equity instrument is a contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the issuing entity after
deducting all of its liabilities.
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A financial derivative is a financial instrument whose value changes in response to the change in an
observable market variable (such as an interest rate, foreign exchange rate, financial instrument price,
market index or credit rating), whose initial investment is very small compared with other financial
instruments with a similar response to changes in market factors, and which is generally settled at a future
date.

Hybrid financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously include a non-derivative host contract
together with a derivative, known as an embedded derivative, that is not separately transferable and has
the effect that some of the cash flows of the hybrid contract vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.

Compound financial instruments are contracts that simultaneously create for their issuer a financial liability
and an own equity instrument (such as convertible bonds, which entitle their holders to convert them into
equity instruments of the issuer).

The preference shares contingently convertible into ordinary shares eligible as Additional Tier 1 capital
(“CCPSs”) -perpetual preference shares, which may be repurchased by the issuer in certain
circumstances, the interest on which is discretionary, and would convert into a variable number of newly
issued ordinary shares if the capital ratio of the Bank or its consolidable group falls below a given
percentage (trigger event), as those two terms are defined in the related issue prospectuses- are
recognised for accounting purposes by the Bank as compound instruments. The liability component
reflects the issuer's obligation to deliver a variable number of shares and the equity component reflects the
issuer's discretion in relation to the payment of the related coupons. In order to effect the initial allocation,
the Bank estimates the fair value of the liability as the amount that would have to be delivered if the trigger
event were to occur immediately and, accordingly, the equity component, calculated as the residual
amount, is zero. In view of the aforementioned discretionary nature of the payment of the coupons, they
are deducted directly from equity.

Capital perpetual preference shares (“CCPSs”), with the possibility of purchase by the issuer in certain
circumstances, whose remuneration is discretionary, and which will be amortized permanently, totally or
partially, in the event that the Bank or its consolidated group submits a capital ratio lesser than a certain
percentage (trigger event), as defined in the corresponding prospectuses, are accounted for by the Bank
as compound instruments.

The following transactions are not treated for accounting purposes as financial instruments:
- Investments in associates and joint ventures (see Note 13).

- Rights and obligations under employee benefit plans (see Note 23).

- Rights and obligations under insurance contracts (see Note 14).

- Contracts and obligations relating to employee remuneration based on own equity instruments (see
Note 30).

ii. Classification of financial assets for measurement purposes

Financial assets are initially classified into the various categories used for management and measurement
purposes, unless they have to be presented as Non-current assets held for sale or they relate to Cash and
cash balances at central banks and other deposits on demand, Changes in the fair value of hedged items
in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (asset side), Hedging derivatives and Investments, which are
reported separately.
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Financial assets are included for measurement purposes in one of the following categories:

- Financial assets held for trading (at fair value through profit or loss): this category includes financial
assets acquired for the purpose of generating a profit in the near term from fluctuations in their prices
and financial derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments.

- Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss: this category includes hybrid financial
assets not held for trading that are measured entirely at fair value and financial assets not held for
trading that are included in this category in order to obtain more relevant information, either because
this eliminates or significantly reduces recognition or measurement inconsistencies (accounting
mismatches) that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or
losses on them on different bases, or because a group of financial assets or financial assets and
liabilities is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided on
that basis to the Bank's key management personnel. Financial assets may only be included in this
category on the date they are acquired or originated.

- Financial assets available-for-sale: This category includes debt instruments not classified as Held-to-
maturity investments, Loans and receivables or Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss, and equity instruments issued by entities other than subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
provided that such instruments have not been classified as Financial assets held for trading or as
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss.

- Loans and receivables: this category includes the investment arising from ordinary lending activities,
such as the cash amounts of loans drawn down and not yet repaid by customers or the deposits placed
with other institutions, whatever the legal instrument, unquoted debt securities and receivables from the
purchasers of goods, or the users of services, constituting part of the Bank's business.

The Bank generally intends to hold the loans and credits granted by it until their final maturity and,
therefore, they are presented in the balance sheet at their amortised cost (which includes any
reductions required to reflect the estimated losses on their recovery).

- Investments Held-to-maturity: this category includes debt instruments, with fixed maturity and with fixed
or determinable payments, for which the Bank has both the intention and proven ability to hold to
maturity.

iii. Classification of financial assets for presentation purposes
Financial assets are classified by nature into the following items in the balance sheet:

- Cash, cash balances at central banks and other deposits on demand: cash balances and balances
receivable on demand relating to deposits with central banks and credit institutions.

- Loans and advances: includes the debit balances of all credit and loans granted by the Bank, other
than those represented by securities, as well as finance lease receivables and other debit balances of
a financial nature in favour of the Bank, such as cheques drawn on credit institutions, balances
receivable from clearing houses and settlement agencies for transactions on the stock exchange and
organised markets, bonds given in cash, capital calls, fees and commissions receivable for financial
guarantees and debit balances arising from transactions not originating in banking transactions and
services, such as the collection of rentals and similar items. They are classified, on the basis of the
institutional sector to which the debtor belongs, into:

- Central Banks, Credit of ant nature, including deposits and money market operations received from
the Bank of Spain or other central banks.
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- Credit institutions: Credit of any nature, including deposits and money market operations, in the
name of credit institutions.

- Customers: Includes the remaining credit, including money market operations through central
counterparties.

- Debt instruments: bonds and other securities that represent a debt for their issuer, that generate an
interest return, and that are in the form of certificates or book entries.

- Equity instruments: financial instruments issued by other entities, such as shares, which have the
nature of equity instruments for the issuer, other than investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures or
associates. Investment fund units are included in this item.

- Derivatives: includes the fair value in favour of the Bank of derivatives which do not form part of
hedge accounting, including embedded derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments.

- Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk: this item is the
balancing entry for the amounts credited to the income statement in respect of the measurement of
the portfolios of financial instruments which are effectively hedged against interest rate risk through
fair value hedging derivatives.

- Hedging derivatives: includes the fair value in favour of the Bank of derivatives, including embedded
derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging instruments in hedge
accounting.

iv. Classification of financial liabilities for measurement purposes

Financial liabilities are initially classified into the various categories used for management and
measurement purposes, unless they have to be presented as Liabilities associated with non-current assets
held for sale or they relate to Hedging derivatives or Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio
hedges of interest rate risk (liability side), which are reported separately.

Financial liabilities are included for measurement purposes in one of the following categories:

- Financial liabilities held for trading (at fair value through profit or loss): this category includes financial
liabilities incurred for the purpose of generating a profit in the near term from fluctuations in their prices,
financial derivatives not designated as hedging instruments, and financial liabilities arising from the
outright sale of financial assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements ("reverse repos") or
borrowed (short positions).

- Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss: financial liabilities are included in this
category when they provide more relevant information, either because this eliminates or significantly
reduces recognition or measurement inconsistencies (accounting mismatches) that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases,
or because a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabilities is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the group is provided on that basis to the Bank's key
management personnel. Liabilities may only be included in this category on the date when they are
incurred or originated.

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: financial liabilities, irrespective of their instrumentation and
maturity, not included in any of the above-mentioned categories which arise from the ordinary
borrowing activities carried on by financial institutions.
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v. Classification of financial liabilities for presentation purposes

Financial liabilities are classified by nature into the following items in the balance sheet:

Deposits: includes all repayable balances received in cash by the Bank, other than those instrumented
as marketable securities and those having the substance of subordinated liabilities (amount of the
loans received, which for credit priority pursposes are located behind common creditors), except for
debt instruments. This item also includes cash bonds and cash consignments received the amount of
which may be invested without restriction. Deposits are classified on the basis of the creditor's
institutional sector into:

- Centrals banks: deposits of any nature, including credit received and money market operations
received from the Bank of Spain or other central banks.

- Credit institutions: deposits of any nature, including credit received and money market operations in
the name of credit institutions.

- Customer: includes the remaining deposits, including money market operations through central
counterparties.

Marketable debt securities: Includes the amount of bonds and other debt represented by marketable
securities, other than those having the substance of subordinated liabilities. (Amount of the loans
received, which for credit priority purposes are located behind common creditors, and includes the
amount of the financial instruments issued by the Bank which, having the legal nature of capital, do not
meet the requirements to qualify as equity, such as certain preferred shares issued). This item includes
the component that has the consideration of financial liability of the securities issued that are
compound financial instruments.

Derivatives: Includes the fair value, with a negative balance for the Bank, of derivatives, including
embedded derivatives separated from the host contract, which do not form part of hedge accounting.

Short positions: includes the amount of financial liabilities arising from the outright sale of financial
assets acquired under reverse repurchase agreements or borrowed.

Other financial liabilities: Includes the amount of payment obligations having the nature of financial
liabilities not included in other items, and liabilities under financial guarantee contracts, unless they
have been classified as non-performing.

Changes in the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk: this item is the
balancing entry for the amounts charged to the consolidated income statement in respect of the
measurement of the portfolios of financial instruments which are effectively hedged against interest
rate risk through fair value hedging derivatives.

Hedging derivatives: includes the fair value of the Bank's liability in respect of derivatives, including
embedded derivatives separated from hybrid financial instruments, designated as hedging instruments
in hedge accounting.
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d) Measurement of financial assets and liabilities and recognition of fair value changes

In general, financial assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value which, in the absence of
evidence to the contrary, is deemed to be the transaction price. Financial instruments not measured at fair
value through profit or loss are adjusted by the transaction costs. Financial assets and liabilities are
subsequently measured at each year-end as follows:

i. Measurement of financial assets

Financial assets are measured at fair value, without deducting any transaction costs that may be incurred
on their disposal, except for loans and receivables, investments held-to-maturity, unquoted equity
instruments which cannot be reliably measured and financial derivatives that have those equity
instruments as their underlying and are settled by delivery of those instruments.

The fair value of a financial instrument on a given date is taken to be the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. The most
objective and common reference for the fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be paid
for it on an active, transparent and deep market (quoted price or market price). At 31 December 2017
there were no significant investments in quoted financial instruments that had ceased to be recognised at
their quoted price because their market could not be deemed to be active.

If there is no market price for a given financial instrument, its fair value is estimated on the basis of the
price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments and, in the absence thereof, of
valuation techniques commonly used by the international financial community, taking into account the
specific features of the instrument to be measured and, particularly, the various types of risk associated
with it.

All derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value from the trade date. If the fair value is
positive, they are recognised as an asset and if the fair value is negative, they are recognised as a liability.
The fair value on the trade date is deemed, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, to be the
transaction price. The changes in the fair value of derivatives from the trade date are recognised in
Gains/losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading (net) in the consolidated income statement.
Specifically, the fair value of financial derivatives traded in organised markets included in the portfolios of
financial assets or liabilities held for trading is deemed to be their daily quoted price and if, for exceptional
reasons, the quoted price cannot be determined on a given date, these financial derivatives are measured
using methods similar to those used to measure OTC derivatives.

The fair value of OTC derivatives is taken to be the sum of the future cash flows arising from the
instrument, discounted to present value at the date of measurement (present value or theoretical close)
using valuation techniqgues commonly used by the financial markets: net present value (NPV), option
pricing models and other methods.

Loans and receivables and Investments held-to-maturity are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Amortised cost is understood to be the acquisition cost of a financial asset or
liability plus or minus, as appropriate, the principal repayments and the cumulative amortisation (taken to
the consolidated income statement) of the difference between the initial cost and the maturity amount. In
the case of financial assets, amortised cost also includes any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. In
the case of loans and receivables hedged in fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of these
assets related to the risk or risks being hedged are recognised.
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The effective interest rate is the discount rate that exactly matches the carrying amount of a financial
instrument to all its estimated cash flows of all kinds over its remaining life. For fixed rate financial
instruments, the effective interest rate coincides with the contractual interest rate established on the
acquisition date plus, where applicable, the fees and transaction costs that, because of their nature, form
part of their financial return. In the case of floating rate financial instruments, the effective interest rate
coincides with the rate of return prevailing in all connections until the next benchmark interest reset date.

Unquoted equity instruments which cannot be reliably measured in a sufficiently objective manner and
financial derivatives that have those instruments as their underlying and are settled by delivery of those
instruments are measured at acquisition cost adjusted, where appropriate, by any related impairment loss.

The amounts at which the financial assets are recognised represent, in all material respects, the Bank’s
maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date. Also, the Bank has received collateral and other
credit enhancements to mitigate its exposure to credit risk, which consist mainly of mortgage guarantees,
cash collateral, equity instruments and personal security, assets leased out under finance lease and full-
service lease agreements, assets acquired under repurchase agreements, securities loans and credit
derivatives.

ii. Measurement of financial liabilities

In general, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, as defined above, except for those included
under Financial liabilities held for trading and Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss and financial liabilities designated as hedged items (or hedging instruments) in fair value
hedges, which are measured at fair value.

iii. Valuation techniques

The following table shows a summary of the fair values, at the end of 2017, 2016 and 2015, of the financial
assets and liabilities indicated below, classified on the basis of the various measurement methods used by
the Group to determine their fair value:

Millions of euros
2017 2016
Published price Published price
quotations in quotations in
active Markets | Internal Model active Markets | Internal Model
(Level 1) (Level 2 and 3) Total (Level 1) (Level 2 and 3) Total
Financial assets held for trading 58,215 67,243 125,458 64,259 83,928 148,187
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss 3,823 30,959 34,782 3,220 28,389 31,609
Financial assets available-for-sale (1) 113,258 18,802 132,060 89,563 25,862 115,425
Hedging derivatives (assets) - 8,537 8,537 216 10,161 10,377
Financial liabilities held for trading 21,828 85,796 107,624 20,906 87,859 108,765
Financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss 769 58,847 59,616 - 40,263 40,263
Hedging derivatives (liabilities) 8 8,036 8,044 9 8,147 8,156
Liabilities under insurance contracts - 1,117 1,117 - 652 652

(1) In addition to the financial instruments measured at fair value shown in the foregoing table, at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Group
held equity instruments classified as Financial assets available-for-sale and carried at cost amounting to EUR 1,211 million and EUR

1,349 million, respectively.
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The same information in the table above, but referred to Banco Santander, S.A. it is presented below:

Millions of euros
2017 2016
Published price Published price
quotations in quotations in
active Markets | Internal Model active Markets | Internal Model
(Level 1) (Level 2 and 3) Total (Level 1) (Level 2 and 3) Total
Financial assets held for trading 25,322 39,004 64,326 24,675 45,762 70,437
Financial assets designated at fair value : 34,021 34,021 ) 25.269 25.269
through profit or loss
Financial assets available-for-sale (1) 31,239 2,570 33,809 26,914 3,154 30,068
Hedging derivatives (assets) - 2,073 2,073 - 2,283 2,283
Financial liabilities held for trading 9,497 38,455 47,952 8,252 46,298 54,550
Financial Ilabll_ltles designated at fair value : 32314 32,314 ) 15,124 15124
through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives (liabilities) - 4,014 4,014 - 4,197 4,197

The financial instruments at fair value determined on the basis of published price quotations in active
markets (Level 1) include government debt securities, private-sector debt securities, derivatives traded in
organised markets, securitised assets, shares, short positions and fixed-income securities issued.

In cases where price quotations cannot be observed, management makes its best estimate of the price
that the market would set, using its own internal models. In most cases, these internal models use data
based on observable market parameters as significant inputs (Level 2) and, in very specific cases, they
use significant inputs not observable in market data (Level 3). In order to make these estimates, various
techniques are employed, including the extrapolation of observable market data. The best evidence of the
fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is the transaction price, unless the fair value of the
instrument can be obtained from other market transactions performed with the same or similar instruments
or can be measured by using a valuation technique in which the variables used include only observable
market data, mainly interest rates.

The Group has developed a formal process for the systematic valuation and management of financial
instruments, which has been implemented worldwide across all the Group's units. The governance
scheme for this process distributes responsibiliies between two independent divisions: Treasury
(development, marketing and daily management of financial products and market data) and Risk (on a
periodic basis, validation of pricing models and market data, computation of risk metrics, new transaction
approval policies, management of market risk and implementation of fair value adjustment policies).

The approval of new products follows a sequence of steps (request, development, validation, integration in
corporate systems and quality assurance) before the product is brought into production. This process
ensures that pricing systems have been properly reviewed and are stable before they are used.

The following subsections set forth the most important products and families of derivatives, and the related
valuation techniques and inputs, by asset class:

Fixed income and inflation

The fixed income asset class includes basic instruments such as interest rate forwards, interest rate swaps
and cross currency swaps, which are valued using the net present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted taking into account basis swap and cross currency spreads determined on the basis of the
payment frequency and currency of each leg of the derivative. Vanilla options, including caps, floors and
swaptions, are priced using the Black & Scholes model, which is one of the benchmark industry models.
More exotic derivatives are priced using more complex models which are generally accepted as standard
across institutions.
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These pricing models are fed with observable market data such as deposit interest rates, futures rates,
cross currency swap and constant maturity swap rates, and basis spreads, on the basis of which different
yield curves, depending on the payment frequency, and discounting curves are calculated for each
currency. In the case of options, implied volatilities are also used as model inputs. These volatilities are
observable in the market for cap and floor options and swaptions, and interpolation and extrapolation of
volatilities from the quoted ranges are carried out using generally accepted industry models. The pricing of
more exotic derivatives may require the use of non-observable data or parameters, such as correlation
(among interest rates and cross-asset), mean reversion rates and prepayment rates, which are usually
defined from historical data or through calibration.

Inflation-related assets include zero-coupon or year-on-year inflation-linked bonds and swaps, valued with
the present value method using forward estimation and discounting. Derivatives on inflation indices are
priced using standard or more complex bespoke models, as appropriate. Valuation inputs of these models
consider inflation-linked swap spreads observable in the market and estimations of inflation seasonality, on
the basis of which a forward inflation curve is calculated. Also, implied volatilities taken from zero-coupon
and year-on-year inflation options are also inputs for the pricing of more complex derivatives.

Equity and foreign exchange

The most important products in these asset classes are forward and futures contracts; they also include
vanilla, listed and OTC (Over-The-Counter) derivatives on single underlying assets and baskets of assets.
Vanilla options are priced using the standard Black-Scholes model and more exotic derivatives involving
forward returns, average performance, or digital, barrier or callable features are priced using generally
accepted industry models or bespoke models, as appropriate. For derivatives on illiquid stocks, hedging
takes into account the liquidity constraints in models.

The inputs of equity models consider yield curves, spot prices, dividends, asset funding costs (repo margin
spreads), implied volatilities, correlation among equity stocks and indices, and cross-asset correlation.
Implied volatilities are obtained from market quotes of European and American-style vanilla call and put
options. Various interpolation and extrapolation techniques are used to obtain continuous volatility for
illiquid stocks. Dividends are usually estimated for the mid and long term. Correlations are implied, when
possible, from market quotes of correlation-dependent products. In all other cases, proxies are used for
correlations between benchmark underlyings or correlations are obtained from historical data.

The inputs of foreign exchange models include the yield curve for each currency, the spot foreign
exchange rate, the implied volatilities and the correlation among assets of this class. Volatilities are
obtained from European call and put options which are quoted in markets as at-the-money, risk reversal or
butterfly options. llliquid currency pairs are usually handled by using the data of the liquid pairs from which
the illiquid currency can be derived. For more exotic products, unobservable model parameters may be
estimated by fitting to reference prices provided by other non-quoted market sources.

Credit

The most common instrument in this asset class is the credit default swap (CDS), which is used to hedge
credit exposure to third parties. In addition, models for first-to-default (FTD), n-to-default (NTD) and single-
tranche collateralised debt obligation (CDO) products are also available. These products are valued with
standard industry models, which estimate the probability of default of a single issuer (for CDS) or the joint
probability of default of more than one issuer for FTD, NTD and CDO.

Valuation inputs are the yield curve, the CDS spread curve and the recovery rate. For indices and
important individual issuers, the CDS spread curve is obtained in the market. For less liquid issuers, this
spread curve is estimated using proxies or other credit-dependent instruments. Recovery rates are usually
set to standard values. For listed single-tranche CDO, the correlation of joint default of several issuers is
implied from the market. For FTD, NTD and bespoke CDO, the correlation is estimated from proxies or
historical data when no other option is available.
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Valuation adjustment for counterparty risk or default risk

The Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) is a valuation adjustment to OTC derivatives as a result of the risk
associated with the credit exposure assumed to each counterparty.

The CVA is calculated taking into account potential exposure to each counterparty in each future period.
The CVA for a specific counterparty is equal to the sum of the CVA for all the periods. The following inputs
are used to calculate the CVA:

- Expected exposure: including for each transaction the mark-to-market (MtM) value plus an add-on for
the potential future exposure for each period. Mitigating factors such as collateral and netting
agreements are taken into account, as well as a temporary impairment factor for derivatives with
interim payments.

- LGD: percentage of final loss assumed in a counterparty credit event/default.

- Probability of default: for cases where there is no market information (the CDS quoted spread curve,
etc.), proxies based on companies holding exchange-listed CDS, in the same industry and with the
same external rating as the counterparty, are used.

- Discount factor curve.

The debit valuation adjustment (DVA) is a valuation adjustment similar to the CVA but, in this case, it
arises as a result of the Group's own risk assumed by its counterparties in OTC derivatives.

The CVA at December 31, 2017 amounted to EUR 322.5 million (-49.9% less than 2016) and DVA
amounted to EUR 219.6 million (-43.7% less than 2016). The decrease is due to the fact that credit
spreads have been reduced in percentages higher than 40% in the most liquid terms and to reductions in
the exposure of the main counterparties.

With respect to Banco Santander, S.A. at December 31, 2017, CVA adjustments were recorded for an
amount of 196 million euros (-34.5% vs. December 31, 2016) and DVA adjustments for an amount of 64
million euros (-66.3% vs. 31 December 2016). The decrease, as in the Group, is due to the fact that credit
spreads have been reduced by percentages greater than 40% in the most liquid terms and reductions in
the exposure of the main counterparties.

In adittion, the Group amounts the funding fair value adjustment (FFVA) is calculated by applying future
market funding spreads to the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralised component of the
OTC derivative portfolio. This includes the uncollateralised component of collateralised derivatives in
addition to derivatives that are fully uncollateralised. The expected future funding exposure is calculated by
a simulation methodology, where available. The FFVA impact is not material for the consolidated financial
statements as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

During 2017, the Group has not carried out significant reclassifications of financial instruments between
levels except the changes disclosed in the Level 3 table.
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Valuation adjustments due to model risk

The valuation models described above do not involve a significant level of subjectivity, since they can be
adjusted and recalibrated, where appropriate, through internal calculation of the fair value and subsequent
comparison with the related actively traded price. However, valuation adjustments may be necessary when
market quoted prices are not available for comparison purposes.

The sources of risk are associated with uncertain model parameters, illiquid underlying issuers, and poor
quality market data or missing risk factors (sometimes the best available option is to use limited models
with controllable risk). In these situations, the Group calculates and applies valuation adjustments in
accordance with common industry practice. The main sources of model risk are described below.

In the fixed income markets, the sources of model risk include bond index correlations, basis spread
modelling, the risk of calibrating model parameters and the treatment of near-zero or negative interest
rates. Other sources of risk arise from the estimation of market data, such as volatilities or yield curves,
whether used for estimation or cash flow discounting purposes.

In the equity markets, the sources of model risk include forward skew modelling, the impact of stochastic
interest rates, correlation and multi-curve modelling. Other sources of risk arise from managing hedges of
digital callable and barrier option payments. Also worthy of consideration as sources of risk are the
estimation of market data such as dividends and correlation for quanto and composite basket options.

For specific financial instruments relating to home mortgage loans secured by financial institutions in the
UK (which are regulated and partially financed by the Government) and property asset derivatives, the
main input is the Halifax House Price Index (HPI). In these cases, risk assumptions include estimations of
the future growth and the volatility of the HPI, the mortality rate and the implied credit spreads.

Inflation markets are exposed to model risk resulting from uncertainty around modelling the correlation
structure among various CPI rates. Another source of risk may arise from the bid-offer spread of inflation-
linked swaps.

The currency markets are exposed to model risk resulting from forward skew modelling and the impact of
stochastic interest rate and correlation modelling for multi-asset instruments. Risk may also arise from
market data, due to the existence of specific illiquid foreign exchange pairs.

The most important source of model risk for credit derivatives relates to the estimation of the correlation
between the probabilities of default of different underlying issuers. For illiquid underlying issuers, the CDS
spread may not be well defined.
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Set forth below are the financial instruments at fair value whose measurement was based on internal
models (Levels 2 and 3) at December 31, 2017 and 2016:

Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal

models at
31/12/17
Level 2 Level 3 Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 124,178 1,363
Financial assets held for trading 66,806 437
Credit institutions 1,696 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers (a) 8,815 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Debt and equity instruments 335 32 | Present Value Method Yield curves, HPI, FX market prices
Derivatives 55,960 405
Present Value Method, Yield curves, FX market prices, HPI, Basis, Liquidity
Swaps 44,766 189 | Gaussian Copula (b)
Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Exchange rate options 463 5 Liquidity
Black's Model, multifactorial | Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
advanced models interest Liquidity
Interest rate options 4,747 162 | rate
Interest rate futures 2 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ market
Index and securities options 1,257 5 prices, Dividends, Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Present Value Method, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX and EQ market
Advanced stochastic prices, Dividends, Correlation, Liquidity, Others
Other 4,725 44| volatility models and other
Hedging derivatives 8,519 18
Swaps 7,896 18 | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, Basis
Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Exchange rate options - - Liquidity
Interest rate options 13 - | Black's Model FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces
Present Value Method, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Advanced stochastic Credit, Liquidity, Others
Other 610 -| volatility models and other
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss 30,677 282
Credit institutions 9,889 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers (c) 20,403 72 | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices, HPI
Debt and equity instruments 385 210 | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Financial assets available-for-sale 18,176 626
Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ Dividends,
Debt and equity instruments 18,176 626 | Present Value Method Credit, Others
LIABILITIES: 153,600 196
Financial liabilities held for trading 85,614 182
Central banks 282 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Credit institutions 292 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Customers 28,179 - | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Debt securities issues - -
Derivatives 56,860 182
Present Value Method, Yield curves, FX market prices, Basis, Liquidity, HPI
Swaps 45,041 100 | Gaussian Copula (b)
Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Exchange rate options 497 9 Liquidity
Black's Model, multifactorial |Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
advanced models interest Liquidity
Interest rate options 5,402 19| rate
Index and securities options 1,527 41 | Black-Scholes Model Yield curves, FX market prices
Black's Model Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ market
Interest rate and equity futures 1 - prices, Dividends, Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Present Value Method, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces, FX & EQ market
Advanced stochastic prices, Dividends, Correlation, Liquidity, HPI
Other 4,392 13| volatility models and other
Short positions 1 - | Present Value Method Yield curves ,FX & EQ market prices, Equity
Hedging derivatives 8,029 7
Swaps 7,573 7 | Present Value Method Yield curves ,FX & EQ market prices, Basis
Exchange rate options - -
Black's Model Yield curves , Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Interest rate options 287 Liquidity
Present Value Method, Yield curves , Volatility surfaces, FX market prices,
Advanced stochastic Liquidity, Other
Other 169 -| volatility models and other
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 58,840 7 | Present Value Method Yield curves, FX market prices
Liabilities under insurance contracts 1,117 -
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Millions of euros

Fair values calculated using internal

models at
31/12/16
Level 2 Level 3 Main assumptions
ASSETS: 146,991 1,349
Financial assets held for trading 83,587 341
Credit institutions 3,220 - | Present Value Method
Customers () 9,504 - | Present Value Method
Debt and equity instruments 798 40 | Present Value Method
Derivatives 70,065 301
Swaps 53,499 55 | Present Value Method, Gaussian Copula (b)
Exchange rate options 524 2 | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 5,349 173 | Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow- Morton Model
Interest rate futures 1,447 - | Present Value Method
Index and securities options 1,725 26 | Black-Scholes Model
Other 7,521 45 | Present Value Method, Monte Carlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 10,134 27
Swaps 9,737 27 | Present Value Method
Exchange rate options - - | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 13 - | Black's Model
Other 384 -|N/A
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss 28,064 325
Credit institutions 10,069 - | Present Value Method
Customers (c) 17,521 74 | Present Value Method
Debt and equity instruments 474 251 | Present Value Method
Financial assets available-for-sale 25,206 656
Debt and equity instruments 25,206 656 | Present Value Method
LIABILITIES: 136,835 86
Financial liabilities held for trading 87,790 69
Central banks 1,351 - | Present Value Method
Credit institutions 44 - | Present Value Method
Customers 9,996 - | Present Value Method
Debt securities issues - -
Derivatives 73,481 69
Swaps 57,103 1| Present Value Method, Gaussian Copula (b)
Exchange rate options 413 - | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate options 6,485 21| Black's Model, Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model
Index and securities options 1,672 46 | Black-Scholes Model
Interest rate and equity futures 1,443 - | Black's Model
Other 6,365 1| Present Value Method, Monte Carlo Simulation and others
Short positions 2,918 - | Present Value Method
Hedging derivatives 8,138 9
Swaps 6,676 9 | Present Value Method
Exchange rate options - -
Interest rate options 10 - | Black's Model
Other 1,452 -|N/A
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss 40,255 8 | Present Value Method
Liabilities under insurance contracts 652 -

(a) Includes mainly short-term loans and reverse repurchase agreements with corporate customers (mainly brokerage and investment

companies).

(b) Includes credit risk derivatives with a net fair value of EUR zero million at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016 net fair value of EUR
-1 million). These assets and liabilities are measured using the Standard Gaussian Copula Model.

(c) Includes home mortgage loans to financial institutions in the UK (which are regulated and partly financed by the Government). The fair
value of these loans was obtained using observable market variables, including current market transactions with similar amounts and
collateral facilitated by the UK Housing Association. Since the Government is involved in these financial institutions, the credit risk
spreads have remained stable and are homogeneous in this sector. The results arising from the valuation model are checked against

current market transactions.
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The same information from the previous table, but referred to Banco Santander, S.A., is presented below:

Millions of e

uros

Fair values calculated using
internal models at

31/12/17
Level 2 Level 3 Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 76,710 958
Financial assets held for trading 38,614 390
Customers () 22 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Debt and equity instruments 915 32| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Derivatives 37,677 358 | Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 2,055 18 | Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial assets designated at fair value 34,021 -
through profit or loss
Credit institutions 11,243 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 22,778 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, HPI
Financial assets available-for-sale 2,020 550
Debt and equity instruments 2,020 550 | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
LIABILITIES: 74,485 298
Financial liabilities held for trading 38,164 291
Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
A Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, iquidi i
Derivatives 38,164 291 Hegth-Jz(irzow-Monon pooiy surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives 4,007 7 | Present Value Method, Gaussian FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, surfaces, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 32,314 -
Central banks 7,913 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Credit institutions 15,209 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 9,192 - | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
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Millions of euros
Fair values calculated using
internal models at
31/12/16
Level 2 Level 3 Valuation techniques Main assumptions
ASSETS: 75,584 884
Financial assets held for trading 45,557 205
Customers (a) 41 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Debt and equity instruments 1,267 32| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Present Value Method, Gaussian [ FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
Derivatives 44,249 173 Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, | Liquidity, Correlation
! Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives Present Value Method, Gaussian | FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
2,256 27| Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss 25,269
Credit institutions 11,243 Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers (c) 8,533 Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves, HPI
Financial assets available-for-sale 16,736 -
Debt and equity instruments 2,502 652 | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
LIABILITIES: 65,590 29
Financial liabilities held for trading 46,278 20
Present Value Method, Gaussian | FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
Derivatives 46,278 20 Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, Liquidity, Correlation
’ Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
Montecarlo simulation and others
Hedging derivatives Present Value Method, Gaussian | FX market prices, Yield curves, Volatility surfaces,
Copula (b) Black-Scholes Model, Liquidity, Correlation
Heath-Jarrow-Morton Model,
4,188 9| Montecarlo simulation and others
Financial liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss 15,124 -
Central banks 8,401 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Credit institutions 3,141 -| Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves
Customers 3,682 - | Present Value Method FX market prices, Yield curves

Level 3 financial instruments

Set forth below are the Group's main financial instruments measured using unobservable market data as
significant inputs of the internal models (Level 3):

- Instruments in Santander UK's portfolio (loans, debt instruments and derivatives) linked to the House
Price Index (HPI). Even if the valuation techniques used for these instruments may be the same as
those used to value similar products (present value in the case of loans and debt instruments, and the
Black-Scholes model for derivatives), the main factors used in the valuation of these instruments are
the HPI spot rate, the growth and volatility thereof, and the mortality rates, which are not always
observable in the market and, accordingly, these instruments are considered illiquid.

HPI spot rate: for some instruments the NSA HPI spot rate, which is directly observable and
published on a monthly basis, is used. For other instruments where regional HPI rates must be
used (published quarterly), adjustments are made to reflect the different composition of the
rates and adapt them to the regional composition of Santander UK's portfolio.

HPI growth rate: this is not always directly observable in the market, especially for long
maturities, and is estimated in accordance with existing quoted prices. To reflect the uncertainty
implicit in these estimates, adjustments are made based on an analysis of the historical volatility
of the HPI, incorporating reversion to the mean.

HPI volatility: the long-term volatility is not directly observable in the market but is estimated on
the basis of shorter-term quoted prices and by making an adjustment to reflect the existing
uncertainty, based on the standard deviation of historical volatility over various time periods.

38



e Mortality rates: these are based on published official tables and adjusted to reflect the
composition of the customer portfolio for this type of product at Santander UK.

- llliquid CDOs and CLOs in the portfolio of the treasury unit in Madrid. These are measured by
grouping together the securities by type of underlying (sector/country), payment hierarchy (prime,
mezzanine, junior, etc.), and assuming forecast conditional prepayment rates (CPR) and default
rates, adopting conservative criteria.

- Derivatives on baskets of shares. These are measured using advanced local and stochastic volatility
models, through Monte Carlo simulations; the main unobservable input is the correlation between the
prices of the shares in each basket in question.

- Callable interest rate derivatives (Bermudan-style options) where the main unobservable input is
mean reversion of interest rates.

During 2017, the Group, to which the Bank belongs, carried out a review of its financial instruments
valuation processes with the purpose of increasing the observability of certain inputs and parameters used
in its valuation techniques. As a result of this review, it has started to contribute prices of interest rate
derivatives with the option of a clear type of discount for EUR and USD and correlations between pairs of
shares to services of consensus pricing, which has allowed to incorporate the inputs obtained directly or
inferred from instrument prices, in their internal valuation processes. As a consequence, those non-
observable inputs (the parameter of the reversion to the average of the interest rates and the correlations
between shares, respectively) used in the valuation of interest rate derivatives with the option of cancelling
type EUR and USD and derivatives on Stock baskets have become measurable and considered
observable parameters, and therefore, these products have been reclassified from Level 3 to Level 2.

The measurements obtained using the internal models might have been different if other methods or
assumptions had been used with respect to interest rate risk, to credit risk, market risk and foreign
currency risk spreads, or to their related correlations and volatilities. Nevertheless, the Bank’s directors
consider that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated balance
sheet and the gains and losses arising from these financial instruments are reasonable.

The net amount recognised in profit and loss in 2017 arising from models whose significant inputs are
unobservable market data (Level 3) amounted to a EUR 116 million loss (EUR 60 million profit in 2016),
amounting to EUR 82 million loss for the Bank in 2017 (EUR 57 million loss in 2016).

The table below shows the effect, at December 31, 2017 on the fair value of the main financial instruments
classified as Level 3 of a reasonable change in the assumptions used in the valuation. This effect was
determined by applying the probable valuation ranges of the main unobservable inputs detailed in the
following table:
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Portfolio / Instrument Impacts (in millions of euros)
Weighted Unfavourable Favourable
(Level 3) Valuation technigue Main unobservable inputs Range average scenario scenario
Financial assets held for trading
Derivatives Present Value Method Curves on TAB indices (*) (a) (a) 0.2) 0.2
Long-term volatility in MXN (a) (a) (0.1) 0.1
';Arcejqut Value Method, Modified Black-Scholes HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.42% (@5.9) 277
HPI spot rate n/a 772.64 (**) 9.4) 9.4
FX Volatility in long term 11%-21% 15.7% (1.8) 0.3
Standard Gaussian Copula Model Probability of default 0%-5% 2.32% (2.4) 2.1
Reversal to the average interest rate (Q%)-2% 0.0% @ 11
Other financial assets designated at
fair value through profit or loss
Customers Probability-weighted set (per forecast mortality rates)
of European HPI options, using the Black-Scholes HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.57% (6.7) 6.3
model
Debt and equity instruments Probability-weighted _set (per forecast mortality rates) HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2.42% @6) 8.2
of HPI forwards, using the present value model
HPI spot rate nfa 772.64 (**) (12.5) 12.5
Financial assets available-for-sale
Debt and equity instruments Present Value Method and other Default and prepayment rates, cost of
capital, long-term earnings growth
rate @) @) (3.0 3.0
Litigation contingencies 0%-100% 35% (22.0) 11.8
Financial liabilities held for trading
- Present Value Method, Modified Black-Scholes
Derivatives Model HPI forward growth rate 0%-5% 2,300 ©.4) 81
HPI spot rate nla 727.14 (**) 9.2) 10.0
Curves on TAB indices (*) (a) (a) - -
Advanced multi-factor interest rate models Mean reversion of interest rates (2%) -2% 0.01 (0.6) 0.6
Hedging derivatives (liabilities)
Derivatives Advanced multi-factor interest rate models Mean reversion of interest rates 0.0001-0.03 0.01 (***) - -
Financial liabilities designated at _ B B B ®) ®)
fair value through profit or loss

(*) TAB: “Tasa Activa Bancaria” (Active Bank Rate). Average interest rates on 30-, 90-, 180- and 360-day deposits published by the Chilean Association of Banks and Financial
Institutions (ABIF) in nominal currency (Chilean peso) and in real terms, adjusted for inflation (in Chilean unit of account (Unidad de Fomento - UF)).

(**) There are national and regional HPIs. The HPI spot value is the weighted average of the indices that correspond to the positions of each portfolio. The impact reported is in response
to a 10% shift.

(***) Theoretical average value of the parameter. The change made for the favourable scenario is from 0.0001 to 0.03. An unfavourable scenario was not considered as there was no
margin for downward movement from the parameter's current level. The exercise was conducted for the unobservable inputs described in the main unobservable inputs column under
probable scenarios. The range and weighted average value used are not shown because the aforementioned exercise was conducted jointly for various inputs or variants thereof (e.g.
the TAB input comprises vector-time curves, for which there are also nominal yield curves and inflation-indexed yield curves), and it was not possible to break down the results
separately by type of input. In the case of the TAB curve the gain or loss is reported for changes of +/-100 b.p. for the total sensitivity to this index in Chilean pesos and UFs.

(@) The exercise was performed for the unobservable inputs described in the column "Main unobservable inputs" under probable scenarios. The weighted average range and value used
is not shown because this exercise has been carried out jointly for different inputs or variants of them (for example, the TAB input are vector-term curves, for which there are also
nominal and indexed curves to inflation), it is not possible to break down the result in an isolated manner by type of input. In the case of the TAB curve, the result is reported before
movements of +/- 100 bp for the joint sensitivity of this index in CLP (Chilean peso) and UF. The same applies for interest rates in MXN (Mexican peso).
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Lastly, the changes in the financial instruments classified as Level 3 in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2016 Changes 2017
Fair value Fair value
calculated calculated
using Changes in Changes in using
internal fair value fair value Level internal
models recognised in | recognised [reclassification models

Millions of euros (Level 3) Purchases | Sales Issues | Settlements | profit or loss in equity s Other (Level 3)
Financial assets held for trading 341 45 (21) - - (129) - 200] 1 437
Debt and equity instruments 40 - ) - - 1) - 1 - 32
Derivatives 301 45 (14) - - (128) - 200) 1 405
Swaps 55 1 (6) - - (59) - 200) ) 189
Exchange rate options 2 5 - - - ) - E - 5
Interest rate options 173 - - - - (11) - E - 162
Index and securities options 26 - 1) - - (18) - E ) 5
Other 45 39 7 - - (38) - - 5 44
Hedging derivatives (Assets) 27 - ) - - @) - E - 18
Swaps 27 - ) - - () - E - 18
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 325 - 9) - - (20) - g (14) 282
Loans and advances to customers 74 - ) - - 3 - g 3) 72
Debt instruments 237 - () - - (21) - E (10) 199
Equity instruments 14 - - - - ) - E 1) 11
Financial assets available-for-sale 656 1 (239) - (5) - 59 (6) 160 626
TOTAL ASSETS 1,349 46 (271) - 5) (156) 59 194 147 1,363
Financial liabilities held for trading 69 33 3) - - (38) - 126 (5) 182
Derivatives 69 33 3) - - (38) - 126} (5) 182
Swaps 1 - - - - (26) - 126 1) 100
Exchange rate options - 21 - - - (11) - E 1) 9
Interest rate options 21 - - - - ) - E - 19
Index and securities options 46 - 3) - - - - E ) 41
Other 1 12 - - - 1 - E 1) 13
Hedging derivatives (Liabilities) 9 - - - - ) - E - 7
Swaps 9 - - - - ) - E - 7
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 8 - - - - - - E 1) 7
TOTAL L|AB|L|T|ES 86 33 (3) - - (40) - 126 (6) 196
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2015 Changes 2016
Fair value Fair value
calculated calculated
using Changes in Changes in using
internal fair value fair value Level internal
models recognised in recognised |reclassifications models

Millions of euros (Level 3) Purchases | Sales Issues | Settlements | profit or loss in equity Other (Level 3)
Financial assets held for trading 950 - (157) - - 52 - 489) (15) 341
Debt and equity instruments 43 - (5) - - 3 - E ()] 40
Derivatives 907 - (152) - - 49 - (489)  (14) 301
Swaps 54 - - - - ©) - - 4 55
Exchange rate options - - - - - 2 - E - 2
Interest rate options 619 - (52) - - 39 - (433) . 173
Index and securities options 120 - (30) - - ©)] - (56)| (5) 26
Other 114 - (70) - - 14 - 1 @) 45
Hedging derivatives (Assets) 18 - 4) - - 13 - E - 27
Swaps 18 - (4) - - 13 - E - 27
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 514 - @) - (104) 6 - @ (@82 325
Loans and advances to customers 81 - - - - - 1 (12 74
Debt instruments 283 - @) - - 1 - 4 (40) 237
Equity instruments 150 - - - (104) - - )] (30) 14
Financial assets available-for-sale 999 37 (263) - (28) - (11) (29)  (49) 656
TOTAL ASSETS 2,481 37| (431) - (132) 71 (11) (520) (146) 1,349
Financial liabilities held for trading 302 - (34) - - 10 - (199)( (10) 69
Derivatives 302 - (34) - - 10 - (199)( (10) 69
Swaps 1 - - - - - - E - 1
Interest rate options 194 - (19) - - 1 - (155) - 21
Index and securities options 107 - (15) - - 8 - (44)] (10) 46
Other - - - - - 1 - E - 1
Hedging derivatives (Liabilities) 11 - 3) - - 1 - E - 9
Swaps 11 - 3) - - 1 - E - 9

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or

loss 11 - - - - - - E ?) 8
TOTAL L|AB|L|T|ES 324 - (37) - - 11 - (199) (13) 86
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iv. Recognition of fair value changes

As a general rule, changes in the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the
income statement. A distinction is made between the changes resulting from the accrual of interest and
similar items, which are recognised under Interest income or Interest expense, as appropriate, and those
arising for other reasons, which are recognised at their net amount under Gains/losses on financial assets
and liabilities.

Adjustments due to changes in fair value arising from:

- Financial assets available-for-sale are recognised temporarily under Items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss - Financial assets available-for-sale, unless they relate to exchange differences, in which
case they are recognised in Other comprehensive income under ltems that may be reclassified to profit
or loss - Exchange differences (net), or to exchange differences arising on monetary financial assets, in
which case they are recognised in Exchange differences (net) in the income statement.

- Items charged or credited to Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Financial assets available-
for-sale and Other comprehensive income - Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Exchange
differences in equity remain in the Group's consolidated equity until the asset giving rise to them is
impaired or derecognised, at which time they are recognised in the income statement.

- Unrealised gains on Financial assets available-for-sale classified as Non-current assets held for sale
because they form part of a disposal group or a discontinued operation are recognised in Other
comprehensive income under Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Non-current assets held
for sale.

v. Hedging transactions

The Bank uses financial derivatives for the following purposes: i) to facilitate these instruments to
customers who request them in the management of their market and credit risks; ii) to use these
derivatives in the management of the risks of the Bank's own positions and assets and liabilities (hedging
derivatives); and iii) to obtain gains from changes in the prices of these derivatives (derivatives).

Financial derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are treated for accounting purposes as
trading derivatives.

A derivative qualifies for hedge accounting if all the following conditions are met:
1. The derivative hedges one of the following three types of exposure:

a. Changes in the fair value of assets and liabilities due to fluctuations, among others, in the interest
rate and/or exchange rate to which the position or balance to be hedged is subject (fair value
hedge);

b. Changes in the estimated cash flows arising from financial assets and liabilities, commitments and
highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge);

c. The net investment in a foreign operation (hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation).

2. It is effective in offsetting exposure inherent in the hedged item or position throughout the expected
term of the hedge, which means that:

a. At the date of arrangement the hedge is expected, under normal conditions, to be highly effective
(prospective effectiveness).
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b. There is sufficient evidence that the hedge was actually effective during the whole life of the hedged
item or position (retrospective effectiveness). To this end, the Bank checks that the results of the
hedge were within a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the hedged item.

3. There must be adequate documentation evidencing the specific designation of the financial derivative
to hedge certain balances or transactions and how this hedge was expected to be achieved and
measured, provided that this is consistent with the Group's management of own risks.

The changes in value of financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting are recognised as
follows:

a. In fair value hedges, the gains or losses arising on both the hedging instruments and the hedged
items attributable to the type of risk being hedged are recognised directly in the income statement.

In fair value hedges of interest rate risk on a portfolio of financial instruments, the gains or losses
that arise on measuring the hedging instruments are recognised directly in the income statement,
whereas the gains or losses due to changes in the fair value of the hedged amount (attributable to
the hedged risk) are recognised in the income statement with a balancing entry under Changes in
the fair value of hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk on the asset or liability side of
the balance sheet, as appropriate.

b. In cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the change in value of the hedging instrument is
recognised temporarily in Other comprehensive income under items that may be reclassified to
profit or loss — Hedging derivatives - Cash flow hedges (effective portion) until the forecast
transactions occur, when it is recognised in the income statement, unless, if the forecast
transactions result in the recognition of non-financial assets or liabilities, it is included in the cost of
the non-financial asset or liability.

c. In hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, the gains or losses attributable to the portion
of the hedging instruments qualifying as an effective hedge are recognised temporarily in Other
comprehensive income under Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Hedges of net
investments in foreign operations until the gains or losses on the hedged item are recognised in
profit or loss.

d. The ineffective portion of the gains or losses on the hedging instruments of cash flow hedges and
hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation is recognised directly under Gains/losses on
financial assets and liabilities (net) in the consolidated income statement, in Gains or losses from
hedge accounting, net

If a derivative designated as a hedge no longer meets the requirements described above due to expiration,
ineffectiveness or for any other reason, the derivative is classified for accounting purposes as a trading
derivative.

When fair value hedge accounting is discontinued, the adjustments previously recognised on the hedged
item are amortised to profit or loss at the effective interest rate recalculated at the date of hedge
discontinuation. The adjustments must be fully amortised at maturity.

When cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument
recognised in equity under Other comprehensive income — ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss
(from the period when the hedge was effective) remains in this equity item until the forecast transaction
occurs, at which time it is recognised in profit or loss, unless the transaction is no longer expected to
occur, in which case the cumulative gain or loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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e)

vi. Derivatives embedded in hybrid financial instruments

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in other host contracts are accounted for separately
as derivatives if their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts,
provided that the host contracts are not classified as financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss or as Financial assets/liabilities held for trading.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets depends on the extent to which the risks and
rewards associated with the transferred assets are transferred to third parties:

1.

If the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards to third parties unconditional sale of
financial assets, sale of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at their fair value at
the date of repurchase, sale of financial assets with a purchased call option or written put option that is
deeply out of the money, securitisation of assets in which the transferor does not retain a subordinated
debt or grant any credit enhancement to the new holders, and other similar cases-, the transferred
financial asset is derecognised and any rights or obligations retained or created in the transfer are
recognised simultaneously.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the transferred financial
asset -sale of financial assets under an agreement to repurchase them at a fixed price or at the sale
price plus interest, a securities lending agreement in which the borrower undertakes to return the same
or similar assets, and other similar cases-, the transferred financial asset is not derecognised and
continues to be measured by the same criteria as those used before the transfer. However, the
following items are recognised:

a. An associated financial liability, which is recognised for an amount equal to the consideration
received and is subsequently measured at amortised cost, unless it meets the requirements for
classification under Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.

b. The income from the transferred financial asset not derecognised and any expense incurred on
the new financial liability, without offsetting.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the
transferred financial asset -sale of financial assets with a purchased call option or written put option
that is not deeply in or out of the money, securitisation of assets in which the transferor retains a
subordinated debt or other type of credit enhancement for a portion of the transferred asset, and other
similar cases- the following distinction is made:

a. If the transferor does not retain control of the transferred financial asset, the asset is
derecognised and any rights or obligations retained or created in the transfer are recognised.

b. If the transferor retains control of the transferred financial asset, it continues to recognise it for an
amount equal to its exposure to changes in value and recognises a financial liability associated
with the transferred financial asset. The net carrying amount of the transferred asset and the
associated liability is the amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained, if the transferred
asset is measured at amortised cost, or the fair value of the rights and obligations retained, if the
transferred asset is measured at fair value.
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f) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial asset and liability balances are offset, i.e. reported in the balance sheet at their net amount, only
if the Bank currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and intends either to

settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Following is the detail of financial assets and liabilities that were offset in the balance sheets as at 31
December 2017 and 2016:

Millions of euros
2017 2016
Net amount Net amount
Gross amount | of financial Gross amount | of financial
of financial assets of financial assets
Gross amount | liabilities presented in | Gross amount |  liabilities presented in
of financial | offsetinthe | the balance of financial | offsetinthe | the balance
Assets assets balance sheet sheet assets balance sheet sheet
Derivatives 68,412 (27,445) 40,967 82,414 (34,873) 47,541
Repos 31,211 - 31,211 22,601 - 22,601
Millions of euros
2017 2016
Net amount Net amount
Gross amount | of financial Gross amount | of financial
of financial liabilities of financial liabilities
Gross amount | assets offset | presented in | Gross amount | assets offset | presented in
of financial |in the balance | the balance of financial |in the balance | the balance
Liabilities liabilities sheet sheet liabilities sheet sheet
Derivatives 70,693 (27,445) 43,248 86,045 (34,873) 51,172
Repos 40,506 - 40,506 19,029 - 19,029

Most of the derivatives and repos not offset in the balance sheet are subject to netting and collateral

arrangements.

At December 31, 2017 the balance sheet amounts EUR 51,423 million on derivatives and repos as assets
and EUR 66,915 million on derivatives and repos as liabilities that are subject to netting and collateral
arrangements (EUR 53,141 million and EUR 55,299 million in 2016, respectively).
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g) Impairment of financial assets

a)

b)

c)

i. Definition

A financial asset is considered to be impaired -and therefore its carrying amount is adjusted to reflect the
effect of impairment- when there is objective evidence that events have occurred which:

- In the case of debt instruments (loans and debt securities), give rise to an adverse impact on the
future cash flows that were estimated at the transaction date.

- Inthe case of equity instruments, mean that their carrying amount may not be fully recovered.

As a general rule, the adjustment of the value of the impaired financial instruments is charged to the
consolidated income statement for the period in which the impairment becomes evident, and the reversal,
if any, of previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement for the
period in which the impairment is reversed or reduced.

Transactions classified as non-performing due to arrears are reclassified as standard if, as a result of the
collection of a portion or the sum of the unpaid instalments, the reasons for classifying such transactions
as non-performing cease to exist, i.e. they no longer have any amount more than 90 days past due, unless
other subjective reasons remain for classifying them as non-performing. The refinancing of non-performing
loans does not result in their reclassification to standard unless: the period of one year has elapsed since
the refinancing date, the holder has paid the accrued principal and interest accounts, and the customer
has no other operation with overdue amounts of more than 90 days. (See Note 49).

The following constitute effective guarantees:

Mortgage guarantees on housing as long as they are first duly constituted and registered in favor of the
entity; the properties include:

a. Buildings and building elements, distinguishing among:
i. Houses;
ii. Offices commercial and multi-purpose premises;
iii. Rest of buildings such as non-multi-purpose premises and hotels.
b. Urban and developable ordered land.

c. Rest of properties that would be classified in: buildings and building elements under
construction, such as property development in progress and halted development, and the
rest of land types, such as rustic lands.

Collateral guarantees on financial instruments in the form of cash deposits and debt securities issued by
creditworthy issuers.

Other type real guarantees, including properties received in guarantee and second and subsequent
mortgages on properties, as long as the entity demonstrates its effectiveness. When assessing the
effectiveness of the second and subsequent mortgages on properties the entity will implement particularly
restrictive criteria. It will take into account, among others, whether the previous charges are in favour of
the entity itself or not and the relationship between the risk guaranteed by them and the property value.
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d)

Personal guarantees, as well as the incorporation of new owners, covering the entire amount of the
transaction and implying direct and joint liability to the entity of persons other entities whose solvency is
sufficiently proven to ensure the reimbursement of the operation on the agreed terms.

The balances relating to impaired assets continue to be recognised on the balance sheet, for their full
amounts, until the Bank considers that the recovery of those amounts is remote.

The Bank considers recovery to be remote when there has been a substantial and irreversible
deterioration of the borrower's solvency, when commencement of the liquidation phase of insolvency
proceedings has been ordered or when more than four years have elapsed since the borrower's
transaction was classified as non-performing due to arrears.

When the recovery of a financial asset is considered remote, it is written off, together with the related
allowance, without prejudice to any actions that the Bank may initiate to seek collection until its contractual
rights are extinguished due to expiry of the statute-of-limitations period, forgiveness or any other cause.

ii. Debt instruments carried at amortised cost

The Bank has certain policies, methods and procedures for covering its credit risk arising both from
insolvency allocable to counterparties and from country risk. These policies, methods and procedures are
applied in the granting, examination and documentation of debt instruments and contingent liabilities as
well as commitments, and in the identification of their impairment and the calculation of the amounts
required to cover the related credit risk.

In addition, the Bank's policies, methods and procedures in relation to insolvency credit risk reflect the
criteria for classification of operations and the coverage of losses therefrom, included in Circular 4/2016,
of April 27, Bank of Spain. It amends certain Regulations of Circular 4/2004 of December 22, specifically
the Sixty-Sixth, Sixty-Fourth and Sixty-seventh Norms, as well as Annex IX, the contents of which are
included as Appendice 1 to Circular 4/2016.

Impairment losses allowances on debt instruments carried at amortised cost represent the best
management estimate of the incurred losses in such portfolio at closing date, both individually and
collectively considered. For the purpose of determining impairment losses, the Group monitors its debtors
as described below:

- Individually: Significant debt instruments where impairment evidence exists. Consequently, this
category includes mainly wholesale banking clients — Corporations, Earmarked Funding and
Financial Institutions- as well as part of the larger Companies —Chartered- and developers from retail
banking.

- At balance sheet date, the group assesses on whether a debt instrument or a Bank is impaired. A
specific analysis is performed for all debtors monitored individually that have undergone an event
such as:

- Operations with amounts of capital, interests or expenditures agreed contractually, past-due
by more than 90 days.

- Significantly inadequate economic or financial structure, or inability to obtain additional
owner financing.

- Generalised delay in payments or insufficient cash flows to cover debts.

- The lender, for economic or legal reasons related to the borrower's financial difficulties,
grants the borrower concessions or advantages that otherwise would not have been
granted.
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- Thee borrower enters a bankruptcy situation or in any other situation of financial
reorganisation

In these situations, an assessment is performed on the estimated future cash flows in connection
with the relevant asset, discounted the original effective interest rate of the loan granted. The result
is compared with the carrying value of the asset. The differences between the carrying value of the
operation and the discounted value of the cash flow estimate will be analysed and recognised as a
specific provision for impairment loss.

Collectively, in all other cases: clients considered by the Bank as “standardized”, grouping those
instruments with similar credit risk features, that may indicate the debtor's ability to pay all the
amounts, capital and interests, according to the contractual terms. Credit risk features that are taken
into account when grouping assets are, among others: type of instrument, debtors activity sector,
geographical area of the activity, type of guarantee, maturity of the amounts due and any other factor
that may be significant for the estimation of the future cash flows. Within this category are included,
for example, risks with individuals, individual entrepreneurs, non-chartered retail banking companies,
as well as those due to their amounts could be individualized but an impairment does not exist.

The collective provisions for impairment are subject to uncertainties in their estimation due, in part, to
the difficult identification of losses since they individually appear insignificant within the portfolio. The
estimation methods include the use of statistical analyses of historical information. These are
supplemented by the application of significant judgments by the management, with the objective of
evaluating if the current economic and credit conditions are such that the level of losses incurred is
expected to be higher or less than that which results from experience.

When the most recent trends related to portfolio risk factors are not fully reflected in statistical models
as a result of changes in economic, regulatory and social conditions, these factors are taken into
account by adjusting impairment provisions based on experience of other historical losses. On these
estimates the Bank performs retrospective and comparative tests with market references to evaluate
the reasonableness of the collective calculation.

The Bank's internal models determine impairment losses on debt instruments not measured at fair
value with changes in the income statement, as well as contingent risks, taking into account the
historical experience of impairment and other circumstances known at the time of the evaluation. For
these purposes, impairment losses are the losses incurred at the date of preparation of the
consolidated annual accounts calculated using statistical procedures.

The amount of an impairment loss incurred on these instruments is equal to the difference between
their carrying amount and the present value of their estimated future cash flows. In estimating the
future cash flows of debt instruments the following factors are taken into account:

o All the amounts that are expected to be obtained over the remaining life of the instrument,
including, where appropriate, those which may result from the collateral provided for the
instrument (less the costs for obtaining and subsequently selling the collateral). The
impairment loss takes into account the likelihood of collecting accrued past-due interest
receivable;

o The various types of risks to which each instrument is subject; and
o The circumstances in which collections will foreseeably be made.

These cash flows are subsequently discounted using the instrument's effective interest rate (if its
contractual rate is fixed) or the effective contractual rate at the discount date (if it is variable).
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The loss incurred is calculated by multiplying three factors: exposure at default, probability of default
and loss given default. These parameters are also used to calculate economic capital and to
calculate BIS Il regulatory capital under internal models (see Note 1.e).

- Exposure at default (EAD) is the amount of risk exposure at the date of default by the
counterparty.

- Probability of default (PD) is the probability of the counterparty failing to meet its principal
and/or interest payment obligations. The probability of default is associated with the
rating/scoring of each counterparty/transaction.

For the purpose of calculating the incurred loss, PD is measured using a time horizon of one
year; i.e. it quantifies the probability of the counterparty defaulting in the coming year due to an
event that had already occurred at the assessment date. The definition of default used includes
amounts past due by 90 days or more and cases in which there is no default but there are
doubts as to the solvency of the counterparty (subjective non-performing assets).

- Severity: is the loss produced in case of impairment. It mainly depends on the update of the
guarantees associated with the operation and the future flows that are expected to be
recovered.

- Loss given default (LGD) is the loss arising in the event of default. It depends mainly on the
discounting of the guarantees associated with the transaction and the future flows that are
expected to be recovered.

In addition, in order to determine the coverage of impairment losses on debt instruments measured at
amortised cost, the Bank considers the risk that exists in counterparties resident in a given country due to
circumstances other than the usual commercial risk (sovereign risk, transfer risk or risks arising from
international financial activity).

The debt instruments measured at amortised cost and classified as doubtful are divided, according to the
criteria indicated in the following sections:

Assets classified as non-performing due to counterparty arrears:

Debt instruments, whoever the obligor and whatever the guarantee or collateral, with amounts
more than 90 days past due are provisioned individually, taking into account the age of the past-
due amounts, the guarantees or collateral provided and the financial situation of the
counterparty and the guarantors.

Assets classified as non-performing for reasons other than counterparty arrears:

Debt instruments which are not classifiable as non-performing due to arrears but for which there
are reasonable doubts as to their repayment under the contractual terms are provisioned
individually, and their allowance is the difference between the amount recognised in assets and
the present value of the cash flows expected to be received.

This information is given in more detail in Note 49.c (credit risk).
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h) Repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements

Purchases (sales) of financial instruments under a non-optional resale (repurchase) agreement at a fixed
price (repos) are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet as financing granted (received), based on
the nature of the debtor (creditor), under Loans and advances with central banks, Loans and advances to
credit institutions or Loans and advances to customers (Deposits from central banks, Deposits from credit
institutions or Customer deposits).

Differences between the purchase and sale prices are recognised as interest over the contract term.

Non-current assets and Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and Liabilities
included in alienable groups of items that have been classified as held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale includes the carrying amount of individual items, disposal groups or items
forming part of a business unit earmarked for disposal (discontinued operations), whose sale in their
present condition is highly likely to be completed within one year from the reporting date. Therefore, the
recovery of the carrying amount of these items -which can be of a financial nature or otherwise- will
foreseeably be effected through the proceeds from their disposal.

Specifically, property or other non-current assets received by the consolidated entities as total or partial
settlement of their debtors' payment obligations to them are deemed to be Non-current assets held for
sale, unless the consolidated entities have decided to make continuing use of these assets. In this
connection, for the purpose of its consideration in the initial recognition of these assets, the Bank obtains,
at the foreclosure date, the fair value of the related asset through a request for appraisal by external
appraisal agencies.

The Bank has in place a corporate policy that ensures the professional competence and the independence
and objectivity of the external appraisal agencies, in accordance with the regulations, which require
appraisal agencies to meet independence, neutrality and credibility requirements, so that the use of their
estimates does not reduce the reliability of its valuations. This policy establishes that all the appraisal
companies and agencies with which the Bank works should be registered in the Official Register of the
Bank of Spain and that the appraisals performed by them should follow the methodology established in
Ministry of Economy Order ECO/805/2003, of 27 March. The main appraisal companies and agencies
with which the Group worked in Spain in 2017 are as follows: Tasaciones Inmobiliarias, S.A.U, Krata, S.A.,
Eurovaloraciones, S.A., Ibertasa, S.A.

Also, this policy establishes that the various subsidiaries abroad work with appraisal companies that have
recent experience in the area and the type of asset under appraisal and meet the independence
requirements established in the corporate policy. They should verify, inter alia, that de appraisal company
is not a related parties to the Bank and that their billings to the Bank in the last twelve months should not
exceed 15% of their total billings.

Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale includes the balances payable arising from the
assets held for sale or disposal groups and from discontinued operations.

Non-current assets and disposal groups of items that have been classified as held for sale are generally
recognised at the date of their allocation to this category and are subsequently valued at the lower of their
fair value less costs to sell and its book value Non-current assets and disposal groups of items that are
classified as held for sale are not amortised as long as they remain in this category.

At 31 December 2017 the fair value less costs to sell of non-current assets held for sale exceeded their
carrying amount by EUR 174 million (EUR 185 million in 2016); however, in accordance with the
applicable legislation, this unrealised gain could not be recognised.
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The valuation of the non-current assets held for sale have been made in compliance with the requirements
of Circular 4/2016, of April 27, of the Bank of Spain. It amends Circular 4/2004, dated December 22,
specifically, Sixty-sixth, Sixty-Fourth and Sixty-seventh laws, as well as Annex IX, the contents of which
are included as Appendice 1 to Circular 4/2016 related to the estimation of the fair value of tangible assets
and the value in use of financial assets.

The value of the portfolio is determined as the sum of the values of the individual elements that compose
the portfolio, without considering any total or batch grouping in order to correct the individual values.

The valuation of the portfolio of non-current assets held for sale has been carried out basically applying the
following models:

- Market Value Model used in the valuation of finished residential properties (housing and parkings)
and buildings of a tertiary nature (offices, commercial premises and multipurpose buildings). The
current market value of real estate is based on statistical valuations obtained by historical series of
average market values (sales prices), distinguishing by location and typology of the property. In
addition, for individual significant assets, complete individual valuations are performed. Valuations
made using this method are considered as Level 2.

- Market Value Model according to the Evolution of Market Values issused in the valuation of property
developments in progress. The current market value of the properties is estimated on the basis of
complete individual static valuations of third parties, calculated from the values of feasibility studies
and development costs of the promotion, as well as selling expenses, distinguishing by location and
typology of the property. The valuation of real estate assets under construction is made considering
the current situation of the property and not considering the final value of the property. Valuations
made using this method are considered as Level 3.

- Market Value Model according to the Statistical Evolution of Soil Values (Methodology used in the
valuation of soils). A statistical update method is used, taking as reference the indexes published by
the Ministry of Development applied to the latest individual valuations (appraisals) carried out by
independent valuation companies and agencies. Valuations made using this method are considered
as Level 2.

In addition, in relation to the previously mentioned valuations, less selling costs, are contrasted with the
sales experience of each type of asset in order to confirm that there is no significant difference between
the sale price and the valuation.

Impairment losses on an asset or disposal group arising from a reduction in its carrying amount to its fair
value (less costs to sell) are recognised under Gains or (losses) on non-current assets held for sale not
classified as discontinued operations in the consolidated income statement. The gains on a non-current
asset held for sale resulting from subsequent increases in fair value (less costs to sell) increase its carrying
amount and are recognised in the consolidated income statement up to an amount equal to the impairment
losses previously recognised.

Reinsurance Assets and Liabilities under insurance contracts

Insurance contracts linked to pensions on the asset side of the balance sheet, included in the section
Other assets (Note 2.n) includes the amounts that the Bank is entitled to receive for insurance contracts
with third parties and, specifically, the insurer's share of the technical provisions recorded by the insurance
entities

At least once a year these assets are reviewed to ascertain whether they are impaired (i.e. there is
objective evidence, as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset,
that the Bank may not receive all amounts due to it under the terms of the contract and the amount that will
not be received can be reliably measured), and any impairment loss is recognised in the income statement
and the assets are written down.
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k) Tangible assets

Tangible assets includes the amount of buildings, land, furniture, vehicles, computer hardware and other
fixtures owned by the Bank or acquired under finance leases. Tangible assets are classified by use as
follows:

i. Property, plant and equipment for own use

Property, plant and equipment for own use -including tangible assets received by the Bank in full or partial
satisfaction of financial assets representing receivables from third parties which are intended to be held for
continuing use and tangible assets acquired under finance leases- are presented at acquisition cost, less
the related accumulated depreciation and any estimated impairment losses (carrying amount higher than
recoverable amount).

Depreciation is calculated, using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the assets
less their residual value. The land on which the buildings and other structures stand has an indefinite life
and, therefore, is not depreciated.

The period tangible asset depreciation charge is recognized in the income statement and is calculated
using the following depreciation rates (based on the average years of estimated useful life of the various
assets):

Annual

rate
Buildings for own use 2
Furniture 10
Fixtures 5
Computer equipment 25
Vehicles 16
Other 5

The Bank assesses at the reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired
(i.e. its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount). If this is the case, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount and future depreciation charges are adjusted in proportion to
the revised carrying amount and to the new remaining useful life (if the useful life has to be re-estimated).

Similarly, if there is an indication of a recovery in the value of a tangible asset, the Bank recognises the
reversal of the impairment loss recognised in prior periods and adjust the future depreciation charges
accordingly. In no circumstances may the reversal of an impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying
amount above that which it would have if no impairment losses had been recognized in prior years.

The estimated useful lives of the items of property, plant and equipment for own use are reviewed at least
at the end of the reporting period with a view to detecting significant changes therein. If changes are
detected, the useful lives of the assets are adjusted by correcting the depreciation charge to be recognised
in the income statement in future years on the basis of the new useful lives.

Upkeep and maintenance expenses relating to property, plant and equipment for own use are recognized
as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, since they do not increase the useful lives of the
assets.
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ii. Investment property

Investment property reflects the net values of the land, buildings and other structures held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation.

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost of investment property, to calculate its depreciation and
its estimated useful life and to recognise any impairment losses thereon are consistent with those
described in relation to property, plant and equipment for own use.

The Bank in order to evaluate the possible impairment determines periodically the fair value of its
investment property so that, at the end of the reporting period, the fair value reflects the market conditions
of the investment property at that date. This fair value is determined annually, taking as benchmarks the
valuations performed by independent experts. The methodology used to determine the fair value of
investment property is selected based on the status of the asset in question; thus, for properties
earmarked for lease, the valuations are performed using the sales comparison approach, whereas for
leased properties the valuations are made primarily using the income capitalisation approach and,
exceptionally, the sales comparison approach.

In the sales comparison approach, the property market segment for comparable properties is analysed,
inter alia, and, based on specific information on actual transactions and firm offers, current prices are
obtained for cash sales of those properties. The valuations performed using this approach are considered
as Level 2 valuations.

In the income capitalisation approach, the cash flows estimated to be obtained over the useful life of the
property are discounted taking into account factors that may influence the amount and actual obtainment
thereof, such as: (i) the payments that are normally received on comparable properties; (i) current and
probable future occupancy; (iii) the current or foreseeable default rate on payments. The valuations
performed using this approach are considered as Level 3 valuations, since unobservable inputs are used,
such as current and probable future occupancy and/or the current or foreseeable default rate on
payments.

iii. Assets leased out under an operating lease

Property, plant and equipment - Leased out under an operating lease reflects the amount of the tangible
assets, other than land and buildings, leased out by the Bank under an operating lease.

The criteria used to recognise the acquisition cost of assets leased out under operating leases, to calculate
their depreciation and their respective estimated useful lives and to recognise the impairment losses
thereon are consistent with those described in relation to property, plant and equipment for own use.

Accounting for leases
i. Finance leases

Finance leases are leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leased asset to the lessee.

When the Bank acts as the lessor of an asset, the sum of the present value of the lease payments
receivable from the lessee, including the exercise price of the lessee’s purchase option at the end of the
lease term when such exercise price is sufficiently below fair value at the option date such that it is
reasonably certain that the option will be exercised, is recognised as lending to third parties and is
therefore included under Loans and receivables in the balance sheet.
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When the Bank acts as the lessee, it presents the cost of the leased assets in the balance sheet, based on
the nature of the leased asset, and, simultaneously, recognises a liability for the same amount (which is
the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the sum of the present value of the lease payments
payable to the lessor plus, if appropriate, the exercise price of the purchase option). The depreciation
policy for these assets is consistent with that for property, plant and equipment for own use.

In both cases, the finance income and finance charges arising under finance lease agreements are
credited and debited, respectively, to Interest and similar income and Interest expense and similar charges
in the income statement so as to produce a constant rate of return over the lease term.

ii. Operating leases

In operating leases, ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
thereto remain with the lessor.

When the Bank acts as the lessor, it presents the acquisition cost of the leased assets under Tangible
assets (see Note 15). The depreciation policy for these assets is consistent with that for similar items of
property, plant and equipment for own use, and income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis under Other operating income in the income statements.

When the Bank acts as the lessee, the lease expenses, including any incentives granted by the lessor, are
charged on a straight-line basis to Other general administrative expenses in the income statement.

iii. Sale and leaseback transactions

In sale and leaseback transactions where the sale is at fair value and the leaseback is an operating lease,
any profit or loss is recognised at the time of sale. In the case of finance leasebacks, any profit or loss is
amortised over the lease term.

m) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets (separable from other assets) without physical
substance which arise as a result of a legal transaction or which are developed internally by the Bank.
Only assets whose cost can be estimated reliably and from which the Bank considers it probable that
future economic benefits will be generated are recognised.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acquisition or production cost and are subsequently measured
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets includes the amount of identifiable intangible assets (such as purchased customer
lists, if any, and computer software).

In accordance with the amendments to Circular 4/2004 introduced by Circular 4/2016 in the Twenty-Eighth
standard, in the financial statements (individual and consolidated) not subject to the International Financial
Reporting Standards framework the Intangible assets will be be recognised with defined useful life.

The useful life of the intangible assets may not exceed the period during which the entity is entitled to use
the asset. If the right of use is for a limited period that can be renewed, the useful life will include the
renewal period only when there is evidence that the renewal will be carried out without a significant cost.
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When the useful life of the assets can not be reliably estimated, they will be amortized over a period of ten
years. It shall be presumed, unless proven to the contrary, that the useful life of the goodwill is ten years in
case it applies.

Intangible assets are amortised over those useful lives using methods similar to those used to depreciate
tangible assets (3 to 5 years). The Bank reviews, at least at the end of each year, the period and method
of amortisation of each of its intangible assets and, if the Bank considers that they are not adequate, the
impact will be treated as a change in the accounting estimates

The intangible asset amortisation charge is recognised under Depreciation and amortisation charge in the
income statement.

In both cases the Bank recognises any impairment loss on the carrying amount of these assets with a
charge to Impairment losses on other assets (net) in the income statement. The criteria used to recognise
the impairment losses on these assets and, where applicable, the reversal of impairment losses
recognised in prior years are similar to those used for tangible assets (see Note 2.k).

Internally developed computer software

Internally developed computer software is recognised as an intangible asset if, among other requisites
(basically the Bank's ability to use or sell it), it can be identified and its ability to generate future economic
benefits can be demonstrated.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred and cannot
be subsequently capitalised.

n) Other assets

Other assets in the balance sheet includes the amount of any assets not recorded in other items, the
breakdown being as follows:

- Inventories: this item includes the amount of any assets, other than financial instruments, that are held
for sale in the ordinary course of business, that are in the process of production, construction or
development for such purpose, or that are to be consumed in the production process or in the provision
of services. Inventories includes land and other property held for sale in the property development
business.

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value, which is the estimated selling
price of the inventories in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs required to make the sale.

Any write-downs of inventories -such as those due to damage, obsolescence or reduction of selling
price- to net realisable value and other impairment losses are recognised as expenses in the year in
which the impairment or loss occurs. Subsequent reversals are recognised in the income statement for
the year in which they occur.

The carrying amount of inventories is derecognised and recognised as an expense in the period in
which the revenue from their sale is recognised.

- Insurance contracts linked to pensions (See Note 2.j).
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- Other: this item includes, as the case may be, the balance of all prepayments and accrued income
(excluding accrued interest, fees and commissions), the net amount of the difference between pension
plan obligations and the value of the plan assets with a balance in the entity's favour, when this net
amount is to be reported in the balance sheet, and the amount of any other assets not included in other
items.

Other liabilities

Other liabilities includes the balance of all accrued expenses and deferred income, excluding accrued
interest, and the amount of any other liabilities not included in other categories.

Provisions and contingent assets and liabilities
When preparing the Bank's financial statements, the Bank’s directors made a distinction between:

- Provisions: credit balances covering present obligations at the reporting date arising from past events
which could give rise to a loss for the Bank, which is considered to be likely to occur and certain as to
its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing.

- Contingent liabilities: possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the
control of the Bank. They include the present obligations of the Bank when it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle them. The Bank should not
proceed to recognise a contingent obligation. On the contrary, it must report on the obligation in the
financial statements, except in the case that the possibility of an outflow embodying economic benefits
is remote.

- Contingent assets: possible assets that arise from past events and whose existence is conditional on,
and will be confirmed only by, the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Bank. Contingent assets are not recognised in the balance sheet or
in the income statement, but rather are disclosed in the notes, provided that it is probable that these
assets will give rise to an increase in resources embodying economic benefits.

The Bank's financial statements include all the material provisions with respect to which it is considered
that it is more likely than not that the obligation will have to be settled. In accordance with accounting
standards, contingent liabilities must not be recognised in the financial statements, but must rather be
disclosed in the notes.

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the consequences of the
event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the end of each year, are used to cater for the
specific obligations for which they were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed
when such obligations cease to exist or are reduced.

Provisions are classified according to the obligations covered as follows (see Note 23):

- Provision for pensions and similar obligations: includes the amount of all the provisions made to cover
post-employment benefits, including obligations to pre-retirees and similar obligations (Note 2.u)

- Other long-term employee remuneration: includes other commitments assumed with early retirement
personnel, as detailed in Note 2.v).
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- Provisions for commitments and guarantees given: include the amount of the provisions made to
cover contingent liabilities -defined as those transactions in which the Bank guarantees the obligations
of a third party, arising as a result of financial guarantees granted or contracts of another kind- and
contingent commitments -defined as irrevocable commitments that may give rise to the recognition of
financial assets.

- Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies: include the amount of the provisions recognised to
cover tax and legal contingencies and litigation and the other provisions recognised by the Bank.

- Other provisions: include the remaining provisions recognised by the Bank as the ones for
restructuring and environmental actions.

Court proceedings and/or claims in process

In addition to the disclosures made in Note 1, at the end of 2016 certain court proceedings and claims
were in process against the Group entities arising from the ordinary course of their operations (see Note
23).

Own equity instruments
Own equity instruments are those meeting both of the following conditions:

- The instruments do not include any contractual obligation for the issuer: (i) to deliver cash or another
financial asset to a third party; or (ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with a third party
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the issuer.

- The instruments will or may be settled in the issuer's own equity instruments and are: (i) a non-
derivative that includes no contractual obligation for the issuer to deliver a variable number of its own
equity instruments; or (ii) a derivative that will be settled by the issuer through the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Transactions involving own equity instruments, including their issuance and cancellation, are charged
directly to equity.

Changes in the value of instruments classified as own equity instruments are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. Consideration received or paid in exchange for such instruments,
including the coupons on preference shares contingently convertible into ordinary shares, is directly added
to or deducted from equity.

Equity-instrument-based employee remuneration

Own equity instruments delivered to employees in consideration for their services, if the instruments are
delivered once the specific period of service has ended, are recognised as an expense for services (with
the corresponding increase in equity) as the services are rendered by employees during the service
period. At the grant date the services received (and the related increase in equity) are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted. If the equity instruments granted are vested immediately, the Bank
recognises in full, at the grant date, the expense for the services received.
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When the requirements stipulated in the remuneration agreement include external market conditions (such
as equity instruments reaching a certain quoted price), the amount ultimately to be recognised in equity will
depend on the other conditions being met by the employees (normally length of service requirements),
irrespective of whether the market conditions are satisfied. If the conditions of the agreement are met but
the external market conditions are not satisfied, the amounts previously recognised in equity are not
reversed, even if the employees do not exercise their right to receive the equity instruments.

Recognition of income and expenses

The most significant criteria used by the Bank to recognise income and expenses are summarised as
follows:

i. Interest income, interest expenses and similar items

Interest income, interest expenses and similar items are generally recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method. Dividends received from other companies are recognised as income when
the Bank's right to receive them arises.

However, the recognition of accrued interest in the income statement is suspended for debt instruments
individually classified as impaired and for the instruments for which impairment losses have been
assessed collectively because they have payments more than 90 days past due. Any interest that may
have been recognised in the income statement before the corresponding debt instruments were classified
as impaired, and that had not been collected at the date of that classification, is considered when
determining the allowance for loan losses; accordingly, if subsequently collected, the reversal of the
related impairment losses on this interest is recognised. Interest whose recognition in the income
statement has been suspended is accounted for as interest income, when collected, on a cash basis.

ii. Commissions, fees and similar items

Fee and commission income and expenses are recognised in the income statement using criteria that vary
according to their nature. The main criteria are as follows:

- Fee and commission income and expenses relating to financial assets and financial liabilities
measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised when paid.

- Those arising from transactions or services that are performed over a period of time are recognised
over the life of these transactions or services.

- Those relating to services provided in a single act are recognised when the single act is carried out.
iii. Non-finance income and expenses

These are recognised for accounting purposes on an accrual basis.

iv. Deferred collections and payments

These are recognised for accounting purposes at the amount resulting from discounting the expected cash
flows at market rates.
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v. Loan arrangement fees

Loan arrangement fees, mainly loan origination, application and information fees, are accrued and
recognised in income over the term of the loan. In the case of loan origination fees, the portion relating to
the associated direct costs incurred in the loan arrangement is recognised immediately in the income
statement.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts whereby an entity undertakes to make specific payments on
behalf of a third party if the latter fails to do so, irrespective of the various legal forms they may have, such
as guarantees, insurance policies or credit derivatives.

The Bank initially recognises the financial guarantees provided on the liability side of the balance sheet at
fair value, which is generally the present value of the fees, commissions and interest receivable from these
contracts over the term thereof, and simultaneously the Bank recognises the amount of the fees,
commissions and similar interest received at the inception of the transactions and a credit on the asset
side of the balance sheet for the present value of the fees, commissions and interest outstanding.

Financial guarantees, regardless of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are reviewed
periodically so as to determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to consider
whether a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those
established for quantifying impairment losses on debt instruments carried at amortised cost (described in
Note 2.g above).

The provisions made for these transactions are recognised under Provisions - Provisions for contingent
liabilities and commitments and guarantees given in the balance sheet (See note 23). These provisions
are recognised and reversed with a charge or credit, respectively, to Provisions (net) in the income
statement.

If a specific provision is required for financial guarantees, the related unearned commissions recognised
under Financial liabilities at amortised cost - Other financial liabilities in the balance sheet are reclassified
to the appropriate provision.

Post-employment benefits

Under the collective agreements currently in force and other arrangements, the Bank has undertaken to
supplement the public social security system benefits accruing to certain employees, and to their
beneficiary right holders, for retirement, permanent disability or death, and the post-employment welfare
benefits.

The Bank's post-employment obligations to its employees are deemed to be defined contribution plans
when the Bank makes pre-determined contributions (recognised under Staff costs in the income
statement) to a separate entity and will have no legal or effective obligation to make further contributions if
the separate entity cannot pay the employee benefits relating to the service rendered in the current and
prior periods. Post-employment obligations that do not meet the aforementioned conditions are classified
as defined benefit plans (see Note 23).
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Defined contribution plans

The contributions made in this connection in each year are recognised under Staff costs in the income
statement. The amounts not yet contributed at each year-end are recognised, at their present value, under
Provisions - Pensions and other obligations ofpost-employment defined contribution on the liability side of
the balance sheet.

Defined benefit plans

The Bank recognises under Provisions - Provision for pensions and similar obligations on the liability side
of the balance sheet (or under Other assets on the asset side, as appropriate) the present value of its
defined benefit post-employment obligations, net of the fair value of the plan assets.

Plan assets are defined as those that will be directly used to settle obligations and that meet the following
conditions:

- They are not owned by the Bank, but by a legally separate third party that is not a party related to the
Bank.

- They are only available to pay or fund post-employment benefits and they cannot be returned to the
Bank unless the assets remaining in the plan are sufficient to meet all the benefit obligations of the plan
and of the entity to current and former employees, or they are returned to reimburse employee benefits
already paid by the Bank.

If the Bank can look to an insurer to pay part or all of the expenditure required to settle a defined benefit
obligation, and it is practically certain that said insurer will reimburse some or all of the expenditure
required to settle that obligation, but the insurance policy does not qualify as a plan asset, the Bank
recognises its right to reimbursement -which, in all other respects, is treated as a plan asset- under
Insurance contracts linked to pensions on the asset side of the balance sheet.

Post-employment benefits are recognised as follows:

- Current service cost, i.e. the increase in the present value of the obligations resulting from
employee service in the current period, is recognised under Staff costs.

- The past service cost, which arises from changes to existing post-employment benefits or from the
introduction of new benefits and includes the cost of reductions, is recognised under Provisions or
reversal of provisions.

- Any gain or loss arising from a liquidation of the plan is included in the provisions or reversion of
provisions.

- Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), i.e. the change during the period in the net
defined benefit liability (asset) that arises from the passage of time, is recognised under Interest
expense and similar charges (Interest and similar income if it constitutes income) in the income
statement.

- The remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability (asset) is recognised under Other
comprehensive income under items not reclassified to profit or loss and includes:

- Actuarial gains and losses generated in the year, arising from the differences between the previous
actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred and from the effects of changes in actuarial
assumptions.
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- The return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability (asset).

- Any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset).

Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits, defined as obligations to pre-retirees -taken to be those who have
ceased to render services at the entity but who, without being legally retired, continue to have economic
rights vis-a-vis the entity until they acquire the legal status of retiree-, long-service bonuses, obligations for
death of spouse or disability before retirement that depend on the employee's length of service at the entity
and other similar items, are treated for accounting purposes, where applicable, as established above for
defined benefit post-employment plans, except that actuarial gains and losses are recognised under
Provisions or reversal provisions in the income statement (see Note 23).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when there is a detailed formal plan identifying the basic changes to
be made, provided that implementation of the plan has begun, its main features have been publicly
announced or objective facts concerning its implementation have been disclosed.

Income tax

The income tax expense is recognised in the income statement, except when it results from a transaction
recognised directly in equity, in which case the related tax effect is also recognised in equity.

The current income tax expense is calculated as the sum of the current tax resulting from application of the
appropriate tax rate to the taxable profit for the year (net of any deductions allowable for tax purposes),
and of the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include temporary differences, which are identified as the amounts
expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their related tax bases, and tax loss and tax credit carryforwards. These amounts are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled.

The Tax assets includes the amount of all tax assets, which are broken down into current -amounts of tax
to be recovered within the next twelve months- and deferred -amounts of tax to be recovered in future
years, including those arising from tax loss or tax credit carryforwards.

Tax liabilities includes the amount of all tax liabilities (except provisions for taxes), which are broken down
into current -the amount payable in respect of the income tax on the taxable profit for the year and other
taxes in the next twelve months- and deferred -the amount of income tax payable in future years.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, except when the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and, in addition, it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred tax assets are only recognised for temporary differences to the extent that it is considered
probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which the deferred tax assets can be
utilised, and the deferred tax assets do not arise from the initial recognition (except in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable profit nor accounting
profit. Other deferred tax assets (tax loss and tax credit carryforwards) are only recognised if it is
considered probable that there will be sufficient future taxable profits against which they can be utilised.

Income and expenses recognised directly in equity are accounted for as temporary differences.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are reassessed at the reporting date in order to ascertain whether
any adjustments need to be made on the basis of the findings of the analyses performed. (see Note 24).

Residual maturity periods and average interest rates

The analysis of the maturities of the balances of certain items in the balance sheet and the average
interest rates at the end of the reporting periods is provided in Note 48.

Statements of recognized income and expenses

This statement presents the income and expenses generated by the Bank as a result of its business
activity in the year, and a distinction is made between the income and expenses recognised in the income
statement for the year and the other income and expenses recognised directly in equity.

Accordingly, this statement presents:
a. Profit for the year.

b. The net amount of the income and expenses recognised in Other comprehensive income under items
that will not be reclassified to profit or loss.

c. The net amount of the income and expenses recognised in Other comprehensive income under items
that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss.

d. The income tax incurred in respect of the items indicated in b) and c) above. Except for adjustments in
other comprehensive income arising from investments in associates or jointly-controlled entities
accounted for using the equity method, which are presented in net terms.

e. Total recognised income and expense, calculated as the sum of a) to d) above.

The amount of the income and expenses relating to entities accounted for using the equity method
recognised directly in equity is presented in this statement, irrespective of the nature of the related items,
under Entities accounted for using the equity method.

The statement presents the items separately by nature, grouping together items that, in accordance with
the applicable accounting standards, will not be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss since the
requirements established by the corresponding accounting standards are met.
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aa) Statements of changes in total equity

This statement presents all the changes in equity, including those arising from changes in accounting
policies and from the correction of errors. Accordingly, this statement presents a reconciliation of the
carrying amount at the beginning and end of the year of all the equity items, and the changes are grouped
together on the basis of their nature into the following items:

a. Adjustments due to changes in accounting policies and to errors: include the changes in equity arising
as a result of the retrospective restatement of the balances in the financial statements, distinguishing
between those resulting from changes in accounting policies and those relating to the correction of
errors.

b. Income and expense recognised in the year: includes, in aggregate form, the total of the
aforementioned items recognised in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense.

c. Other changes in equity: includes the remaining items recognised in equity, including, inter alia,
increases and decreases in capital, distribution of profit, transactions involving own equity instruments,
equity-instrument-based payments, transfers between equity items and any other increases or
decreases in equity.

ab)Statements of cash flows
The following terms are used in the statements of cash flows with the meanings specified:

- Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, irrespective of the portfolio in
which they are classified.

The Bank classifies as cash and cash equivalents the balances recognised under Cash, cash balances
at Central Banks and other deposits on demand in the consolidated balance sheet.

- Operating activities: the principal revenue-producing activities of credit institutions and other activities
that are not investing or financing activities.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included
in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
liabilities that are not operating activities.

The amounts of these items recorded against equity are presented at their gross amount, showing their
corresponding tax effect under the heading Income tax in said statement.

In relation with the cash flows corresponding to the interest received and paid, no significant differences
exist between those and the ones registered in the statement of profit or loss. For that reason they are not
disaggregated separately in the consolidated cash flow statement: except from those corresponding to
cash flow liabilities of the financing activities which, although they are not significant, have been
disaggregated in Note 21.b.

The state presents separately the items by nature, grouping them in those that, according to the
accounting standards of application, will not be subsequently reclassified to results and those that will be
subsequently reclassified to results when the requirements established by the corresponding accounting
standards are met.
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3.

Likewise, the dividends received and delivered by the Group are detailed in notes 4 and 26.

Santander Group

a)

b)

Banco Santander, S.A. and international Group structure.

The growth of the Group in the last decades has led the Bank to also act, in practice, as a holding entity of
the shares of the various companies in its Group, and its results are becoming progressively less
representative of the performance and earnings of the Group. Therefore, each year the Bank determines
the amount of the dividends to be distributed to its shareholders on the basis of the consolidated net profit,
while maintaining the Group's traditionally high level of capitalisation and taking into account that the
transactions of the Bank and of the rest of the Group are managed on a consolidated basis
(notwithstanding the allocation to each company of the related net worth effect).

At the international level, the various banks and other subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates of the
Group are integrated in a corporate structure comprising various holding companies which are the ultimate
shareholders of the banks and subsidiaries abroad.

The purpose of this structure, all of which is controlled by the Bank, is to optimise the international
organisation from the strategic, economic, financial and tax standpoints, since it makes it possible to define
the most appropriate units to be entrusted with acquiring, selling or holding stakes in other international
entities, the most appropriate financing method for these transactions and the most appropriate means of
remitting the profits obtained by the Group's various operating units to Spain.

The Appendices provide relevant data on the consolidated Group companies and on the companies
accounted for using the equity method.

Acquisitions and disposals

Following is a summary of the main acquisitions and disposals of ownership interests in the share capital
of other entities and other significant corporate transactions performed by the Bank in the last two years:

i. Acquisition of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A.

On June 7, 2017 (the acquisition date), as part of its growth strategy in the markets where it is present, the
Group communicated the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Banco Popular as a result of a
competitive sale process organised in the framework of a resolution scheme adopted by the Single
Resolution Board (“SRB”) and executed by the FROB, Spanish single resolution board, in accordance with
Regulation (EU) 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of May 15, 2014, and Law
11/2015, of June 18, for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms.

As part of the execution of the resolution:

- All the shares of Banco Popular outstanding at the closing of market on June 7, 2017 and all the
shares resulting from the conversion of the regulatory capital instruments Additional Tier 1 issued by
Banco Popular have been converted into undisposed reserves.

- All the regulatory capital instruments Tier 2 issued by Banco Popular have been converted into newly
issued shares of Banco Popular, all of which have been acquired for a total consideration of one euro
by the Group.

The transaction has been approved by all the applicable regulatory and antitrust authorities in the

territories where Banco Popular operated, except for the pending approval for the acquisition of certain
affiliates of Banco Popular located in United States.
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The accounting balance for which the Bank has registered the 100% interest in Banco Popular Espafiol,
S.A.as of December 31, 2017, it's detailed in Note 13.b.

In accordance with IFRS 3, the Group has measured the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
fair value. The fair value is provisional, according to the applicable regulations, due to the period from the
acquisition date and its complex valuation. The detail of this provisional fair value of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the business combination date is as follows:

As of June 7, 2017 Millions
of euros
Cash and balances with central banks 1,861
Financial assets available-for-sale 18,974
Deposits from credit institutions 2,971
Loans and receivables (*) 82,057,
Investments 1,815
Intangible assets (*) 133
Tax assets (*) 3,945
Non-current assets held for sale (*) 6,531
Other assets 6,259
Total assets 124,546
Deposits from central banks 28,845
Deposits from credit institutions 14,094
Customer deposits 62,270
Marketable debt securities and other financial liabilities 12,919
Provisions (*+*) 1,816
Other liabilities 4,850
Total liabilities (++) 124,794
Net assets (248),
Purchase consideration i
Goodwill 248

*) The main provisional fair value adjustments are the following:
- Loans and receivables: In the estimation of their fair value, impairment have been considered for an approximate amount
of EUR 3,239 million, considering, among others, the sale process carried out by the Bank.
- Foreclosed assets: the valuation, considering the sale process carried out by the company, has meant a reduction in the
value of EUR 3,806 million, approximately.
- Intangible assets: Includes value reductions amounting to approximately of EUR 2,469 million, mainly recorded under the
“Intangible assets - goodwill”.
- Deferred tax assets: mainly corresponds to the reduction of the value of negative tax bases and deductions for an
approximate amount of EUR 1,711 million.
(**)  After the initial analysis and the conversion of the subordinated debt, the best estimation is there is no significant impact
between fair value and previous carrying amount of the financial liabilities.
(***) As a result of the resolution of Banco Popular Espafiol, S.A. and in accordance with the information available to date, it
includes the estimated cost of EUR 680 million relating to the potential compensation to the shareholders of Banco Popular
Espafiol, S.A. of which EUR 535 millon have been applied to the fidelity action (See note 1.k).

As the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired was lower than the total consideration paid,
goodwill arises on the acquisition. This goodwill is attributable to the commercial business in Spain. The
provisional fair value adjustments were based, among others, on different methodologies and valuation
processes that are commonly accepted in the market for credit and real estate portfolios as well as for
financial investments.
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In compliance with the accounting standards in force and, in accordance with paragraph 45 of IFRS 3
“Business Combinations”, the acquirer entity must comply with the period of one year from the acquisition
date in order to perform the business combination and the measurement of the fair values of the assets
and liabilities of the acquired entity. Accordingly, measurements conducted by the Group are the best
available estimation on the date of the preparation of the present consolidated financial statements and
therefore, they are provisional and cannot be considered as definitive. However, the Group doesn’t expect
significant changes on such amount until the end of the term the Group has to consider the valuation as
definitive. Likewise from the acquisition date until December 31, 2017 there have not been any significant
changes on the fair value of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities in this business combination.

The amount contributed by this business to the group net profit from the acquisition and the impact to the
net profit obtained by the group resulting from the operation if the transaction had been made on January
1, 2017 are not material.

ii. Metrovacesa - Merlin

On June 21, 2016, Banco Santander hereby reached an agreement with Merlin Properties, SOCIMI, S.A,,
together with the other shareholders of Metrovacesa, S.A., for the integration in Merlin group, following the
total spin-off of Metrovacesa, S.A., of Metrovacesa, S.A. property rental asset business in Merlin
Properties, SOCIMI, S.A. and Metrovacesa, S.A. residential rental business in Metrovacesa, S.A. current
subsidiary, Testa Residencial, SOCIMI, S.A. (before, Testa Residencial, S.L.) The other assets of
Metrovacesa, S.A. not integrated in Merlin group as a result of the integration, consisting of a residual
group of land assets for development and subsequent lease, will be transferred to a newly created
company wholly owned by the current shareholders of Metrovacesa, S.A.

Regarding the General Meeting of shareholders of Merlin Properties, SOCIMI, S.A. and Metrovacesa, S.A.
on September 15, 2016 where not only the operation was not approved.

Subsequently, on October 20, 2016, the deed of total division of Metrovacesa, S.A. was granted in favour
of the mentioned companies, and such deed was filed in the Commercial Register on October 26, 2016.

As a result of the integration, Santander Group increased its participation to 16.40% of the equity capital of
Merlin Properties, SOCIMI, S.A., 34.52% of direct participation in the equity capital of Testa Residential,
SOCIMI, S.A. and 52.50% in Metrovacesa Promocion y Arrendamiento, S.A. The main impacts of this
operation on balance during 2016 have been insignificant.

c) Off-shore entities

According to current Spanish regulation, Santander has operations in 4 off-shore territories: Jersey,
Guernsey, Isle of Man and Cayman Islands. These four jurisdictions comply with OECD standards in terms
of transparency and exchange of information for tax purposes. Santander operates 3 subsidiaries and 4
branches in off-shore territories: these are governed by the tax regimes of those territories. Santander also
has 4 subsidiaries in off-shore territories which are tax resident in the UK, where they pay tax. The Group
has no presence in any of the 9 territories included in the European Union’s current blacklist, neither in
non-cooperative territories for tax purposes as defined by the OECD in July 2017.
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1) Subsidiaries in off-shore territories.

At the reporting date, the Group has 3 subsidiaries resident in off-shore territories, two in Jersey
(Whitewick Limited (inactive company) and Abbey National International Limited), and one in the Isle of
Man, ALIL Services Limited. These subsidiaries contributed a profit of approximately EUR 2.7 million to the
Group’s consolidated profit in 2017. During the financial year 2017 one subsidiary resident in the Isle of
Man has been liquidated.

Il) Off-shore branches.

Also, after the liquidation in 2017 of a branch in the Cayman Islands, the Group has 4 off-shore branches:
2 in the Cayman lIslands, 1 in the Isle of Man and 1 in Jersey. These branches report to, consolidate their
balance sheets and income statements and are taxed with, their respective foreign headquarters (Cayman
Islands) or in the territories where they are located (Jersey and Isle of Man).

The aforementioned entities have a total of 138 employees as of December 2017.
IIl) Subsidiaries in off-shore territories that are tax resident in the UK.

The Group also has 4 subsidiaries domiciled in off-shore territories that are not considered to be off-shore
entities since they are tax residents in UK and, therefore, subject to UK tax law during the period and
operate exclusively from the UK (one of these subsidiaries is expected to be liquidated in 2018).

IV) Other off-shore investments.

The Group manages from Brazil a segregated portfolio company called Santander Brazil Global
Investment Fund SPC in the Cayman Islands, and manages from the United Kingdom a protected cell
company in Guernsey called Guaranteed Investment Products 1 PCC Limited. The Group also has,
directly or indirectly, few financial investments located in tax havens including Olivant Limited in Guernsey,
entity whose liquidation or sale is expected to be carried out soon.

V) Impact of forthcoming changes to Spain’s tax law.

Spain signed Information Exchange Agreements with Jersey, Guernsey and the Isle of Man in 2015, that
are expected to enter into force in 2018. In addition, it is expected to sign in the future with the Cayman
Islands. In principle, all these territories would no longer have the status of tax havens for the purposes of
Spanish legislation at the time these agreements enter into force, and as long as it is expressly indicated.

It is expected that during 2018 the Spanish Government will update the list of countries and territories that
qualify as a tax haven, after the publication by the OECD and the European Union of their lists of non-
cooperative jurisdictions that are discussed below, aligning to them.

V1) OECD.

The Group has no presence in hon-cooperative territories for tax purposes as defined by the OECD in July
2017. In this sense it should be noted that Jersey, Guernsey, Isle of Man and Cayman Islands, comply
with OECD standards in terms of transparency and exchange of information for tax purposes, since:

e The first and/or second round of evaluations of the Global Forum on Transparency and Exchange of

Information for Tax Purposes have been successfully passed in terms of their level of fiscal
transparency and the effective application of the exchange of information of request (EOIR) standard.
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e They have committed to implement the automatic exchange of information (AEOI) standard and its
Common Reporting Standard (CRS) exchange mechanism, with the first exchange of information
expected in 2017.

e They have also adhered to the Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters of the
OECD and the Council of Europe, amended by the 2010 Protocol.

VII) The European Union.

On 5 December, 2017, the European Commission published some lists of non-cooperative jurisdictions for
tax purposes (where there is no member state of the European Union): blacklist, gray list and territories
which have received a grace period.

The EU blacklist, initially composed of 17 countries, according to a series of criteria, such as fiscal
transparency, its corporate tax regimes (if they can be considered harmful), or the respect of the principles
of the OECD to avoid the erosion of the tax base and the transfer of benefits (better known by the English
term anti-BEPS). On January 23, 2018, the Economic and Financial Affairs Council (Ecofin) agreed to
transfer 8 of them from the black list to the gray list, due to the commitments assumed by these
jurisdictions to solve the deficiencies identified by the EU. The Group has no presence in any of the 9
territories included in the current blacklist.

As well as this, there is a list of 8 countries affected by the hurricanes in the Caribbean, which have
received a grace period until February 2018 to send their commitments. Within this list, the Group only has
presence in the Bahamas, which ceased to be considered a tax haven according to Spanish regulations,
following the entry into force in 2011 of the Tax Information Exchange Agreement signed with Spain. In
this jurisdiction, the Group has 7 subsidiaries (1 of them in liquidation and 1 tax resident in USA) and 1
branch in process of closing.

However, it must be taken into account that, from the point of view of the OECD, the Bahamas is a territory
largely compliant with respect to transparency and exchange of information for tax purposes, especially
since in December 2017 signed the Convention on Mutual Administrative Assistance in Tax Matters and
joined the BEPS Project of the OECD.

Finally, the gray list, initially composed of 47 jurisdictions and currently of 55, although they meet the
criteria to be on the blacklist of tax havens, have committed to correct their legal frameworks to align them
with international standards. In this list are included the 4 jurisdictions in which the Group has presence
and are off-shore territories in accordance with current Spanish legislation (Jersey, Guernsey, Isle of Man
and Cayman Islands). These jurisdictions will have until the end of 2018 to fulfill the commitments or until
2019 if they are developing countries without international financial centers. Additionally, Hong Kong, Peru,
Switzerland, Uruguay and Panama are included in the gray list, although according to Spanish legislation
are not off-shore territories and have committed to modify their legislation. The Group has 2 subsidiaries
and 1 branch located in Hong Kong, 5 subsidiaries in Peru (1 of them in liquidation), 6 subsidiaries in
Switzerland, 13 subsidiaries in Uruguay (7 of which are in liquidation) and 1 subsidiary in Panama with
reduced banking activity that has already received authorization from the Superintendency of Banks of
Panama for its voluntary liquidation. At present, Spain has in force Double Taxation Agreements with
exchange of information clause with Hong Kong, Switzerland, Uruguay and Panama.

The Group has established appropriate procedures and controls (risk management, supervision,
verification and review plans and periodic reports) to prevent reputational and legal risk at these entities.
Also, the Group has continued to implement its policy of reducing the number of off-shore units.

The financial statements of the Group’s off-shore units are audited by PwC (PricewaterhouseCoopers)
member firms in 2017 and 2016.
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d) Group consolidated balance sheet, income statement, statement of recognised income and
expenses, statement of changes in total equity and cash-flow statement

The Group's consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the consolidated income
statements, consolidated statements of recognised income and expense, consolidated statements of
changes in total equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended are as follows:

Santander Group — Consolidated balance sheets — (millions of euros)

ASSETS 2017 2016 (*)
CASH, CASH BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER DEPOSITS ON DEMAND 110,995 76,454
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 125,458 148,187
Derivatives 57,243 72,043
Equity instruments 21,353 14,497
Debt instruments 36,351 48,922
Loans and advances 10,511 12,725
Central banks - -
Credit institutions 1,696 3,221
Customers 8,815 9,504
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 50,891 38,145
FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 34,782 31,609
Equity instruments 933 546
Debt instruments 3,485 3,398
Loans and advances 30,364 217,665
Central banks - -
Credit institutions 9,889 10,069
Customers 20,475 17,596
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 5,766 2,025
FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 133,271 116,774
Equity instruments 4,790 5,487
Debt instruments 128,481 111,287
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 43,079 23,980
LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 903,013 840,004
Debt instruments 17,543 13,237
Loans and advances 885,470 826,767
Central banks 26,278 27,973
Credit institutions 39,567 35,424
Customers 819,625 763,370
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 8,147 7,994
INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY 13,491 14,468
Memorandum items: lent or delivered as guarantee with disposal or pledge rights 6,996 2,489
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 8,537 10,377
CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES
OF INTEREST RATE RISK 1,287 1,481
INVESTMENTS 6,184 4,836
Joint ventures entities 1,987 1,594
Associated companies 4,197 3,242
REINSURANCE ASSETS 341 331
TANGIBLE ASSETS 22,974 23,286
Property, plant and equipment: 20,650 20,770
For own use 8,279 7,860
Leased out under an operating lease 12,371 12,910
Investment property: 2,324 2,516
Of which leased out under an operating lease 1,332 1,567
Memorandum items:acquired in financial lease 96 115
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 28,683 29,421
Goodwill 25,769 26,724
Other intangible assets 2,914 2,697
TAX ASSETS 30,243 27,678
Current tax assets 7,033 6,414
Deferred tax assets 23,210 21,264
OTHER ASSETS 9,766 8,447
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 239 269
Inventories 1,964 1,116
Other 7,563 7,062
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 15,280 5,772
TOTAL ASSETS 1,444,305 1,339,125

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group — Consolidated balance sheet statement (millions of euros)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2017 2016 (*)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 107,624 108,765
Derivatives 57,892 74,369
Short positions 20,979 23,005
Deposits 28,753 11,391
Central banks 282 1,351
Credit institutions 292 44
Customers 28,179 9,996
Marketable debt securities - -
Other financial liabilities - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 59,616 40,263
Deposits 55,971 37,472
Central banks 8,860 9,112
Credit institutions 18,166 5,015
Customers 28,945 23,345
Marketable debt securities 3,056 2,791
Other financial liabilities 589 -
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities - -
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTISED COST 1,126,069 1,044,240
Deposits 883,320 791,646
Central banks 71,414 44,112
Credit institutions 91,300 89,764
Customers 720,606 657,770
Marketable debt securities 214,910 226,078
Other financial liabilities 27,839 26,516
Memorandum items:subordinated liabilities 21,510 19,902
HEDGING DERIVATIVES 8,044 8,156
CHANGES IN THE FAIR VALUE OF HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RISK RATE 330 448
LIABILITIES UNDER INSURANCE CONTRACTS 1117 652
PROVISIONS 14,489 14,459
Provision for pensions and other employment defined benefit obligations 6,345 6,576
Provisions for other long term employee benefits 1,686 1712
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 3,181 2,994
isi for i and given 617 459
Other provisions 2,660 2,718
TAX LIABILITIES 7,592 8,373
Current tax liabilities 2,755 2,679
Deferred tax liabilities 4,837 5,694
OTHER LIABILITIES 12,591 11,070
LIABILITIES ASSOCIATED WITH NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,337,472 1,236,426
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 116,265 105,977
CAPITAL 8,068 7,291
Called up paid capital 8,068 7,291
Unpaid capital which has been called up - -
Memorandum items: uncalled up capital - -
SHARE PREMIUM 51,053 44,912
EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED OTHER THAN CAPITAL 525 -
Equity of financial i - -
Other equity instruments 525 -
OTHER EQUITY 216 240
ACCUMULATED RETAINED EARNINGS 53,437 49,953
REVALUATION RESERVES - -
OTHER RESERVES (1,602) (949)
Reserves or accumulated losses in joint ventures investments 724 466
Others (2,326) (1,415)
(-) OWN SHARES (22 W
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE PARENT 6,619 6,204
(-) DIVIDENS (2,029) (1,667)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (21,776) (15,039)
ITEMS NOT RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (4,034) (3,933)
Actuarial gains or (-) losses on defined benefit pension plans (4,033) (3,931)
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 1) @)
Other valuation adjustments - -
ITEMS THAT MAY BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS (17,742) (11,106)
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations (Effective portion) (4,311) (4,925)
Exchange differences (15,430) (8,070)
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (Effective portion) 152 469
Financial assets available-for-sale 2,068 1571
Debt instruments 1,154 423
Equity instruments 914 1,148
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates (221) (151)
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 12,344 11,761
Other comprehensive income (1,436) (853)
Others items 13,780 12,614
106,833 102,699
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,444,305 1,339,125

MEMORANDUM ITEMS
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 49,117 44,434
CONTINGENT COMMITMENTS 237,970 231,962

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Consolidated statement of income (millions of euros)

2017 2016(*)

Interest income 56,041 55,156
Interest expense (21,745) (24,067)
Net interest income 34,296 31,089
Dividend income 384 413
Share of results of entities accounted for using the equity method 704 444
Commission income 14,579 12,943
Commission expense (2,982) (2,763)
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 404 869
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 1,252 2,456
Gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, net (85) 426
Gains or losses from hedge accounting, net (11) (23)
Exchange differences, net 105 (1,627)
Other operating income 1,618 1,919
Other operating expenses (1,966) (1,977)
Income from assets under insurance and reinsurance contracts 2,546 1,900
Expenses from liabilities under insurance and reinsurance contracts (2,489) (1,837)
Total income 48,355 44,232
Administrative expenses (20,400) (18,737)
Staff costs (12,047) (11,004)
Other general administrative expenses (8,353) (7,733)
Depreciation and amortisation cost (2,593) (2,364)
Provisions or reversal of provisions (3,058) (2,508)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net (9,259) (9,626)
Financial assets measured at cost 8) (52)
Financial assets available-for-sale (10) 11
Loans and receivables (9,241) (9,557)
Held-to-maturity investments - (28)
Profit from operations 13,045 10,997
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, net (13) (17)
Impairment on non-financial assets, net (1,260) (123)
Tangible assets (72) (55)
Intangible assets (1,073) (61)
Others (115) @)
Gains or losses on non financial assets and investments, net 522 30
Of which: Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 431 15
Negative goodwill recognised in results - 22
Gains or losses on non-current assets held for sale not classified as discontinued operations (203) (141)
Profit or loss before tax from continuing operations 12,091 10,768
Tax expense or income from continuing operations (3.884) (3,282)
Profit for the period from continuing operations 8,207 7,486
Profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations - -
Profit for the period 8,207 7,486
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 1,588 1,282
Profit attributable to the parent 6,619 6,204
Earnings per share

Basic 0.404 0.401
Diluted 0.403 0.399

(*) Presented for conmparison purposes only
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Consolidated statements of recognised income and expense (millions of euros)

2017 2016 (*)
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 8,207 7,486
OTHER RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (7,320) (303)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (88) (806)
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit pension plans (157) (1,172)
Non-current assets held for sale - -
Other recognised income and expense of investments in subsidaries, joint ventures and associates 1 1)
Other valuation adjustments - -
Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 68 367
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (7,232) 503
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations (Effective portion) 614 (1,329)
Revaluation gain (losses) 614 (1,330)
Amounts transferred to income statement - 1
Other reclassifications - -
Exchanges differences (8,014) 676
Revaluation gain (losses) (8,014) 682
Amounts transferred to income statement - (6)
Other reclassifications - -
Cash flow hedges (Effective portion) (441) 495
Revaluation gain (losses) 501 6,231
Amounts transferred to income statement (942) (5,736)
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items - -
Other reclassifications - -
Financial assets available-for-sale 683 1,326
Revaluation gains (losses) 1,137 2,192
Amounts transferred to income statement (454) (866)
Other reclassifications - -
Non-current assets held for sale - -
Revaluation gains (losses) - -
Amounts transferred to income statement - -
Other reclassifications - -
Share of other recognised income and expense of investments (70) 80
Income tax relating to items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (@) (745)
Total recognised income and expenses 887 7,183
Attributable to non-controlling interests 1,005 1,656
Attributable to the parent (118) 5,527

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group - Consolidated statements of changes in total equity (millions of euros)

Parent Non-Controlling interest
Other Other Accumulated (-) Own result Other Other
Share instruments equity retained Revaluation | Other Equity | for the - comprehensive | comprehensive
Capital | premium (not capital) |instruments earnings reserves reserves | instruments | period Dividends income income Others items | Total

Balance as at 12/31/16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 240 49,953 - (949) (7)| 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 102,699
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in

accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjusted balance as

at 12/31/16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 240 49,953 - (949) (7)| 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 | 102,699
Total recognised income and

expense - - - - - - - -| 6,619 - (6,737) (583) 1,588 887
Other changes in equity 777 6,141 525 (24) 3,484 - (653) (15) | (6,204) (362) - - (422)| 3,247
Issuance of ordinary shares 777 6,141 - - - - 6 - - - - - 543| 7,467
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial

instruments - - 525 - - - - - - - - - 592 1,117
Maturity of other financial

instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities

into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - - (10) (10)
Dividends - - - - (802) - - - - (2,029) - - (665) | (3,496)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - (1,309) - - - - -1 (1,309)
Dispossal of equity instruments - - - - - - 26 1,294 - - - - - 1,320
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 4,286 - 251 - | (6,204) 1,667 - - - -
Increases or (-) decreases due to
business combinations - - - - - - - - - - - - (39) (39)
Share-based payment - - - (72) - - - - - - - - 24 (48)
Others increases or (-) decreases

of the equity - - - 48 - - (936) - - - - - (867)| (1,755)
Balance as at 12/31/17 8,068 51,053 525 216 53,437 -1 (1,602) (22)| 6,619 (2,029) (21,776) (1,436) 13,780 | 106,833

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.

74




Parent Non-Controlling interest
Other Other Accumulated (-) Own result Other Other
Share instruments equity retained Revaluation | Other Equity for the - comprehensive | comprehensive
Capital | premium | (not capital) | instruments earnings reserves reserves | instruments | period | Dividends income income Others items | Total

Balance as at 12/31/15 (*) 7,217 45,001 - 214 46,429 - (669) (210) 5,966 (1,546) (14,362) (1,227) 11,940 98,753
Adjustments due to errors - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments due to changes in

accounting policies - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjusted balance as

at 12/31/15 (*) 7,217 45,001 - 214 46,429 - (669) (210)| 5,966 (1,546) (14,362) (1,227) 11,940 | 98,753
Total recognised income and

expense - - - - - - - - 6,204 - (677) 374 1,282 7,183
Other changes in equity 74 (89) - 26 3,524 - (280) 203 | (5,966) (121) - - (608) | (3,237)
Issuance of ordinary shares 74 (89) - - - - 15 - - - - - 534 534
Issuance of preferred shares - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Issuance of other financial

instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Maturity of other financial

instruments - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Conversion of financial liabilities

into equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Capital reduction - - - - - - - - - - - - (22) (22)
Dividends - - - - (722) - - - - (1,667) - - (800) | (3,189)
Purchase of equity instruments - - - - - - - (1,380) - - - - -1 (1,380)
Dispossal of equity instruments - - - - - - 15 1,583 - - - - - 1,598
Transfer from equity to liabilities - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer from liabilities to equity - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfers between equity items - - - - 4,246 - 174 -1 (5,966) 1,546 - - - -
Increases or (-) decreases due to
business combinations - - - - - - - - - - - - (197) (197)
Share-based payment - - - (79) - - - - - - - - - (79)
Others increases or (-) decreases of

the equity - - - 105 - - (484) - - - - - (123) (502)
Balance at 12/31/16 (*) 7,291 44,912 - 240 49,953 - (949) ) 6,204 (1,667) (15,039) (853) 12,614 | 102,699

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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Santander Group — Consolidated statements of cash flows (millions of euros)

2017 2016 (*)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 40,188 21,823
Consolidated Profit for the year 8,207 7,486
Adjustments made to obtain the cash flows from operating activities 23,927 22,032
Depreciation and amortisation cost 2,593 2,364
Other adjustments 21,334 19,668
Net increase/(decrease) in operating assets 18,349 17,966
Financial assets held-for-trading (18,114) 6,234
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,085 (12,882)
Financial assets available-for-sale 2,494 (7,688)
Loans and receivables 32,379 27,938
Other operating assets (1,495) 4,364
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 30,540 13,143
Liabilities held-for-trading financial 1,933 8,032
Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss 19,906 (13,450)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 12,006 21,765
Other operating liabilities (3,305) (3,204)
Income tax recovered/(paid) (4,137) (2,872)
B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,008) (13,764)
Payments 10,134 18,204
Tangible assets 7,450 6,572
Intangible assets 1,538 1,768
Investments 8 48
Subsidiaries and other business units 838 474
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities - -
Held-to-maturity investments 300 9,342
Other proceeds related to investing activities - -
Proceeds 6,126 4,440
Tangible assets 3,211 2,608
Intangible assets - -
Investments 883 459
Subsidiaries and other business units 263 94
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities 1,382 1,147
Held-to-maturity investments 387 132
Other payments related to investing activities - -
C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4,206 (5,745)
Payments 7,783 9,744
Dividends 2,665 2,309
Subordinated liabilities 2,007 5112
Redemption of own equity instruments - -
Acquisition of own equity instruments 1,309 1,380
Other payments related to financing activities 1,802 943
Proceeds 11,989 3,999
Subordinated liabilities 2,994 2,395
Issuance of own equity instruments 7,072 -
Disposal of own equity instruments 1,331 1,604
Other proceeds related to financing activities 592 -
D. EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (5,845) (3,611)
E. NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 34,541 (1,297)
F. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD 76,454 77,751
G. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 110,995 76,454
MEMORANDUM ITEMS

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

Cash 8,583 8,413
Cash equivalents at central banks 87,430 54,637
Other financial assets 14,982 13,404
Less: Bank overdrafts refundable on demand - -
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 110,995 76,454
In which: restricted cash - -

(*) Presented for comparison purposes only.
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4.

Distribution of the Bank's profit, shareholder remuneration scheme and earnings per share.

a)

b)

Distribution of the Bank’s profit and shareholder remuneration scheme

The distribution of the Bank's net profit for 2017 that the Board of Directors will propose for approval by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting is as follows:

Millions
of euros
First and third interim dividends and final dividend 2,898
Acquisition, with a waiver of exercise, of bonus share rights from the
shareholders which, under the Santander Dividendo Eleccion scrip
dividend scheme, opted to receive in cash remuneration equivalent to the
second interim dividend 99
2,997
Of which:
Approved at December 31, 2017 (%) 2,029
Final dividend 968
To voluntary reserves 9
Net profit for the year 3,006

(*) Recognised under Shareholders' equity - Dividends and remuneration.

In addition to the EUR 2,997 million indicated above, EUR 543 million in shares were allocated to the
remuneration of shareholders under the shareholder remuneration scheme (Santander Dividendo
Eleccion) approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting held on April 7, 2017, whereby the
Bank offered shareholders the possibility to opt to receive an amount equivalent to the second interim
dividend out of 2017 profit in cash or new shares.

A remuneration of EUR 0.22 per share, charged to the 2017 annual period, will be proposed by The Board
of Directors to the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations
i. Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Group (adjusted by the
after-tax amount of the remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares recognised in equity -
See Note 21) and the capital perpetual preference shares, if applicable, by the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average number of treasury shares held in
the year.
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Accordingly:

2017 2016

Profit attributable to the Parent (millions of euros) 6,619 6,204
Remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares (CCP)

(millions of euros) (Note 21) (395) (334)
Dilutive effect of changes in profit for the year arising from

potential conversion of ordinary shares - -

6,224 5,870

Of which:

Profit or Loss from discontinued operations (non controlling

interest net) (million of euros) - -

Profit or Loss from continuing operations (net of non-controlling

interests and CCP) (million of euros) 6,224 5,870
\Weighted average number of shares outstanding 15,394,458,789 14,656,359,963
IAdjusted number of shares 15,394,458,789 14,656,359,963
Basic earnings per share (euros) 0.404 0.401
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations (euros) 0.000 0.000
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (euros) 0.404) 0.401]

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the Group (adjusted by
the after-tax amount of the remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares recognised in
equity - See Note 21) and the capital perpetual preference shares, if applicable, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the average number of treasury shares
and adjusted for all the dilutive effects inherent to potential ordinary shares (share options, and convertible
debt instruments).
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Accordingly, diluted earnings per share were determined as follows:

2017 2016
Profit attributable to the Parent (millions of euros) 6,619 6,204
Remuneration of contingently convertible preference shares (CCP)
(millions of euros) (Note 21) (395) (334)
Dilutive effect of changes in profit for the year arising from potential
conversion of ordinary shares - -
6,224 5,870
Of which:
Profit (Loss) from discontinued operations (net of non-controlling
interests) (millions of euros) -
Profit from continuing operations (net of non-controlling interests
and CCP) (millions of euros) 6,224 5,870
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 15,394,458,789| 14,656,359,963
Dilutive effect of options/rights on shares 50,962,887 45,754,981
Adjusted number of shares 15,445,421,676| 14,702,114,944
Diluted earnings per share (euros) 0.403 0.399
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations (euros) 0.00 0.00
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations (euros) 0.403 0.399

The capital increase (See Note 27.a) has an impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share of the
previous years due to the alteration in the number of shares outstanding. Due to this fact, the information
relating to the 2016 period has been recasted according to the applicable legislation.

Remuneration and other benefits paid to the Bank's directors and senior managers

The following section contains qualitative and quantitative disclosures on the remuneration paid to the
members of the Board of Directors -both executive and non-executive directors- and senior managers for
2017 and 2016:

a) Remuneration of Directors

i. Bylaw-stipulated emoluments

The annual General Meeting held on March 22, 2013 approved an amendment to the Bylaws, whereby the
remuneration of directors in their capacity as board members became an annual fixed amount determined
by the annual General Meeting. This amount shall remain in effect unless the shareholders resolve to
change it at a general meeting. However, the Board of Directors may elect to reduce the amount in any
years in which it deems such action justified. The remuneration established by the Annual General
Meeting, was EUR 6 million, with two components: (a) an annual emolument and (b) attendance fees.

The specific amount payable for the above-mentioned items to each of the directors is determined by the
Board of Directors. For such purpose, it takes into consideration the positions held by each director on the
Board, their membership of the Board and the board committees and their attendance of the meetings
thereof, and any other objective circumstances considered by the Board.
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The total bylaw-stipulated emoluments earned by the Directors in 2017 amounted to EUR 4.7 million (EUR
4.6 million in 2016).

Annual emolument

The amounts received individually by the directors in 2017 and 2016 based on the positions held by them
on the board and their membership of the Board committees were as follows:

Euros
2017 2016
Members of the Board of Directors 87,500 85,000
Members of the executive committee 170,000 170,000
Members of the audit committee 40,000 40,000
Members of the appointments committee 25,000 25,000
Members of the remuneration committee 25,000 25,000
Members of the risk supervision, regulation and compliance
oversight committee 40,000 40,000
Chairman of the audit committee 50,000 50,000
Chairman of the appointments committee 50,000 50,000
Chairman of the remuneration committee 50,000 50,000
Chairman of the risk, regulation and compliance oversight
committee 50,000 50,000
Coordinating director 110,000 110,000
Non-executive deputy chairman 30,000 30,000

Attendance fees

The directors receive fees for attending board and committee meetings, excluding Executive Committee
meetings, since no attendance fees are received for this committee.

By resolution of the Board of Directors, at the proposal of the remuneration committee, the fees for
attending board and committee meetings -excluding Executive Committee meetings, for which no
attendance fees have been established- were as follows:

Euros

Meeting attendance fees 2017 2016

Board of Directors 2,600 2,500
Audit committee and risk supervision, regulation and compliance

oversight committee 1,700 1,700

Other committees (except the executive committee) 1,500 1,500
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Salaries

The executive directors receive salaries. In accordance with the policy approved by the annual general
meeting, salaries are composed of a fixed annual remuneration and a variable remuneration consisting of
a unique incentive, which is based on a deferred variable remuneration linked to multi-year objectives,
which establishes the following payment scheme:

Establishes the following payments scheme:

e 40% of the variable remuneration amount, determined at year-end on the basis of the
achievement of the established objectives, is paid immediately.

e The remaining 60% is deferred over five years, as the case may be, in five portions provided that
the conditions of permanence of the Group and non-concurrence of the malus clauses are met,
taking into account the following accrual scheme.

e The accrual of the first and second portion (payment in 2019 and 2020) is no subject to the
long-term objectives.

e The accrual of the third, fourth, and fifth portion (payment in 2021, 2022 and 2023), is also
linked to certain objectives related to the period 2017-2019 and the metrics and scales
associated with these objectives. The fulfilment of the objective determines the percentage to
be applied to the deferred amount in these three annuities, being the maximum amount
determined at the end of the 2017.

e In accordance with current remuneration policies, the amounts already paid will be settled to a
possible recovery (clawback) by the Bank during the period set out in the policy in force each
moment.

The immediate payment (or short-term) as well as the deferred payment and subject to long-term goals will
be settled 50% in cash and the remaining 50% in Santander shares.

Detail by director

The detail, by Bank director, of the short-term (immediate) and deferred (not subject to long-term goals)
remuneration for 2017 and 2016 is provided below:
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[Thousand of euros

2017 2016
Bylaw-stipulated emoluments
JAnnual emolument
Short-term and deferred (not subject to long-term goals) salaries of]
Risk supervi{  Attendancelexecutive directors
sion, regulation fees Variable
Remune-| and complian-cef And| immediate payment| Deferred variable Other|
Executive) AuditfAppointments| ration| oversight| commissions. In| In| In| In| remuner-|

Directors Board| committee] committee] ~ committee] committe committee Fixed cash| shares| cash| shares| Totall ation ()| Totall Totall
Mrs. Ana Botin-Sanz de

Sautuola y O’Shea 88| 170 g E b R 44 2,500 1,370 1,370 822 822 6,884 689 7.874 7.279
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 88| 170 g L g E 44 2,000 916 916 550 550 4,932 1,203] 6.436] 6.006]
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 88| 170 g E 4 g 38 1,500 714 714 428 428 3,785 201 4.281] 3.824
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte (1) 80| 155| g E g g 41 1,568 698 698 419 419 3,803 188 4.266) 4.474
Mr. Guillermo de la Dehesa Romero 118 170| g 25 25 40 95 E E - - - - g 473 461
Mr. Bruce Carnegie-Brown 378 170| g 25 25 40 94 E E - - - - - 731 721
Mr. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca 88 170| g 25 25 40 97 E | E E E E 106 550 945
Mr. Francisco Javier Botin-Sanz de

Sautuola y O’Shea (2) 88| | | g g g 36| R E L L L L L 124 115
Mrs. Sol Daurella Comadran 88 g g 25| 25 g 69 E | E E - - - 207 191]
Mr. Carlos Fernandez Gonzélez 88 g 40 25 4 40 93 R E - - - g - 285 254
Mrs. Esther Giménez-Salinas i Colomer 88 g g g g 21 54 R E - - - - g 162 122
Mr. Angel Jado Becerro de Bengoa (3) g g g g g g g R E - - - - - - 231
Mrs. Belén Romana Garcia 138 g 40 E g 40 80 E | E E - - - 297 219
Mrs. Isabel Tocino Biscarolasaga (4) 80| 155| 36 E 23 36 87 E | E E E E E 418 442
Mr. Juan Miguel Villar Mir 88 g 19 g g 19 44 E | E E E E E 170 235
Mr. Homaira Akbari (5) 88 g 21 E g g 51] E | E E E E E 159 32
Mr. Ramiro Mato Garcia Ansorena (6) 8| 15 4 E E 4 6| b | E E E B B 36| :
Total 2017 1,675 1,345 160 125 123 280 972 7,568 3,699 3,699 2,219 2,219 19,404 2,387 26.470 -
[Total 2016 1,645 1,360 190 143 143 277 859 7,710 3,340 3,340 2,004 2,004 18,398 2,536 25.551]

(1) Ceased to be a member of the Board on November 28, 2017. This table shows the remuneration information until his ceased as a member of the board. The remuneration information for his performance as
executive vice president since November 28, 2017 is included in the corresponding section.
) All the amounts received were repaid to the Fundacién Marcelino Botin.
3) Ceased to be a member of the board on September 27, 2016.
(4) Ceased to be a member of the board on November 28, 2017.
(5) Appointed director effective from September 27, 2016.
(6) Appointed to be a member of the board.
(a) Includes, inter alia, the life and medical insurance costs borne by the Group relating to Bank directors.
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b)

Following is the detail, by executive director, of the linked to multiannual objectives salaries, which will only
be received if the conditions of continued service, non-applicability of “malus” clauses and, full
achievement of the objectives established (or, as the case may be, of the minimum thresholds thereof,
with the consequent reduction of the agreed-upon amount in the end of the year) in the terms described in
Note 42.

Thousands of euros
2017 2016

Variable subject to

Long-term

objectives(2)
In cash In shares Total Total (2)
Mrs. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 863 863 1,726 1,518
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 577 577 1,154 1,026
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 450 450 900 760
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte(1) 440 440 880 904
Total 2,330 2,330 4,660 4,208

(1) Ceased to be a member of the board on November 28, 2017. The remuneration information for his performance as
executive vice president is included in the corresponding section.

(2) Corresponds with the fair value of the maximum amount they are entitled to in a total of 3 years: 2021, 2022 and
2023, subject to conditions of continued service, with the exceptions provided, and to the non-applicability of “malus”
clauses and achievement of the objectives established. The fair value has been measured on the date of the
concession of the scheme taking into account several possible behavioural assumptions (see Note 42).

Note 5.e) below includes disclosures on the shares delivered by virtue of the deferred remuneration
schemes in place in previous years the conditions for delivery which were met in the corresponding years,
and on the maximum number of shares receivable in future years in connection with the aforementioned
2017 and 2016 variable remuneration plans.

Remuneration of the Board members as representatives of the Bank

By resolution of the executive committee, all the remuneration received by the Bank's directors who
represent the Bank on the Boards of Directors of listed companies in which the Bank has a stake, paid by
those companies and relating to appointments made on or after March 18, 2002 accrues to the Group. In
2017 and 2016 the Bank's directors did not receive any remuneration in respect of these representative
duties.

Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte received EUR 42 thousand as non-executive director of U.C.I., S.A. in 2017
and 2016, respectively.
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c) Post-employment and other long-term benefits

In 2012, within the framework of the measures implemented by the Group in order to mitigate the risks
arising from the defined-benefit pension obligations payable to certain employees, which led to an
agreement with the workers' representatives to convert the defined-benefit obligations existing under the
collective agreement into defined-contribution plans, the contracts of the executive directors and the other
members of the Bank's senior management - the senior executives- which provided for defined-benefit
pension obligations were amended to convert these obligations into a defined-contribution employee
welfare system, which was externalised to Santander Seguros y Reaseguros, Compafiia Aseguradora,
S.A. This system grants the executive directors the right to receive a pension benefit upon retirement,
regardless of whether or not they are employed by the Bank at the time, based on the contributions made
to the aforementioned system, and replaced the right to receive a pension supplement which had
previously been payable to them upon retirement. The new system expressly excludes any obligation of
the Bank to the executive directors other than the conversion of the previous system into the new
employee welfare system, which took place in 2012, and, as the case may be, the annual contributions to
be made as described below!. In the event of pre-retirement, the executive directors who have not
exercised the option to receive their pensions in the form of a lump sum are entitled to receive an annual
emolument until the date of retirement.

The initial balance for each executive director in the new defined-contribution welfare system was that
corresponding to the market value of the assets in which the provisions for the respective accrued
obligations had been invested, at the date on which the former pension obligations were converted into the
new welfare system?.

Since 2013 the Bank has made annual contributions to the employee welfare system for the benefit of the
executive directors and senior executives, in proportion to their respective pensionable bases, until they
leave the Group, or until their retirement from the Group, death or disability (including, as the case may be,
during the pre-retirement period). No contributions are made for the executive directors and senior
executives who, prior to the conversion of the defined-benefit pension obligations into the current defined-
contribution employee welfare system, had exercised the option to receive their pension rights in a lump
sums.

In accordance with the provisions of the remuneration regulations, contributions made that are calculated
on variable remuneration are subject to the discretionary pension benefits regime. Under this regime,
these contributions are subject to malus clauses and clawback according to the policy in force at any time
and during the same period in which the variable remuneration is deferred. Likewise, they must be
invested in Bank shares for a period of five years from the date of the termination of executive directors in
the Group, whether or not as a result of retirement. After that period, the amount invested in shares will be
invested together with the remainder of the accumulated balance of the executive director, or will be paid
to him or her beneficiaries had there been any contingency covered by the forecasting system.

1 As provided for in the contracts of the executive directors and members of senior management prior to their modification, Mr. Matias
Rodriguez Inciarte had exercised the option to receive the accrued pensions -or amounts similar thereto- in the form of a lump sum -i.e. in a
single payment-, which meant that no further pension benefit would accrue to them from that time, and the lump sum to be received, which
would be updated at the agreed-upon interest rate, was fixed.

2 In the case of Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte, the initial balance corresponded to the amounts that were set when, as described above, they
exercised the option to receive a lump sum, and includes the interest accrued on these amounts from that date.

3 Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo, appointed executive director on January 16, 2015, does not participate in the welfare system and is not
entitled to have any contributions made in his favour by the Bank in this connection, notwithstanding the pension rights to which he was
entitled prior to his appointment as executive director. In 2015, as a result of his appointment as chief executive officer, changes were
introduced to the contract of Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez with respect to the pension obligations stipulated in his senior management
contract. The annual contribution to the employee welfare system was thereafter calculated as 55% of the sum of: (i) the fixed annual
remuneration; and (ii) 30% of the arithmetic mean of the last three gross amounts of variable remuneration. The pensionable base in the
event of death or disability is 100% of his fixed remuneration. Under his senior management contract the annual contribution was 55.93% of
his fixed remuneration, and the pensionable base in the event of death or disability was 100% of his fixed remuneration.
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Following is a detail of the balances relating to each of the executive directors under the welfare system at
December 31, 2017 and 2016°

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea ® 45,798 43,156
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 16,151 15,107
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo® 13,957 14,294
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte ® - 48,230
75,906 120,787

(1) Includes the amounts relating to the period of provision of services at Banesto, externalised with another insurance company.

(2) Executive director since January 16, 2015 Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo doesn’t participate in the pension system and the right to the
bank to make contributions in its favour in this regard. The amount at December 31, 2017 and 2016, which correspond to him prior to his
appointment as director of the bank executive director.

(3) Ceased to be a member of the Board on November 28, 2017. The balance of his pension rights as of December 31, 2017 is included in the
Senior manages section.

The payments made during 2017 to the members of the Board entitled to post-employment benefits
amount to EUR 0.9 million (EUR 0.9 million in 2016).

Lastly, the contracts of the executive directors who had not exercised the option referred to above prior to
the conversion of the defined-benefit pension obligations into the current welfare system include a
supplementary welfare regime for the contingency of death (surviving spouse and child benefits) and
permanent disability of serving directors.

The provisions recognised in 2017 and 2016 for retirement pensions and supplementary benefits
(surviving spouse and child benefits, and permanent disability) were as follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 2,707 2,521
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 2,456 2,249
5,163 4,770
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d) Insurance

The Group has taken out life insurance policies for the Bank's directors, who will be entitled to receive
benefits if they are declared disabled; in the event of death, the benefits will be payable to their heirs. The
premiums paid by the Group are included in the Other remuneration column of the table shown in Note
5.a.iii above. Also, the following table provides information on the sums insured for the Bank's executive
directors:

Insured capital

(Thousands of euros)

2017 2016
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 7,500 7,500
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 6,000 6,000
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 4,500 4,500
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte ® - 5,131
18,000 23,131

(1) Ceased to be member of the board on November 28, 2017. The insured capital at December 31, 2017 amounted to EUR 5,131
thousand.

During years 2017 and 2016, the Group has disbursed a total amount of EUR 10.5 and 9.3 million,
respectively, for the payment of civil-liability insurance premiums. These premiums correspond to several
civil-liability insurance policies that hedge, among others, directors, senior executives and other managers
and employees of the Group and the Bank itself as well as its subsidiaries, in light of various types of
potential claims, for which it is not possible to disaggregate or individualize the amount that correspond to
the directors and executives.

At December 31, 2017 and 2016, there were no obligations in this connection to other directors.
e) Deferred variable remuneration systems

The following information relates to the maximum number of shares to which the executive directors are
entitled at the beginning and end of 2017 and 2016 due to their participation in the deferred variable
remuneration systems, which instrumented a portion of their variable remuneration relating to 2017 and
prior years, as well as on the deliveries, whether shares or cash, made to them in 2017 and 2016 where
the conditions for the receipt thereof had been met (see Note 42):

i) Deferred conditional variable remuneration plan

From 2011 to 2015, the bonuses of executive directors and certain executives (including senior
management) and employees who assume risk, who perform control functions or receive an overall
remuneration that puts them on the same remuneration level as senior executives and employees who
assume risk (all of whom are referred to as identified staff) have been approved by the Board of Directors
and instrumented, respectively, through various cycles of the deferred conditional variable remuneration
plan. Application of these cycles, insofar as they entail the delivery of shares to the plan beneficiaries, was
authorized by the related Annual General Meetings.

The purpose of these plans is to defer a portion of the bonus of the plan beneficiaries (60% in the case of
executive directors) over a period of five years (three years for the plans approved up to 2014) for it to be
paid, where appropriate, in cash and in Santander shares; the other portion of the bonus is also to be paid
in cash and Santander shares, upon commencement of the cycles, in accordance with the rules set forth
below.
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In addition to the requirement that the beneficiary remains in Santander Group's employ, the accrual of the
deferred remuneration is conditional upon none of the following circumstances existing -in the opinion of
the Board of Directors following a proposal of the remuneration committee- in relation to the corresponding
year in the period prior to each of the deliveries: (i) poor financial performance of the Group; (ii) breach by
the beneficiary of internal regulations, including, in particular, those relating to risks; (iii) material
restatement of the Group's financial statements, except when it is required pursuant to a change in
accounting standards; or (iv) significant changes in the Group's economic capital or its risk profile. All the
foregoing shall in each case be governed by the rules of the relevant plan cycle.

On each delivery, the beneficiaries will be paid an amount in cash equal to the dividends paid for the
amount deferred in shares and the interest on the amount deferred in cash. If the Santander Dividendo
Eleccion scrip dividend scheme is applied, payment will based on the price offered by the Bank for the
bonus share rights corresponding to those shares.

The maximum number of shares to be delivered is calculated taking into account the daily volume-
weighted average prices for the 15 trading sessions prior to the date on which the Board of Directors
approves the bonus for the Bank's Executive Directors for each year.

This plan and the Performance Shares (ILP) plan described below have been integrated in the deferred
variable compensation plan linked to multiannual objectives, in the terms approved by the General Meeting
of Shareholders held on April 7, 2017.

if) Performance shares plan (ILP)

The table below shows the maximum number of shares to which the executive directors are entitled, as
part of their variable remuneration for 2015, as a result of their participation in the ILP (see Note 42).

Maximum number of

shares ILP
(Thousands of euros)

2015 @

2017
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz de Sautuola y O’Shea 187,070
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez 126,279
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 93,540
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte @ 145,922
406,899

(1) A proposal from the remuneration committee, the board of directors resolved to increase the number of shares to
mitigate the dilutive effect of the capital increase with pre-emptive subscription rights of July 2017 as described in
iv) below. The actions derived from this adjustment are 5,967 shares.

(2) Ceased to be member of the board on November 28, 2017. The maximum number of shares corresponding to the
plan held as of December 31, 2017 was 145,922 shares, including those approved to mitigate the dilutive effect of
the capital increase with pre-emptive subscription rights of July 2017.

The accrual of the ILP and its amount are conditional on the behaviour of certain metrics of Banco
Santander between 2015 and 2017, as well as compliance with the remaining conditions of the plan until
the end of the accrual period (December 31, 2018). Having finalized 2018, the corresponding amounts to
be received by each exclusive director in relation to ILP (the ILP accrued amount) can be determined.
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The shares to be delivered in 2019 to executive directors based on compliance with the related
multiannual target are conditional, in addition to the requirement that the beneficiary remains in the
Group's employ, with the exceptions included in the plan regulations, upon none of the following
circumstances existing -in the opinion of the Board of Directors following a proposal of the remuneration
committee-, during the period prior to the delivery, as a result of actions performed in the year to which the
plan relates: (i) poor financial performance of the Group; (ii) breach by the beneficiary of internal
regulations, including, in particular, those relating to risks; (iii) material restatement of the Group's financial
statements, except when it is required pursuant to a change in accounting standards; or (iv) significant
changes in the Group's economic capital or risk profile.

With regards to the ILP of 2014, once fiscal years 2016 and 2017 have finished, the annual amount that, in
each case, corresponds to each executive director after applying the percentage that results from the
relevant metric (see Note 42) to one third of the agreed ILP amount, will be determined. For the accrual in
2017 and 2018, the referral RTA is the one that accumulates between January 1, 2014 and December 31,
2016 and until January 1, 2014. In both financial years, the position achieved in the RTA has not been
such that determines the accrual of the second and third thirds; therefore, it has expired.

iif) Deferred variable compensation plan linked to multiannual objectives

In 2016, with the aim of simplifying the remuneration structure, improving risk adjustment before and
increasing the incidence of long-term objectives, the bonus plan (deferred and conditioned variable
compensation plan) and ILP has been implemented. In 2017 the second cycle corresponding to the same
plan was approved. The variable remuneration of executive directors and certain executives (including
senior management) corresponding to 2017 has been approved by the Board of Directors and
implemented through the first cycle of the deferred variable remuneration plan linked to multi-year
objectives. The application of the plan, thus far as it entails the delivery of shares to the beneficiaries of the
plan, was authorized by the annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

As indicated in section a.ii of this Note, 60% of the variable remuneration amount is deferred for five years
(three years for certain beneficiaries, not including executive directors), for their payment, where
appropiate by fifth parties provided that the conditions of permanence in the group and non-concurrence of
the clauses malus are met, according to the following accrual scheme:

e The accrual of the first and second parts (installment in 2019 and 2020) is not subject to the
fulfilment of long-term objectives.

e The accrual of the third, fourth and fifth parts is linked to the fulfilment of certain objectives related
to the period 2017-2019 and the metrics and scales associated with those objectives. These
objectives are:

o the growth of consolidated earnings per share in 2019 compared to 2016;

o the relative performance of the Bank's total shareholder return (RTA) in the period 2017-
2019 in relation to the weighted RTAs of a reference group of 17 credit institutions;

o compliance with the fully loaded ordinary level 1 capital objective for the year 2019;

The degree of compliance with the above objectives determines the percentage to be applied to the
deferred amount in these three annuities, the maximum being the amount determined at the end of the
year 2017.

Both the immediate (short-term) and the deferred (long-term and conditioned) part are paid 50% in cash
and the remaining 50% in Santander shares.
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The accrual of deferred amounts (whether or not subject to performance measures) is conditioned, in
addition to the permanence of the beneficiary in the Group, to the fact that during the period prior to each
of the deliveries, none of the circumstances giving rise to the malus clause as set out in the Group's
remuneration policy in its chapter realted to malus and clawback. Likewise, the already paid amounts of
the incentive will be subject to its possible recovery (clawback) by the Bank in the cases and during the
term foreseen in said policy, always in the terms and conditions that are foreseen in it.

The application of malus and clawback is activated in cases in which there is poor financial performance of
the entity as a whole or of a specific division or area of the entity or of the exposures generated by the
personnel, and at least the following factors must be considered:

(i)  Significant failures in risk management committed by the entity, or by a business unit or risk control.

(i) The increase suffered by the entity or by a business unit of its capital needs, not foreseen at the time
of generation of the exposures.

(i) Regulatory sanctions or judicial sentences from events that could be attributable to the unit or the
personnel responsible for those. Also, the breach of internal codes of conduct of the entity.

(iv) (Irregular conduct, whether individual or collective. The negative effects derived from the marketing of
inappropriate products and the responsibilities of the people or bodies that made those decisions will
be specially considered.

The accrual of deferred compensation linked to the multiannual objectives of executive directors (and
senior management) is conditioned, in addition to the permanence of the beneficiary in the Santander
Group, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, at the proposal of the remuneration committee, none of the
following circumstances in relation to the corresponding period during the period prior to each of the
deliveries: (i) poor financial performance of the Group; (ii) breach by the beneficiary of the internal
regulations, including in particular that relating to risks; (iii) material restatement of the Group's financial
statements, except when appropriate under a change in accounting regulations; or (iv) significant
variations in the Group's economic capital or risk profile. All this, in each case, with the exceptions and as
provided in the regulation of the plan.

The application of clawback will be supplemented by that of malus, so that it will take place when it is
considered insufficient to collect the effects that the event must have on the assigned variable
remuneration. The application of clawback will be decided by the Board of Directors on the proposal of the
remuneration committee and can not be proposed once the last payment in shares corresponding to the
plan is made in 2024.

The maximum number of shares to be delivered is calculated by taking into account the weighted average
daily volume of weighted average prices for the fifteen trading sessions prior to the previous Friday
(excluded) the date on which the bond is agreed by the board of executive directors of the Bank.

iv) Shares assigned by deferred variable remuneration plans

The following table shows the number of Santander shares assigned to each executive director and
pending delivery as of January 1, 2016, December 31, 2016 and 2017, as well as the gross shares that
were delivered to them in 2016 and 2017, either in the form of an immediate payment or a deferred
payment. In this case after having been appraised by the board, at the proposal of the remuneration
committee that the corresponding one-third of each plan had accrued. They bring cause of each of the
plans through which the variable remunerations of deferred conditional variable remuneration plan 2012,
2013, 2014 and 2015 and of the deferred conditional and linked to multiannual objectives 2016 and 2017.
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In order to mitigate the dilutive effect (and, therefore, not linked to the performance of the Group) of the
capital increase with preferential subscription rights of the Bank that look place on July 2017 in certain
cycles of the deferred compensation and long therm incentive plans, the increase in the number of shares
to be delivered to its beneficiaries was approved, considering for this a valuation of preferential
subscription rights equivalent to their theoretical value, EUR 0.1047 per right. The effect of increasing the
number of shares is detailed in the corresponding column of the table below.
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Shares Shares Shares Shares Shares Variable
delivered in [ Shares delivered in | delivered in | delivered in | delivered in remuneratio | Maximum
2016 delivered in | Shares Shares  delivered | Variable Maximum 2017 2017 2017 2017 Shares arising 2017 of
Maximum (immediate 2016 (deferred | in 2016 (deferred | in 2016 (deferred | remuneration 2016 | number of shares | (immediate (deferred (deferred (deferred from the | (maximum to be
number of shares | payment 2015 | payment 2014 | payment payment 2012 | (maximum to be delivered at | payment payment payment payment capital number  of | delivered at
Share-based variable | to be delivered at | variable variable variable variable number of shares | December 31, | 2016 variable | 2015 variable | 2014 variable | 2013 variable | increase  of | shares to be | December 31,
remuneration January 1,2016 | remuneration) | remuneration) | remuneration) remuneration) to be delivered) 2016 remuneration) | remuneration) | remuneration) | remuneration) | July 2017 delivered) @
2012 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y
O’Shea 34,959 (34,958,
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez @ 24,044 (24,046,
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 41,529 (41,529,
100,533 (100,533
2013 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y
O’Shea 66,241 33,12 (33,120)
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez ® 39,121 19,561 (19,561)
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 69,093 34,547 (34,547)
174,454 87,224 (87,228)
2014 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola y
O’Shea 182,444 (60,814) 121,630 (60,814) 905 61,721
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 78,72 (26,242) 52,484 (26,242) 390 26,632
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte® 139,089 (46,363) 92,724 (46,363) 690 47,052
400,254 (133,419) 266,839 (133,419) 1,085 135,409
2015 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz ~Sautuola
O’Shea 528,834 (211,534) 317,30 (63,460) 3,777 257,611
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 351,523 (140,609) 210,914 (42,183) 2,51 171,242
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 260,388 (104,155) 156,233 (31,247) 1,860 126,844
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 361,118 (144,447) 216,671 (43,334) 2,579 175,914
1,501,863 (600,745) 901,119 (180,224) 10,727 731,621
2016 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz Sautuola
O’Shea 592,043 592,043 (236,817) 5,286 360,512
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 399,607 399,607 (159,843) 3,568 243,332
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 295,972 295,972 (118,389) 2,643 180,226
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte 352,455 352,455 (140,982) 3,147 214,620
1,640,077 1,640,071  (656,031) 14,644 998,690
2017 variable remuneration
Ms. Ana Botin-Sanz ~Sautuola
0’Shea 574,375 574,375
Mr. José Antonio Alvarez Alvarez® 384,118 384,118
Mr. Rodrigo Echenique Gordillo 299,346 299,346
Mr. Matias Rodriguez Inciarte® 292,771 292,771
1,550,610 1,550,610

(1) For each director, 40% of the shares indicated correspond to the short-term variable (or immediate payment). The remaining 60% is deferred for delivery, where appropriate, by fifths in the next five years, the last three
being subject to the fulfillment of multiannual objectives.
(2) Maximum number of shares resulting from their participation in the corresponding plans during their stage as general manager.
(3) Ceased to be a member of the Board on November 28, 2017. The shares corresponding to their variable remuneration between November 28, 2017 and January 2, 2018 as executive vice president on December 2,
2017 including in the Note 5.g.
(4) In addition, Mr. Ignacio Benjumea Cabeza de Vaca maintains the right to a maximum of 199,234 shares arising from his participation in the corresponding plans during his term as executive vice president.
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Also, the table below show the cash delivered in 2017 and 2016, by way of either immediate payment or
deferred payment, in the latter case once the Board had determined, at the proposal of the remuneration
committee that one-third relating to each plan had accrued:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Cash paid (one- Cash paid (one-
Cash paid| third of deferred 